
MURFREESBORO CITY COUNCIL 

Regular Meeting Agenda 

  Council Chambers – 6:00 PM  

January 22, 2026 

Public Hearing on Actionable Items 
 

PRAYER 

Mr. Austin Maxwell 
 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

CEREMONIAL ITEMS 

STARS Award: Officer Dustin Nicholson 
 

Consent Agenda 
 

1. Amendment to Professional Services Agreement for Old Fort Park Ballfield and 

Parking Renovations (Facilities) 
 

2. ADA Renovations Master Services Agreement (Facilities) 
 

3. FY26 City Manager Approved Budget Amendments (Finance) 
 

4. Banner Over Main Street (Street) 
 

5. Agreement with Trimble Technology for Additional CWOL Users (Information 

Technology) 
 

6. Amendment Five to Tennessee Law Enforcement Hiring, Training and 
Recruiting Program Grant Contract (Police) 

 

7. Donation of a Used Police Vehicle to Huntland Police Department (Police) 
 

8. Mandatory Referral for Dedication of Electric Easements Along Barfield Road 
and Veterans Parkway (Planning) 

 

9. Mandatory Referral for a Private Retaining Wall in the Right-of-Way of 

Bridgemore Boulevard (Planning) 
 

Minutes 
 

10. City Council Minutes (Finance) 
 

Old Business 
 

Land Use Matters 
 

11. Ordinance 26-OZ-02 Rezoning Property Along Ashers Fork Drive (2nd and 

Final Reading) (Planning) 
 

12. Ordinance 26-OZ-01 Zoning for Property Along Old Salem Road (2nd and Final 

Reading) (Planning) 
 

New Business 
 

Land Use Matters 
 

13. Sewer Allocation Variance- Memorial Boulevard – Seven Brew (Planning) 

  

  
 



Resolution 
 

14. Resolution 26-R-07 Corebridge (VALIC) Plan Services 
Agreement (Human Resources) 

 

15. Resolution 26-R-08 for the Selection Process for City Attorney and adoption of 
a Legal Department Operational Service Delivery Policy (Administration) 

 

Ordinance 
 

16. Ordinance 26-O-08 Amending Chapter 32 of the Murfreesboro City Code 

(Police) 
 

On Motion 
 

17. Planning Commission Compensation (Planning) 
 

18. Purchase of Mobile Data Terminals (Police) 
 

19. Contracts for Police Vehicle Equipment (Police) 
 

20. Revised Donated Leave Policy No.1044 (Human Resources) 
 

21. Corebridge Plan Services Agreement (Human Resources) 
 

Board & Commission Appointments 
 

22. Airport Commission (Mayor) 
 

Licensing 
 

23. Beer Permits (Finance) 
 

Payment of Statements 
 

Other Business 
 

Adjourn 
 

 





























COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 
Meeting Date:   01/22/2026 

Item Title: FY26 City Manager Approved Budget Amendments 

Department: Finance 

Presented by: Amanda DeRosia, Finance Director 

Requested Council Action:  
   Ordinance  ☐ 
    Resolution  ☐ 
   Motion  ☐ 
   Direction  ☐ 
   Information  ☒ 

Summary 

Notification to Council of City Manager approved budget amendments. 

Background Information  

Ordinance 15-O-48 requires notification to Council of City Manager approved budget 
amendments. The following budget amendments have been approved: 

Planning 

For the purchase of a new vehicle for the additional landscape inspector. Move $38,000 
from Unforeseen Contingencies. 

For consulting contract with Thrivence, LLC to enhance Planning’s overall effectiveness, 
and for the shelving installation project started in FY25. Move $64,800 from Unforeseen 
Contingencies.  

Solid Waste 

For upcoming vehicle repairs. Move $70,000 from Solid Waste operating budget to 
Machinery & Equipment. 

Golf 

For the purchase of Machinery & Equipment. Move $7,500 from Golf’s operating budget 
to Machinery & Equipment.  

Administration 

For the purchase of a new copier. Move $10,000 from Unforeseen Contingencies to 
Office Machinery and Equipment. 

Human Resources 

For the purchase of a new copier. Move $10,000 from HR’s Professional Services 
account to Office Machinery and Equipment. 

Transportation 

For the purchase of two knuckle boom trucks for $60,000 each. Move $120,000 from 
Contractual Services to Transportation Equipment. 

Fire 

For the roofing project at Station 2. Move $35,000 from Unforeseen Contingencies to 



2 
 

Building Expense.  

 

Council Priorities Served 

Responsible budgeting 

Inter-Fund budget amendments reallocate resources in an efficient manner. 

Fiscal Impact  

The transfers within the General Funds will have no effect on fund balance. 

Attachments 

 Detailed Inter-Fund Budget Requests 





























April 2023 

COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 
Meeting Date:   01/22/2026 

Item Title: Agreement with Trimble Technology for additional CWOL Users 

Department: Information Technology 

Presented by: Matt Jarratt – Director of Information Technology 

Requested Council Action:  

   Ordinance  ☐ 
    Resolution  ☐ 
   Motion  ☒ 
   Direction  ☐ 
   Information  ☐ 

Summary 

Consider approving a quote to add authorized users to the Cityworks AMS & PLL Cityworks 
Online (CWOL) Enterprise License Agreement (ELA). 

Staff Recommendation 

Approve adding 80 named logins to Cityworks Online (CWOL) - 40 logins to the 
Cityworks AMS Premium ELA and 40 logins to the Cityworks PLL Standard ELA.   

Background Information  

The contract with Trimble is structured as a multi-year agreement, with annual charges 
applied to each fiscal year’s budget. Council approval will ensure renewals will occur 
automatically without additional approval, provided that the necessary budgeted amounts 
are confirmed and allocated. As more workflows are adopted, staff anticipates that 
additional CWOL logins will be required in the future.  This expense is budgeted each fiscal 
year and may vary based on the number of licensed employees each year.  

Year 1 is prorated at $3,288 and year 2 is $10,000 for a total increase of $13,288 to the 
remaining year and a half left in the current term. The total contract cost for the upcoming 
term, which begins April 30, 2026, and ends April 29, 2027, will increase from $263,000 
to $273,000. As staffing levels and workflow adoption increase, adjustments to the number 
of named logins may be necessary but costs will remain subject to annual budget review 
and approval.   

Council Priorities Served 

Responsible budgeting 

The agreement supports operational stability for the City’s Asset Management and Permit, 
Land, License solution. 

Fiscal Impact  

The additional expense, or $13,288, will be funded through IT’s operating budget.  

Attachments 

 Trimble Quote 



 Quote Number Q-44273-5

 Created Date 12/29/2025

 Expiration Date 12/31/2025

 
 Contact Information

 
Contact Name: Prepared By

Name:
Joe Rubisch

Customer: Murfreesboro (TN), City of Prepared By
Phone:

(801) 523-2751

Contact Address: 111 W Vine St
Murfreesboro, TN
37130

  

 Quote Lines

Product Name Quantity/
Population

Net Unit Price

AMS ELA Premium 1.00 USD 1,906.85

Authorized Users 40.00 USD 0.00

PLL ELA Standard 1.00 USD 1,380.82

Authorized Users 40.00 USD 0.00

TOTAL: USD 3,287.67

 
 
 Notes

 
Year 1 Dollar Value USD 3,287.67 Year 1 Date Range 12/31/2025 - 04/29/2026*

Year 2 Dollar Value USD 273,000.00 Year 2 Date Range 04/30/2026 - 04/29/2027

Notes:
 
Quote adds 40 Logins to the AMS Premium ELA & 40 logins to the PLL Standard ELA.
 
Updated License:
Server AMS Premium Cityworks Online Enterprise License Agreement (ELA), Includes the Identified Products for up to 115 Named
Login Products:
Respond
Mobile Native Apps (for iOS/Android)
 
--Includes the following Add-ons:
Storeroom
Equipment Checkout
Contracts
Cityworks for Excel
Cityworks Analytics for AMS
eURL (Enterprise URL)
Operational Insights
Workload
Web Hooks
OpX
1 Sandbox
Use of Cityworks AMS Application Programming Interfaces (APIs) with commercially available Cityworks-centric applications that are
licensed and maintained by authorized Cityworks partners

Docusign Envelope ID: 4EA97C43-BBCE-45EC-ADFD-0A4D8CA48D92



Use of Cityworks AMS Application Programming Interfaces (APIs) with third party system integrations
 
Server PLL Standard Cityworks Online Enterprise License Agreement (ELA), Includes the Identified Products for up to 91 Named
Login:
Respond
Mobile Native Apps (for iOS/Android)
 
--Includes the following Add-ons:
eURL (Enterprise URL)
Public Access for PLL
Cityworks Analytics for PLL
Workload
Web Hooks
Case API - Extended for use with OnBase integration only
1 Sandbox
Use of Cityworks PLL Application Programming Interfaces (APIs) with commercially available Cityworks-centric applications that are
licensed and maintained by authorized Cityworks partners
 
Annual fee herein is based on 150,001 - 200,000 population range
-
*Fee for Year 1 reflects products added at $10,000.00/year and is pro-rated for a period of 12/31/2025 - 04/29/2026. Current Renewal
Amount of $131,500.00 for period 10/30/2025 - 04/29/2026 has previously been paid.
 
DISCLAIMER–
PLEASE BE ADVISED THAT THE PRODUCTS ASSOCIATED WITH THIS QUOTE MAY NO LONGER BE SUBJECT TO
ENHANCEMENTS OR MAINTENANCE. WE URGE YOU TO CONSULT THE COMMUNICATION SENT OUT CONCERNING
UPDATES TO CITYWORKS SOFTWARE SUPPORT & YOUR PATH FORWARD AND SUNSETING. THE PRICE INDICATED
HEREIN SHALL CONSTITUTE THE RENEWAL RATE OFFERED UNDER YOUR CURRENT AGREEMENT AS AMENDED BY THIS
KEY COMMUNICATION. A COPY OF THE COMMUNICATION CAN BE PROVIDED TO YOU UPON REQUEST. YOU ARE URGED
TO REVIEW THIS QUOTE THOROUGHLY AND ASSESS ANY NECESSARY ADJUSTMENTS TO YOUR SUBSCRIPTION. SHOULD
THERE BE ANY INQUIRIES OR A NEED FOR FURTHER ASSISTANCE, PLEASE CONTACT US PROMPTLY. WE APPRECIATE
YOUR UNDERSTANDING AND CONTINUED PARTNERSHIP.
 
DISCLAIMER. PLEASE BE ADVISED THAT THE PRODUCTS ASSOCIATED WITH THIS QUOTE MAY NO LONGER
BE SUBJECT TO ENHANCEMENTS OR MAINTENANCE. WE URGE YOU TO CONSULT THE COMMUNICATION
SENT OUT CONCERNING UPDATES TO CITYWORKS SOFTWARE SUPPORT & YOUR PATH FORWARD AND
SUNSETTING. THE PRICE INDICATED HEREIN SHALL CONSTITUTE THE RENEWAL RATE OFFERED UNDER
YOUR CURRENT AGREEMENT AS AMENDED BY THIS COMMUNICATION. A COPY OF THE COMMUNICATION
CAN BE PROVIDED TO YOU UPON REQUEST. YOU ARE URGED TO REVIEW THIS QUOTE THOROUGHLY AND
ASSESS ANY NECESSARY ADJUSTMENTS TO YOUR SUBSCRIPTION. SHOULD THERE BE ANY INQUIRIES
OR A NEED FOR FURTHER ASSISTANCE, PLEASE CONTACT US PROMPTLY. WE APPRECIATE YOUR
UNDERSTANDING AND CONTINUED PARTNERSHIP.

 
Terms and Conditions

 
Payment Terms
Payment due within 30 days
 
IF YOUR ORGANIZATION REQUIRES A PURCHASE ORDER, PLEASE CONTACT YOUR FINANCE DEPARTMENT TO BEGIN THE APPROVAL
PROCESS TO AVOID PAYMENT DELAYS.
 
All quotations are valid for ninety-days (90) from the date above, unless otherwise stated in this quotation form. All prices quoted are in
USD, unless specifically provided otherwise, above. These prices and terms are valid only for items purchased for use and delivery for
the Customers listed above.
 
Unless otherwise referenced, this quotation is for the Cityworks software products referenced above only. Pricing for implementation
services (installation, configuration, training, etc.), or other software applications is provided separately and upon request.
 
The procurement, installation and administration of the Esri software or any other third-party software utilized in conjunction with
Cityworks will be the responsibility of the Customer.
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 4EA97C43-BBCE-45EC-ADFD-0A4D8CA48D92



For “on-prem” installations, the procurement, installation and administration of the RDBMS utilized in conjunction with Cityworks
will be the responsibility of the Customer. Currently, Cityworks supports Oracle and SQL Server. The procurement, installation and
administration of the infrastructure 
(hardware and networking) utilized in conjunction with Cityworks will be the responsibility of the Customer.

This quotation and the pricing information herein is confidential and proprietary and may not be copied or released other than for the
express purpose of the current system Software and Product selection and purchase. This information may not be given to outside
parties or used for any other purpose without written consent from Azteca Systems, LLC or unless otherwise specifically permitted by
law. If a “public access” or similar request is made, Customer, shall notify Azteca Systems, prior to any disclosure.

Software Licensing
All Azteca Systems software offered in this quotation are commercial off-the-shelf (COTS) software developed at private expense, and
is subject to the terms and conditions of the signed “Cityworks Software License and Maintenance Agreement” ("Agreement") and any
and all addendums or amendments thereto. A fully executed copy of the Agreement and any addendum(s) is required before delivery
and installation and usage of the software is subject to the terms of the current license agreement.

The terms and conditions of the executed Cityworks Software License Agreement apply to this Quote unless otherwise specifically
stated herein. Any additional or conflicting terms set forth in any purchase orders, invoices, or other standard form documents
exchanged during the ordering process, other than product descriptions, quantities, pricing, and dates are void and of no effect.

Delivery method is by way of download through Azteca Systems, LLC. customer support web portal.

Taxes
Prices quoted do not include any applicable state, sales, local, or use taxes unless so stated. In preparing your budget and/or Purchase
Order, please allow for any applicable taxes, including, sales, state, local or use taxes as necessary. Azteca Systems reserves the
right to collect any applicable sales, use or other taxes tax assessed by or as required by law. Azteca Systems reserves the right to
add any applicable tax to the invoice, unless proof with the order is shown that your organization or entity is tax exempt or if it pays any
applicable tax directly.

International Customers
These items are controlled by the U.S. government and authorized for export only to the country of ultimate destination for use by the
ultimate consignee or end-user(s) herein identified. They may not be resold, transferred, or otherwise disposed of, to any other country
or to any person other than the authorized ultimate consignee or end-user(s), either in their original form or after being incorporated into
other items, without first obtaining approval from the U.S. government or as otherwise authorized by U.S. law and regulations.

Your signature indicates your acceptance of this Quote, and that you have read and accepted the Terms and Conditions
set forth above.

Accepted by:

Title

______/_____/_____
Date

Azteca Systems, LLC - Cityworks | 5475 Kellenburger Road, Dayton, OH  45424 

Mayor

APPROVED AS TO FORM 

Adam F. Tucker, City Attorney

Docusign Envelope ID: 4EA97C43-BBCE-45EC-ADFD-0A4D8CA48D92



April 2023 

COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 
Meeting Date:   01/22/2026 

Item Title: Amendment Five to Tennessee Law Enforcement Hiring, Training 
and Recruitment Program Grant Contract 

Department: Police  

Presented by: Chief Bowen 

Requested Council Action:  
   Ordinance  ☐ 
    Resolution  ☐ 
   Motion  ☒ 
   Direction  ☐ 
   Information  ☐ 

Summary 

Consider amendment five to Tennessee Law Enforcement Hiring, Training and 
Recruitment Program grant contract. 

Staff Recommendation 

Approve the grant amendment. 

Background Information  

Council approved the State Grant Contract for the Tennessee Law Enforcement Hiring, 
Training and Recruitment Program on August 10, 2023.  The State has recently 
submitted Amendment Five to the grant contract.  The only change is to the process of 
submitting invoices for reimbursement.  There is no change to the term or grant award.    

Council Priorities Served 

Maintain public safety 

Hiring and retention of qualified law enforcement personnel to effectively address public 
safety concerns. 

Fiscal Impact  

None.  

Attachments 

 Amendment Five to Grant Contract 

  

  











COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 
Meeting Date:   01/22/2026 

Item Title: Donation of a Used Police Vehicle to Huntland Police Department 

Department: Police 

Presented by: Chief Michael Bowen 

Requested Council Action:  

   Ordinance  ☐ 
    Resolution  ☐ 
   Motion  ☒ 
   Direction  ☐ 
   Information  ☐ 

Summary 

Consider the donation of a used police vehicle to Huntland Police Department. 

Staff Recommendation 

Approve the donation of a used police vehicle to Huntland Police Department. 

Background Information  

MPD tries to assist other law enforcement agencies when possible and Huntland PD 
can benefit from the donation of a used police vehicle that is scheduled for 
replacement.      

Council Priorities Served  

Establish a Strong City Brand 

Assisting other law enforcement agencies helps to develop community partnerships. 

Fiscal Impact  

None. 

Attachments 

Surplus Property Disposal Forms 

 





Page 1 of 2 

CITY OF MURFREESBORO  
DONATION OF ONE USED POLICE VEHICLES 

DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTY AND LIMITATION OF LIABILITY 

For and in consideration of the mutual promises and agreements between the parties and for the donation 
of two used police vehicles by the City of Murfreesboro ("City") to the Huntland Police Department, CITY 
AND HUNTLAND PD MUTUALLY AGREE AS FOLLOWS: 

City has donated to Huntland PD the following two used police vehicles (“Donated Vehicles”) 
for whatever purposes Huntland PD may use them: 

TABLE-1 DONATED VEHICLES 
Unit# Year Make Model Mileage VIN 
1505 2015 Ford Explorer 72,810 1FM5K8AR5FGB52010 

In executing this Disclaimer of Warranty and Limitation of Liability Huntland PD acknowledges 
that: (1) City has owned, maintained, and/or used the Donated Vehicles listed in Table-1 for multiple years; 
(2) the Donated Vehicles listed in Table-1 may be outside the manufacturer's warranty period; (3) City is
making no representation as to the fitness, suitability or usability of the Donated Vehicles listed in Table-1
for their stated purpose and function; (4) City does not know nor does it guarantee the current condition of
the Donated Vehicles listed in Table-1; and (5) City is providing the Donated Vehicles listed in Table-1 on
an "as is" basis to Huntland PD.

Huntland PD shall be solely responsible for determining whether to use the Donated Vehicles listed 
in Table-1 for law enforcement or any other purpose. 

Neither City nor Huntland PD shall bear any liability for losses, expenses, injuries, damages, or 
attorney’s fees arising out of the acts or omissions of the other party related to the Donated Vehicles. 

[SIGNATURES APPEAR ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE] 

Docusign Envelope ID: 19382719-023F-4851-A445-0E6E460900B2



Page 2 of 2  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF: 
 
CITY OF MURFREESBORO 
 
______________________________________ 
Daren Gore, City Manager 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
______________________________________ 
Adam F. Tucker, Murfreesboro City Attorney 
 
 
HUNTLAND POLICE DEPARTMENT 
 
 
________________________________________________ 
 
Printed: _________________________________________ 
 
Title: ___________________________________________ 
 
 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 19382719-023F-4851-A445-0E6E460900B2



 

 

COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 
Meeting Date:   01/22/2026 

Item Title: Mandatory Referral for Dedication of Electric Easements along 
Barfield Road and Veterans Parkway 

Department: Planning 

Presented by: Matthew Blomeley, AICP, Assistant Planning Director 

Requested Council Action:  
   Ordinance  ☐ 
    Resolution  ☐ 
   Motion  ☒ 
   Direction  ☐ 
   Information  ☐ 

Summary 

Consider request to allow dedication of electric easements on City-owned property 
located along Barfield Road and Veterans Parkway.   

Staff Recommendation 

Approve the mandatory referral request.  

The Planning Commission voted to recommend approval of this request at its January 
7, 2026 regular meeting.   

Background Information  

In this mandatory referral, Council is being asked to consider the approval of the 
dedication of electric easements for use by Middle Tennessee Electric (MTE) on property 
that the City owns along both Barfield Road and Veterans Parkway.  The property in 
question is primarily developed with the Stones River Greenway and Barfield-Crescent 
Park. The proposed easements will be recorded to accommodate proposed electric 
infrastructure improvements in the Barfield Road/Veterans Parkway area.  More 
specifically, according to the letter from MTE, MTE “needs to upgrade electric lines” to 
“accommodate the electric load in the area”.   

The Planning Commission and Planning Staff recommend that the mandatory referral 
be approved subject to the following conditions: 

1) If approved by City Council, MTE will be responsible for providing the information 
necessary (including, but not limited to, any exhibits and legal descriptions) for 
the Legal Department to prepare the legal instrument(s) to formally dedicate the 
proposed easements. The legal instrument(s) will be subject to final review and 
approval of the Legal Department. 

2) MTE will also be responsible for recording the legal instrument(s), including 



 

2 
 

payment of the recording fee. 

Council Priorities Served 

 Expand Infrastructure 

The proposed easement dedication will assist MTE with infrastructure improvements in 
the Barfield Road/Veterans Parkway area.     

Attachments: 

1. Planning Commission staff comments from 01/07/2026 meeting 

2. Letter from MTE 

3. Exhibits of the proposed easement 

4. Other miscellaneous exhibits 



MURFREESBORO PLANNING COMMISSION 
STAFF COMMENTS, PAGE 1 
JANUARY 7, 2026 
PROJECT PLANNER: MARC SHACKELFORD-ROWELL 
 

6. b.  Mandatory Referral [2025-720] to consider the dedication of electric 
easements on City-owned properties located along Barfield Road and 
Veterans Parkway, Middle Tennessee Electric applicant.  

In this mandatory referral, the Planning Commission is being asked to consider the 
dedication of electric easements on City-owned properties located along Barfield 
Road and Veterans Parkway. The properties in question are primarily developed 
with the Stones River Greenway.  The reason for this request is to allow MTE 
(Middle Tennessee Electric) to upgrade powerlines along Barfield Road and 
Veterans Parkway to better “accommodate the electric load in the area”. 

Exhibits showing the location of the proposed powerline easement are included in 
the agenda materials, as well as a letter of explanation from the MTE. Staff 
recommends that the Planning Commission forward a recommendation of 
approval to the City Council, subject to the following conditions: 

1) If approved by City Council, MTE will be responsible for providing the 
information necessary (including, but not limited to, any exhibits and legal 
descriptions) for the Legal Department to prepare the legal instrument(s) to 
formally dedicate the proposed easement. The legal instrument(s) will be 
subject to final review and approval of the Legal Department. 

2) MTE will also be responsible for recording the legal instrument(s), including 
payment of the recording fee. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 



City of Murfreesboro 

Mandatory Referral Application 
111 W Vine Street • Murfreesboro, TN 37130 • 615-893-6441 

T E N N E S S E E 

Mandatory Referral Fees: 

Mandatory Referral, INCLUDING abandonment of right-of way .......................................................................... $350.00 
Mandatory Referral, NOT INCLUDING abandonment of right-of-way ................................................................. $150.00 

Property Information: 

Tax Map/Group/Parcel:   Address (if applicable): 

Street Name (if abandonment of ROW)    Barfield Road and Veteran's Parkwayy 

Type of Mandatory Referral:    Powerline Easement

Applicant Information: 

Name of Applicant: Derrick Lynch

Company Name (if applicable): Middle TN Electric 

Street Address or PO Box: 555 New Salem Highway 

City: Murfreesboro 

State: Tennessee 

Email Address:  

Phone Number: 615-494-1573 

Required Attachments: 

□ Letter from applicant detailing the request

D Exhibit of requested area, drawn to scale

□ Legal description {if applicable)

I Zip Code: 37129 

12/15/2025 

Date 

113/005.09,036.09
113P/B/028.01
114/011.00,012.10
124/009.03,009.08,009.10
125/017.01,018.00,019.00,020.00





















































 

 

COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 
Meeting Date:   01/22/2026 

Item Title: Mandatory Referral for a Private Retaining Wall in the Right-of-
Way of Bridgemore Boulevard 

Department: Planning 

Presented by: Matthew Blomeley, AICP, Assistant Planning Director 

Requested Council Action:  
   Ordinance  ☐ 
    Resolution  ☐ 
   Motion  ☒ 
   Direction  ☐ 
   Information  ☐ 

Summary 

Consider request to allow an existing private retaining wall to remain in the City right-
of-way of Bridgemore Boulevard.                      

Staff Recommendation 

Approve the mandatory referral request.  

The Planning Commission voted to recommend approval of this request at its January 
7, 2026 regular meeting.   

Background Information  

In this mandatory referral, Council is being asked to consider allowing an existing 
private retaining wall to remain in the City right-of-way of Bridgemore Boulevard in the 
Shelton Square Subdivision.  The private retaining wall in question was established 
several  years ago without approval of the City.  According to the applicant, the 
retaining wall was necessary to accommodate the utilities for the two houses.  The City 
Legal Department and the City Engineer have both reviewed the request, and they do  
not object to the request, provided that the property owners enter into license 
agreements with the City requiring that the homeowners association be responsible for 
the maintenance of the retaining wall.  The license agreements would also indemnify 
the City from any claims arising from the retaining wall. 

The Planning Commission and Planning Staff recommend that the mandatory referral 
be approved subject to the following conditions: 

1) The applicable property owner(s) and the HOA shall enter into a license 
agreement with the City for the maintenance of the retaining wall and for the 
indemnification of the City.  The respective license agreements shall be subject 
to the review and approval of the City Legal Department.   

2) The applicant shall be responsible for drafting and recording a supplemental 
declaration to the CCRs, calling out the retaining wall in question as a common 
element.  The supplemental declaration shall be subject to the final review and 



 

2 
 

approval of the City Legal Department.   

Council Priorities Served 

 Establish Strong City Brand 

Approval of this mandatory referral affirms the City’s commitment to customer service, 
allowing an existing private retaining wall to remain in the City’s right-of-way in an 
effort to minimize the impact on the adjacent property owners. 

Attachments: 

1. Planning Commission staff comments from 01/07/2026 meeting 

2. Letter from applicant’s representative 

3. Draft license agreements 

4. Other miscellaneous exhibits 



MURFREESBORO PLANNING COMMISSION 
STAFF COMMENTS, PAGE 1 
JANUARY 7, 2026 
PROJECT PLANNER: MARC SHACKELFORD-ROWELL 
 

6. a.  Mandatory Referral [2025-718] to consider granting permission for a 
private retaining wall located in the City right-of-way of Bridgemore 
Boulevard, Phil Dodd on behalf of Shelton Square, LLC applicant.  

In this mandatory referral, the Planning Commission is being asked to consider 
granting permission for a private retaining wall located in the City right-of-way 
(ROW) of Bridgemore Boulevard, in front of 5161 and 5165 Bridgemore Boulevard. 
The retaining wall in question was installed by the developer and builder without 
permission or approval from the City.  However, according to the applicant, it was 
necessary to accommodate the utilities.  The City Engineer and Legal Department 
do not object to the retaining wall remaining in the City ROW, provided that the 
HOA and the property owner(s) enter into a license agreement with the City taking 
responsibility for the maintenance of the retaining wall and indemnifying the City 
from any claims regarding it.   

An exhibit showing the location of the retaining wall is included in the agenda 
materials, as well as a letter accepting liability from the HOA and a copy of the 
draft license agreement. Staff recommends that the Planning Commission forward 
a recommendation of approval to the City Council, subject to the following 
conditions: 

1. The applicable property owner(s) and the HOA shall enter into a license 
agreement with the City for the maintenance of the retaining wall and for the 
indemnification of the City.  This license agreement shall be subject to the 
review and approval of the City Legal Department.   

2. The applicant shall be responsible for drafting and recording a supplemental 
declaration to the CCRs, calling out the retaining wall in question as a 
common element.  The supplemental declaration shall be subject to the final 
review and approval of the City Legal Department.   

 

 
 

 















 

Page  #1   Xakia 4963    5161 Bridgemore Boulevard 

Prepared by and to be  
Returned to after recording to: 
 
John Tully, Assistant City Attorney  
City of Murfreesboro, Legal Department     
111 West Vine Street 
Murfreesboro TN 37130 
 
 
 

To Become Part of  
Tax Map 071N Group E Parcel 028.00 

 
 

LICENSE AGREEMENT FOR INSTALLATION AND MAINTENANCE IN ROW 

The CITY OF MURFREESBORO, a municipal corporation located in Rutherford 
County, Tennessee ("City"), and JOHN WILSON and wife, SARAH WILSON and SHELTON 
SQUARE HOMEOWNERS’ ASSOCIATION, INC., its successors and assigns (hereinafter 
referred to collectively as "Owner") agree as follows: 

 
RECITALS 

A. Owner owns the common elements at the property commonly known as 5161 Bridgemore 
Boulevard, Murfreesboro, Tennessee, (hereinafter referred to as the “Property”) in the City of 
Murfreesboro, Tennessee.  Owner has on its property a retaining wall (the “Improvements”), all 
of which are or will be, in whole or in part, over, within, and/or directly adjacent to pre-existing 
right-of-way easement, as shown on Exhibit A, attached hereto.  
 
B. Owner desires to maintain the Improvements for the benefit of the Property within the City-
owned right-of-way for 5161 Bridgemore Boulevard and for the Shelton Square Subdivision, 
which Improvements may also be within water, sanitary sewer, drainage, and utility easements 
which have been or will be created (all such right-of-way and easements together and separately, 
as applicable, the “ROW”).   
 
AGREEMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, the mutual promises made herein, 
the mutual benefits to be derived herefrom, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt 
and sufficiency of which is hereby irrevocably acknowledged and confirmed, the parties hereto 
agree as follows: 

 
1. City consents to the maintenance of the Improvements within the ROW.  The City makes 
no representation or warranty regarding lateral support for any structure or improvement installed 
adjacent to the right-of-way easement in which excavation may be necessary in the future.   
 
2.   Owner agrees that City shall have the right to limit or totally withdraw its permission to 
maintain the Improvements within the ROW if the City determines that such is reasonably 



 

Page  #2   Xakia 4963    5161 Bridgemore Boulevard 

necessary for the preservation or protection of the health, safety or welfare of the residents or 
guests of the City or for the protection or preservation of City property, utilities or infrastructure. 

 
3. City reserves the right for it or its authorized contractor, at any time, to perform work 
deemed necessary or appropriate by City within the ROW, specifically including work on any 
utilities, and City shall have no liability to Owner for any damage to the Improvements by reason 
of such work. Owner hereby releases the City from any and all loss, cost, damage, or liability of 
any kind or character, including without limitation, the City’s reasonable attorney fees, resulting 
from any damage that may occur to the Improvements by, during, or in the course of any repairs 
to, maintenance or upsizing of, or other access to the right-of-way that is reasonably necessary in 
the sole opinion of the City. Provided, however, City shall reasonably cooperate with Owner to 
minimize damage to the Improvements resulting from such work and shall use reasonable efforts 
to minimize any such damage.     
 
4. Owner shall defend, indemnify and hold City harmless from any liability to any person or 
entity arising out of or relating to the Improvements, except for liability resulting from City’s own 
negligence or intentional actions.  Owner shall maintain insurance against third party claims that 
may be covered by this defense, indemnity and hold harmless. 

 
5. Owner shall comply with all City codes and ordinances regarding use of City ROW in 
maintenance of the Improvements, including the obtaining of all necessary permits. 

 
6. This License Agreement shall be for an initial term of 15 years from the date hereof, and 
shall be automatically renewed for successive terms of 15 years each unless either party, in its sole 
option and discretion, gives written notice to the other party within the final six months of this 
License Agreement, that it is electing not to renew this License Agreement.  Owner shall be 
obligated to remove the Improvements upon the termination of this License Agreement. 
 
7. This License Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Tennessee, and 
jurisdiction and venue for any litigation arising hereunder shall be in the Circuit Court for 
Rutherford County, Tennessee.  In the event of any such litigation, the prevailing party shall 
recover, in addition to any other legal or equitable relief granted by the Court, reasonable attorney 
fees and all costs of court including but not limited to discovery, witness and expert fees.   
 
8. Any notice or demand which either party may or must give to the other hereunder shall be in 
writing and delivered personally, by reputable overnight courier, or sent by certified mail - return 
receipt requested addressed, if to Owner, as follows: 
 

 
To City:   City of Murfreesboro   
    111 West Vine Street 
    Murfreesboro, Tennessee 37130 
    Attn: City Attorney 
    ATucker@Murfreesborotn.gov 
 

 To Owner:   John Wilson and Sarah Wilson 
     5161 Bridgemore Boulevard 



 

Page  #3   Xakia 4963    5161 Bridgemore Boulevard 

     Murfreesboro TN 37129 
 
 With a Copy to:  Shelton Square Homeowners’ Association Inc. 
     c/o Property Solutions of Middle Tennessee, LLC 
     Registered Agent 
     2146 N. Thompson Lane, Suite B 
     Murfreesboro TN 37129-6025 
          

 
Either party may, by notice in writing, direct that future notices or demands be sent to a different 
address.  All notices hereunder shall be deemed given upon receipt (or, if rejected, upon rejection) or 
three (3) business days after being mailed, by certified mail, postage pre-paid to the above addresses. 
 
9. Owner represents that the Improvements have been or will be incorporated into the 
common area of Shelton Square and will be maintained pursuant to the Covenants, Conditions, 
and Restrictions of the Shelton Square subdivision. 
 
10. Owner, for itself and any successors or assigns, agrees that if the Improvements in the City-
owned ROW is not maintained to City standards, or otherwise becomes or appears to the City 
Engineer to be a danger to public health, safety and welfare, and if such condition is not properly 
remedied within five (5) days of written notice delivered to Owner and Owner’s successor or 
assign, if any, that City may then take all such steps as it deems appropriate, including but not 
limited to the removal of all of the Improvements.  If the City deems it necessary to take action 
pursuant to this Section 9, it will send an invoice for labor, equipment and materials expended, 
plus an amount equal to 50% of the total labor, equipment and materials expended for 
administrative costs, to Owner and Owner’s successor or assign, if any.  Any such Invoice shall 
be paid within 30 days of the date of the invoice. 
 
11. This License Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding on the successors and 
assigns of Owner and City, and shall run with the land.  This License Agreement may be executed 
in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which shall 
constitute one and the same agreement. 
 
12. This License Agreement shall not be effective until approved by the Murfreesboro 
Planning Commission. 
 
13. FREEDOM MORTGAGE CORPORATION, ("Creditor") is the holder of a promissory 
note dated 12/28/2021 in the total principal sum of $394,313.00 secured by a Deed of Trust of record 
at Record Book 2192, Page 2952, Register's Office of Rutherford County, Tennessee. Creditor 
hereby joins in the execution of this License Agreement for the purpose of subordinating the lien 
of said Deed of Trust to this License Agreement in favor of the City; provided, however, that (i) 
in no event shall Creditor have any obligation to indemnify, defend, or hold harmless any party 
(including City) whether prior or subsequent to any foreclosure of said Deed of Trust, and (ii) shall 
not otherwise be affected hereby and shall continue in full force and effect as before the execution 
and recording hereof, subject only to said License Agreement. 
 
 



 

Page  #4   Xakia 4963    5161 Bridgemore Boulevard 

 
 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, City and Owner have set forth their hands and seals below as 
of the date as of the date of the last party to sign. 
 
 
 
              
      JOHN WILSON 
 
 
              
      SARAH WILSON 
 
       
 
STATE OF ________________ ) 
     :  ss 
COUNTY OF _______________ ) 

 
Personally appeared before me, the undersigned notary public, JOHN WILSON and 

wife, SARAH WILSON, the within named bargainor(s), with whom I am personally 
acquainted, and who acknowledged that they executed the foregoing instrument for the 
purposes therein contained. 
 

WITNESS MY HAND, at office, this ____ day of    , 20___. 
 

  
       
     NOTARY PUBLIC 
 
 
My Commission Expires:       (SEAL) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Page  #5   Xakia 4963    5161 Bridgemore Boulevard 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
    SHELTON SQUARE HOMEOWNERS’ ASSOCIATION, INC. 
     
 
 
 
    BY:     ______________ 
 
 
    ITS:      _________ 

 
 
 
 

 
STATE OF     ) 
     :  ss 
COUNTY OF    ) 
 
  Before me, the undersigned notary public, personally appeared 
________________ with whom I am personally acquainted (or proved to me on the basis 
of satisfactory evidence), and who, upon oath, acknowledged such person to be a member 
or other officer authorized to execute the instrument on behalf of SHELTON SQUARE 
HOMEOWNERS’ ASSOCIATION, INC., and that such person as such member or officer 
executed the foregoing instrument for the purposes therein contained by personally signing 
the name of the corporation. 
 

Witness my hand and seal, this ____ day of     , 20__. 
 

             
     NOTARY PUBLIC 
 
My Commission Expires:         (SEAL) 

 
 
 

 



 

Page  #6   Xakia 4963    5161 Bridgemore Boulevard 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
      CREDITOR: 
 
 
      FREEDOM MORTGAGE CORPORATION 
 
 
      By:___________________________________ 
 
 
      Its:___________________________________ 
 
 
STATE OF ________________ ) 
     :  ss 
COUNTY OF _______________ ) 
 
 Before me, the undersigned notary public, personally appeared 
________________, the within named bargainor(s), with whom I am personally acquainted 
(or proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence), and who upon oath acknowledged 
such person to be the president or other officer of FREEDOM MORTGAGE 
CORPORATION, authorized to execute the instrument, and that such person, as such 
president or other officer, executed the within instrument for the purposes therein contained 
by personally signing in such person’s capacity as such officer. 
 
 

WITNESS MY HAND, at office, this ____ day of    , 20___. 
 

  
       
     NOTARY PUBLIC 
 
 
My Commission Expires:       (SEAL) 
 

 
 



 

Page  #7   Xakia 4963    5161 Bridgemore Boulevard 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY:    CITY OF MURFREESBORO 
      
      By:_____________________________ 
             SHANE MCFARLAND, Mayor 
 
      Date _____________________ 
 
 
 
 
     
ATTEST:         
                   ERIN TUCKER, Recorder 

 
 

     
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
By:          
       ADAM TUCKER, City Attorney  
 
 
 
STATE OF TENNESSEE       ) 
     :  ss 
COUNTY OF RUTHERFORD ) 
 
 Before me, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public in and for said County and State, 
personally appeared SHANE McFARLAND and ERIN TUCKER, with whom I am personally 
acquainted or who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence, and who, upon their oath 
acknowledged themselves to be respectively the Mayor and City Recorder of the City of 
Murfreesboro, and that they as such Mayor and City Recorder, being authorized to do so, executed 
the within and foregoing instrument for the purposes therein contained, by signing thereto the 
name of said City, and by attesting said instrument, by themselves as such Mayor and City 
Recorder, respectively. 
 
 Witness my hand and seal, at Office, this ___ day of ______________, 20______. 
 
 



 

Page  #8   Xakia 4963    5161 Bridgemore Boulevard 

_________________________________________ 
Notary Public 

 
My Commission Expires: _____________ 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Depiction of the Property 
 

 
 



 

Page  #1   Xakia 4963    5165 Bridgemore Boulevard 

Prepared by: 
 
John Tully, Assistant City Attorney  
City of Murfreesboro, Legal Department     
111 West Vine Street 
Murfreesboro TN 37130 
 
 
 

To Become Part of  
Tax Map 078C Group A Parcel 037.00 

 
 

LICENSE AGREEMENT FOR INSTALLATION AND MAINTENANCE IN ROW 

The CITY OF MURFREESBORO, a municipal corporation located in Rutherford 
County, Tennessee ("City"), and CHRISTOPHER SCOTT WILSON and wife, CHRISTY 
WILSON and SHELTON SQUARE HOMEOWNERS’ ASSOCIATION, INC., its successors 
and assigns (hereinafter referred to collectively as "Owner") agree as follows: 

 
RECITALS 

A. Owner owns the common elements at the property commonly known as 5165 Bridgemore 
Boulevard, Murfreesboro, Tennessee, (hereinafter referred to as the “Property”) in the City of 
Murfreesboro, Tennessee.  Owner has on its property a retaining wall (the “Improvements”), all 
of which are or will be, in whole or in part, over, within, and/or directly adjacent to pre-existing 
right-of-way easement, as shown on Exhibit A, attached hereto.  
 
B. Owner desires to maintain the Improvements for the benefit of the Property within the City-
owned right-of-way for 5165 Bridgemore Boulevard and for the Shelton Square Subdivision, 
which Improvements may also be within water, sanitary sewer, drainage, and utility easements 
which have been or will be created (all such right-of-way and easements together and separately, 
as applicable, the “ROW”).   
 
AGREEMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, the mutual promises made herein, 
the mutual benefits to be derived herefrom, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt 
and sufficiency of which is hereby irrevocably acknowledged and confirmed, the parties hereto 
agree as follows: 

 
1. City consents to the maintenance of the Improvements within the ROW.  The City makes 
no representation or warranty regarding lateral support for any structure or improvement installed 
adjacent to the right-of-way easement in which excavation may be necessary in the future.   
 
2.   Owner agrees that City shall have the right to limit or totally withdraw its permission to 
maintain the Improvements within the ROW if the City determines that such is reasonably 



 

Page  #2   Xakia 4963    5165 Bridgemore Boulevard 

necessary for the preservation or protection of the health, safety or welfare of the residents or 
guests of the City or for the protection or preservation of City property, utilities or infrastructure. 

 
3. City reserves the right for it or its authorized contractor, at any time, to perform work 
deemed necessary or appropriate by City within the ROW, specifically including work on any 
utilities, and City shall have no liability to Owner for any damage to the Improvements by reason 
of such work. Owner hereby releases the City from any and all loss, cost, damage, or liability of 
any kind or character, including without limitation, the City’s reasonable attorney fees, resulting 
from any damage that may occur to the Improvements by, during, or in the course of any repairs 
to, maintenance or upsizing of, or other access to the right-of-way that is reasonably necessary in 
the sole opinion of the City. Provided, however, City shall reasonably cooperate with Owner to 
minimize damage to the Improvements resulting from such work and shall use reasonable efforts 
to minimize any such damage.     
 
4. Owner shall defend, indemnify and hold City harmless from any liability to any person or 
entity arising out of or relating to the Improvements, except for liability resulting from City’s own 
negligence or intentional actions.  Owner shall maintain insurance against third party claims that 
may be covered by this defense, indemnity and hold harmless. 

 
5. Owner shall comply with all City codes and ordinances regarding use of City ROW in 
maintenance of the Improvements, including the obtaining of all necessary permits. 

 
6. This License Agreement shall be for an initial term of 15 years from the date hereof, and 
shall be automatically renewed for successive terms of 15 years each unless either party, in its sole 
option and discretion, gives written notice to the other party within the final six months of this 
License Agreement, that it is electing not to renew this License Agreement.  Owner shall be 
obligated to remove the Improvements upon the termination of this License Agreement. 
 
7. This License Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Tennessee, and 
jurisdiction and venue for any litigation arising hereunder shall be in the Circuit Court for 
Rutherford County, Tennessee.  In the event of any such litigation, the prevailing party shall 
recover, in addition to any other legal or equitable relief granted by the Court, reasonable attorney 
fees and all costs of court including but not limited to discovery, witness and expert fees.   
 
8. Any notice or demand which either party may or must give to the other hereunder shall be in 
writing and delivered personally, by reputable overnight courier, or sent by certified mail - return 
receipt requested addressed, if to Owner, as follows: 
 

 
To City:   City of Murfreesboro   
    111 West Vine Street 
    Murfreesboro, Tennessee 37130 
    Attn: City Attorney 
    ATucker@Murfreesborotn.gov 
 

 To Owner:   Christopher and Christy Wilson 
     5165 Bridgemore Boulevard 



 

Page  #3   Xakia 4963    5165 Bridgemore Boulevard 

     Murfreesboro TN 37129 
 
 With a Copy to:  Shelton Square Homeowners’ Association Inc. 
     c/o Property Solutions of Middle Tennessee, LLC 
     Registered Agent 
     2146 N. Thompson Lane, Suite B 
     Murfreesboro TN 37129-6025 
          

 
Either party may, by notice in writing, direct that future notices or demands be sent to a different 
address.  All notices hereunder shall be deemed given upon receipt (or, if rejected, upon rejection) or 
three (3) business days after being mailed, by certified mail, postage pre-paid to the above addresses. 
 
9. Owner represents that the Improvements have been or will be incorporated into the 
common area of Shelton Square and will be maintained pursuant to the Covenants, Conditions, 
and Restrictions of the Shelton Square subdivision. 
 
10. Owner, for itself and any successors or assigns, agrees that if the Improvements in the City-
owned ROW is not maintained to City standards, or otherwise becomes or appears to the City 
Engineer to be a danger to public health, safety and welfare, and if such condition is not properly 
remedied within five (5) days of written notice delivered to Owner and Owner’s successor or 
assign, if any, that City may then take all such steps as it deems appropriate, including but not 
limited to the removal of all of the Improvements.  If the City deems it necessary to take action 
pursuant to this Section 9, it will send an invoice for labor, equipment and materials expended, 
plus an amount equal to 50% of the total labor, equipment and materials expended for 
administrative costs, to Owner and Owner’s successor or assign, if any.  Any such Invoice shall 
be paid within 30 days of the date of the invoice. 
 
11. This License Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding on the successors and 
assigns of Owner and City, and shall run with the land.  This License Agreement may be executed 
in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which shall 
constitute one and the same agreement. 
 
12. This License Agreement shall not be effective until approved by the Murfreesboro 
Planning Commission. 
 
13. FREEDOM MORTGAGE CORPORATION, ("Creditor") is the holder of a promissory 
note dated 12/01/2021 in the total principal sum of $365,000.00 secured by a Deed of Trust of record 
at Record Book 2178, Page 2673, Register's Office of Rutherford County, Tennessee. Creditor 
hereby joins in the execution of this License Agreement for the purpose of subordinating the lien 
of said Deed of Trust to this License Agreement in favor of the City; provided, however, that (i) 
in no event shall Creditor have any obligation to indemnify, defend, or hold harmless any party 
(including City) whether prior or subsequent to any foreclosure of said Deed of Trust, and (ii) shall 
not otherwise be affected hereby and shall continue in full force and effect as before the execution 
and recording hereof, subject only to said License Agreement. 
 
 



 

Page  #4   Xakia 4963    5165 Bridgemore Boulevard 

 
 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, City and Owner have set forth their hands and seals below as 
of the date as of the date of the last party to sign. 
 
 
 
              
      CHRISTOPHER SCOTT WILSON 
 
 
              
      CHRISTY WILSON 
 
       
 
STATE OF ________________ ) 
     :  ss 
COUNTY OF _______________ ) 

 
Personally appeared before me, the undersigned notary public, CHRISTOPHER 

SCOTT WILSON and wife, CHRISTY WILSON, the within named bargainor(s), with whom 
I am personally acquainted, and who acknowledged that they executed the foregoing 
instrument for the purposes therein contained. 
 

WITNESS MY HAND, at office, this ____ day of    , 20___. 
 

  
       
     NOTARY PUBLIC 
 
 
My Commission Expires:       (SEAL) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Page  #5   Xakia 4963    5165 Bridgemore Boulevard 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
    SHELTON SQUARE HOMEOWNERS’ ASSOCIATION, INC. 
     
 
 
 
    BY:     ______________ 
 
 
    ITS:      _________ 

 
 
 
 

 
STATE OF     ) 
     :  ss 
COUNTY OF    ) 
 
  Before me, the undersigned notary public, personally appeared 
________________ with whom I am personally acquainted (or proved to me on the basis 
of satisfactory evidence), and who, upon oath, acknowledged such person to be a member 
or other officer authorized to execute the instrument on behalf of SHELTON SQUARE 
HOMEOWNERS’ ASSOCIATION, INC., and that such person as such member or officer 
executed the foregoing instrument for the purposes therein contained by personally signing 
the name of the corporation. 
 

Witness my hand and seal, this ____ day of     , 20__. 
 

             
     NOTARY PUBLIC 
 
My Commission Expires:         (SEAL) 

 
 
 

 



 

Page  #6   Xakia 4963    5165 Bridgemore Boulevard 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
      CREDITOR: 
 
 
      FREEDOM MORTGAGE CORPORATION 
 
 
      By:___________________________________ 
 
 
      Its:___________________________________ 
 
 
STATE OF ________________ ) 
     :  ss 
COUNTY OF _______________ ) 
 
 Before me, the undersigned notary public, personally appeared 
________________, the within named bargainor(s), with whom I am personally acquainted 
(or proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence), and who upon oath acknowledged 
such person to be the president or other officer of FREEDOM MORTGAGE 
CORPORATION, authorized to execute the instrument, and that such person, as such 
president or other officer, executed the within instrument for the purposes therein contained 
by personally signing in such person’s capacity as such officer. 
 
 

WITNESS MY HAND, at office, this ____ day of    , 20___. 
 

  
       
     NOTARY PUBLIC 
 
 
My Commission Expires:       (SEAL) 
 

 
 



 

Page  #7   Xakia 4963    5165 Bridgemore Boulevard 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY:    CITY OF MURFREESBORO 
      
      By:_____________________________ 
             SHANE MCFARLAND, Mayor 
 
      Date _____________________ 
 
 
 
 
     
ATTEST:         
                   ERIN TUCKER, Recorder 

 
 

     
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
By:          
       ADAM TUCKER, City Attorney  
 
 
 
STATE OF TENNESSEE       ) 
     :  ss 
COUNTY OF RUTHERFORD ) 
 
 Before me, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public in and for said County and State, 
personally appeared SHANE McFARLAND and ERIN TUCKER, with whom I am personally 
acquainted or who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence, and who, upon their oath 
acknowledged themselves to be respectively the Mayor and City Recorder of the City of 
Murfreesboro, and that they as such Mayor and City Recorder, being authorized to do so, executed 
the within and foregoing instrument for the purposes therein contained, by signing thereto the 
name of said City, and by attesting said instrument, by themselves as such Mayor and City 
Recorder, respectively. 
 
 Witness my hand and seal, at Office, this ___ day of ______________, 20______. 
 
 



 

Page  #8   Xakia 4963    5165 Bridgemore Boulevard 

_________________________________________ 
Notary Public 

 
My Commission Expires: _____________ 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Depiction of the Property 
 

 
 



April 2023 

COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 
Meeting Date:   01/22/2026 

 

Item Title: City Council Meeting Minutes  

Department: Finance 

Presented by: Erin Tucker, City Recorder/ Chief Financial Officer 

Requested Council Action:  
   Ordinance  ☐ 
    Resolution  ☐ 
   Motion  ☒ 
   Direction  ☐ 
   Information  ☐ 

Summary 

Review and approval of City Council meeting minutes.   

Staff Recommendation 

Approve minutes as listed.  

Background Information  

City Council meetings are available on the City’s website for reference to actions taken 
and discussion made as items are considered.  In accordance with Meeting procedures, 
Council approves meeting minutes for these to become the official minutes of the 
meeting.   

Attachments 

Current Minutes 
January 7, 2026 (Joint Conceptual Workshop) 
January 8, 2026 (Public Comment) 
January 8, 2026 (Regular Meeting) 

  

  



 
City Council/Planning Commission Joint Conceptual Workshop Meeting Minutes 

January 7, 2026, 4:30 pm 
Page 1 of 5 

 
 
 
 

MINUTES 
 
 The purpose of this special meeting was to obtain feedback of the Design Guidelines from 

both City Council and Planning Commission before consideration. Proper notice of this meeting 

was published in the Murfreesboro Post on Tuesday, December 30, 2025.  

 1. Call to Order and 2. Determination of a Quorum. Mayor McFarland called the meeting 

to order at 4:33 p.m. and determined a quorum of Planning Commission and City Council 

members were present.  He then led attendees in prayer and the pledge of allegiance. 

Council Member Attendance 

Mayor Shane McFarland – Presiding 
Jami Averwater (also Vice Chair of Planning Commission) 
Madelyn Scales Harris 
Austin Maxwell 
Bill Shacklett 
Kirt Wade 
Shawn Wright (also Planning Commission Member) 
 

Planning Commission Member Attendance 
 
 Ken Halliburton - Chair 
 Jami Averwater (also Council Member)  
 Tristan Carroll 
 Reggie Harris 
 Bryan Prince 
 Kelly G. Rollins 
 Shawn Wright (also Council Member) 
 
City Staff Attendance 
 

Darren Gore, City Manager 
John Tully, Assistant City Attorney 
Melanie Joy Peterson, City Clerk 
 
Ben Newman, Director of Land Management and Planning 
Carolyn Jaco, Administrative Assistant II 
Greg McKnight, Executive Director of Development Services 
Holly Smyth, Principal Planner 
Katie Noel, Project Engineer 
Matthew Blomeley, Assistant Planning Director 
Other City Staff 
 
 

City of Murfreesboro 
City Council/Planning Commission  

Joint Conceptual Workshop Session 
 

Wednesday, January 7, 2026 at 4:30 p.m. 
Murfreesboro City Hall Council Chambers 
111 West Vine Street, Murfreesboro, TN 

  



 
City Council/Planning Commission Joint Conceptual Workshop Meeting Minutes 

January 7, 2026, 4:30 pm 
Page 2 of 5 

Workshop Items 

 3a. Proposed amendments to the Design Guidelines [2026-JCW-01]. Ben Newman, 

Director of Land Management and Planning, reviewed the history and process that was used to 

develop revisions to the Murfreesboro Design Standards and Guidelines.   

• 2013 – City Council gave Planning Commission the authority to adopt design guidelines 

for the City. 

• November 2014 – Planning Commission adopted design guidelines and thereafter Council 

passed a resolution of support acknowledging Planning Commission’s actions. 

• In the 11 years since its adoption, materials and tastes have changed and stakeholders 

have provided feedback that revisions to the design guidelines were needed. 

• Over the past 8 months, the City hired consultant Ragan-Smith Associates and assembled 

a group of professionals from the community to evaluate the design guidelines and 

provide feedback and suggestions for updates. 

 A draft of the revised Murfreesboro Design Standards and Guidelines, dated December 

2025, was provided within the meeting agenda packet with proposed revisions emphasized in 

red.  

 Kevin Guenther, Consultant from Ragan-Smith Associates (now known as Pape-Dawson), 

presented key revisions to the City of Murfreesboro Design Standards and Guidelines including: 

• Clarification of Status. Changing the document’s title to “Design Standards and 

Guidelines” to emphasize the document is an adopted set of requirements, not merely 

suggestions. 

• Document Cleanup and Modernization. The consultant team conducted a comprehensive 

review of the document to update and clarify language, remove outdated references, and 

improve overall readability without altering the original intent of the guidelines. 

• Formal Open Space Requirements Revised (p. 37-47). A significant focus of the revisions 

involved formal open space requirements. Mr. Guenther noted that while formal open 

space has historically been required, its application has not always aligned with project 

goals or site conditions. As a result, the revised guidelines introduce a land-use chart by 



 
City Council/Planning Commission Joint Conceptual Workshop Meeting Minutes 

January 7, 2026, 4:30 pm 
Page 3 of 5 

zoning district identifying when formal open space is required, optional, or exempt. 

Formal open space will no longer be required for every site. 

• Landscape Enhancement Diagram (page 56). Where formal open space is optional, 

developers may instead provide enhanced landscaping. New enhanced landscape 

standards have been added, both in written and diagrammatic form. These standards 

require increased landscape width based on building height and include three layers of 

landscaping — such as ground cover, shrubs, and trees — to create visual depth. In limited 

cases, approved design elements may substitute for one landscaping layer. Enhanced 

landscaping may be provided along building frontages, access lanes, and primary access 

drives. 

• Architectural Standards (p. 58-62). Architectural standards were also updated to better 

address specific land uses. Townhomes and industrial uses were separated into their own 

categories, with tailored criteria for building mass, scale, color, materials, and proportions. 

Previously, townhomes were addressed within other use categories, which created 

inconsistencies in interpretation.  

• Building Materials. Revisions to building materials standards reflect changes in 

construction practices. Metal panels are now permitted for commercial and industrial 

buildings, subject to quality standards and limitations on coverage. Specifications 

reference Construction Specifications Institute (CSI) standards to define acceptable 

materials. Metal panels must be varied in color and/or pattern to avoid uniform façades. 

Certain trim materials, including wood, plastic, and cementitious products, are now 

permitted as tertiary materials. Emerging materials such as mass timber are allowed, 

subject to fire-rating and applicable code requirements. 

• Architectural Roof Design Revisions (page 64). Roof design standards were clarified, 

particularly for fuel station canopies and car washes. Flat canopies shall be prohibited; 

however, the revisions allow for multiple non-flat design approaches and remove the 

implication that only specific roof forms are acceptable. 

City Council, Planning Commission and staff discussed proposed updates to the Design 

Guidelines, with questions focusing on clarity, flexibility, and consistency of application. 



 
City Council/Planning Commission Joint Conceptual Workshop Meeting Minutes 

January 7, 2026, 4:30 pm 
Page 4 of 5 

Vice Mayor Shacklett asked how material quality, including metal, is evaluated; staff 

explained that determinations are based on established construction application standards. 

Council Member Wade questioned revisions related to gas station canopies, noting 

concerns about requiring national chains to alter preferred designs. Staff and consultants 

responded that the intent is to ensure standards are clear, fair, and applied consistently, while 

also providing additional opportunities for creative design. 

Mayor McFarland raised concerns about subjectivity within the standards, asking how 

staff ensures decisions are not based on individual planner preferences. Staff explained that the 

guidelines are intentionally written as flexible, suggested standards to encourage creativity, 

acknowledging that some subjectivity is unavoidable. Areas most frequently identified as unclear 

or problematic include formal open space, building materials, and townhome design. Consultants 

further clarified efforts to reduce ambiguity and improve consistency. 

Additional discussion noted that the Design Guidelines have not been comprehensively 

updated in approximately 11 years and that evolving development trends, including concerns 

related to color restrictions such as limitations on “bright and vibrant colors,” warrant 

reconsideration.  

City Council and Planning Commission members and staff discussed specific design 

elements, including flat roofs for medical facility drop-off areas, which staff indicated would be 

evaluated separately from standards applicable to car washes and fuel canopies. Mayor 

McFarland emphasized focusing standards on major planning considerations rather than minor 

details, with the goal of improving project value while avoiding unnecessary constraints on 

entrepreneurship and creativity. Staff indicated they would revisit color-related provisions and 

other concerns. 

The appeals process was discussed. Staff explained that authority to administer and adopt 

the Design Guidelines has been delegated to the Planning Commission by City Council. If an 

applicant is aggrieved by the administration of the guidelines, an appeal may be made to the City 

Council. Joint Conceptual Workshops were identified as a preferred forum to address 

disagreements early and reduce formal appeals. The Joint Conceptual Workshop was broadly 

supported as a tool to improve alignment between the Planning Commission and Council. 



 
City Council/Planning Commission Joint Conceptual Workshop Meeting Minutes 

January 7, 2026, 4:30 pm 
Page 5 of 5 

Several members emphasized the importance of treating the Design Guidelines as a living 

document. Consensus was expressed that the guidelines should be reviewed on a more regular 

basis — potentially every three years — to reflect evolving development patterns, materials, and 

market conditions. It was discussed that the intent of the discussion was collaborative and aimed 

at refinement rather than criticism, acknowledging that design review cannot be entirely black 

and white but that continued efforts will be made to narrow areas of ambiguity. 

Staff and the consultant team indicated they would continue working with the stakeholder 

group to incorporate feedback received from City Council and Planning Commission and bring the 

revised guidelines to Planning Commission for adoption and to City Council for acknowledgment. 

 4. Adjourn. There being no further business, Chair Halliburton and Mayor McFarland 

adjourned this special meeting of the Planning Commission and City Council at 5:43 p.m. 

 

      ______ 
SHANE MCFARLAND 
MAYOR 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      _______ 
ERIN E. TUCKER 
CITY RECORDER/ CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
 
APPROVED BY COUNCIL:  ________________________ 

 



City Council Public Comment Meeting Minutes 
January 8, 2026, 5:30 pm 

Page 1 of 2 

 

 

 

 

MINUTES 

 Proper notice of this meeting was published in the Murfreesboro Post on Tuesday, 

December 30, 2025. 

Call to Order 

 Mayor McFarland called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m. 

Council Member Attendance 

Mayor Shane McFarland – Presiding 
Jami Averwater 
Madelyn Scales Harris 
Austin Maxwell 
Bill Shacklett 
Shawn Wright 
 
Kirt Wade was absent and excused from this meeting. 

 
City Staff Attendance 
 

Darren Gore, City Manager 
Adam Tucker, City Attorney 
Erin Tucker, City Recorder/ Chief Financial Officer 
Raven Bozeman, Executive Assistant 
 
Angela Jackson, Executive Director of Strategic Services 
Chad Gehrke, Airport Director 
Kelley Blevins Baker, Deputy City Attorney – Public Safety 
Matt Jarratt, Information Technology Director 
Michael Nevills, Communications  
Mike Browning, Public Information Officer 
Nate Williams, Executive Director of Recreational Services 
Valerie Smith, Water Resources Director 
Other City Staff 

 
Public Comment 

Mayor McFarland called the meeting to order and stated that the purpose of the special 

meeting was to hear public comments. Mayor McFarland reported that one individual had 

registered to speak. Mayor McFarland reviewed the public comment procedures and invited the 

speaker to come forward. 

The following individual addressed the Council. 

City of Murfreesboro 
City Council – Public Comment Special Session 

 
Thursday, January 8, 2026 at 5:30 pm 

Murfreesboro City Hall Council Chambers 
111 West Vine Street, Murfreesboro, TN 



City Council Public Comment Meeting Minutes 
January 8, 2026, 5:30 pm 

Page 2 of 2 

Jeff Wegner, 553 Agripark Drive, Apartment 805, Murfreesboro, spoke in favor of 

requesting an independent, impartial, nonpartisan investigation of the Library Board by 

collaborating with the other governing boards. Mr. Wegner also commented on the Flock 

Transparency Portal and stated that it is not turned on for Murfreesboro.  He stated it has been  

activated in surrounding Tennessee counties and provides information about what cameras are 

used for and promotes transparency.  He requested the City consider activating the Flock 

Transparency Portal. 

 Mayor McFarland requested guidance from City Attorney Adam Tucker regarding the 

possibility of conducting an independent investigation of the Library Board. Mr. Tucker advised 

that additional time would be needed to research the matter, including the potential for 

coordinating with other local funding jurisdictions to conduct an audit. He noted that the City’s 

oversight authority is limited to financial matters, specifically the use of allocated funds. 

 Darren Gore, City Manager, stated that he would follow up with Police Chief Michael 

Bowen to obtain additional information regarding the Flock Camera Transparency Portal. Mayor 

McFarland and Council Member Maxwell emphasized the City’s commitment to transparency and 

to building public trust. 

 Mayor McFarland asked for additional speakers.  There were no additional attendees 

wishing to speak. 

 There being no further business, Mayor McFarland adjourned the meeting at 5:35 p.m. 

 
 

      ______ 
SHANE MCFARLAND 
MAYOR 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      ________ 
ERIN E. TUCKER 
CITY RECORDER/ CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
 
APPROVED BY COUNCIL:  ________________________ 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
January 8, 2026, 6:00 pm 

Page 1 of 15 

 

 

 

 

MINUTES 

 Proper notice of this meeting was published in the Murfreesboro Post on Tuesday, 

December 30, 2025. 

Call to Order 

 Mayor McFarland called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 

Council Member Attendance 

Mayor Shane McFarland – Presiding 
Jami Averwater 
Madelyn Scales Harris 
Austin Maxwell 
Bill Shacklett 
Kirt Wade 
Shawn Wright 

 
City Staff Attendance 
 

Darren Gore, City Manager 
Adam Tucker, City Attorney 
Erin Tucker, City Recorder/ Chief Financial Officer 
Raven Bozeman, Executive Assistant 
 
Angela Jackson, Executive Director of Strategic Services 
Ben Newman, Director of Land Management and Planning 
Cary Gensemer, Deputy Chief of Police 
Chad Gehrke, Airport Director 
Kelley Blevins Baker, Deputy City Attorney – Public Safety 
Lee Smith, Deputy Director of Transportation 
Mark McCluskey, Fire Chief 
Matthew Jarratt, Information Technology Director 
Matthew Blomeley, Assistant Planning Director 
Michael Bowen, Chief of Police 
Michael Nevills, Communications  
Michele Emerson, City Engineer 
Mike Browning, Public Information Officer 
Nate Williams, Executive Director of Recreational Services 
Randolph Wilkerson, Human Resources Director 
Robert Holtz, Community Development Director 
Steve Jarrell, Deputy Chief of Police 
Valerie Smith, Water Resources Director 
Other City Staff 
 

 
 
 
 

City of Murfreesboro 
City Council – Regular Session 

 
Thursday, January 8, 2026 at 6:00 pm 

Murfreesboro City Hall Council Chambers 
111 West Vine Street, Murfreesboro, TN 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
January 8, 2026, 6:00 pm 

Page 2 of 15 

Prayer and Pledge of Allegiance 
 

 Council Member Scales Harris commenced the meeting with a prayer followed by the 

Pledge of Allegiance. 

Mayor McFarland announced that Liz McPhee, wife of Middle Tennessee State University’s 

President Sidney McPhee, and a longtime Murfreesboro resident, passed away today. He asked 

that the McPhee family be lifted in prayers and expressed gratitude for her community 

contributions including being a teacher at Discovery School and Campus School.    

Public Comment on Actionable Agenda Items 

Mayor McFarland asked if there were any registered speakers for public comment on 

actionable agenda items.  Erin Tucker, City Recorder/ Chief Financial Officer, indicated no one had 

registered to speak.  

Ceremonial Items 

STARS Award – Sergeant Mark Wood. Randolph Wilkerson, Human Resources Director, 

presented the STARS Service Excellence Award for November 2025 upon Sergeant Mark Wood of 

the Murfreesboro Police Department.  The purpose of the STARS award is to recognize and 

reward those employees who go above and beyond their normal job duties in providing 

outstanding customer service to internal and external customers.  Sergeant Wood was 

acknowledged for his exceptional service, compassion, and leadership. A 23-year veteran and 

leader of the Homeless Outreach Support Team (HOST), he was nominated by two individuals for 

repeatedly going above and beyond to help those in need. Highlights of his service include 

personally paying for a tire for a struggling family when no resources were available and assisting 

homeless individuals and veterans. City leaders praised his integrity, humility, and the positive 

example he sets for his team and the community. 

Consent Agenda 

The Consent Agenda was presented for approval with Council Communications and 

corresponding documents for the following items: 

1. Barge Design Solutions Master Services Agreement (Airport) 
2. Ramp Pavement Repair Design Work Authorization (Airport) 
3. Housing Rehabilitation - 727 E Castle Street (Community Development) 
4. CIP Reallocations (Finance) 
5. Veterans Park Contingency Allowance Allocation (Project Development) 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
January 8, 2026, 6:00 pm 

Page 3 of 15 

6. Contract Amendment #2 with Kimley Horn for the Memorial Blvd Signal Project 
(Transportation) 

 
Council Member Maxwell made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda.  Council 

Member Wright seconded the motion. Upon roll call, the motion was passed by the following 

vote: 

Aye: Jami Averwater, Madelyn Scales Harris, Austin Maxwell, Bill Shacklett, Kirt Wade, 

Shawn Wright, Shane McFarland 

Nay: None 

Action Items 

7. City Council Meeting Minutes (Finance). Erin Tucker, City Recorder/ Chief Financial 

Officer, presented a Council Communication regarding the following City Council meeting 

minutes presented for approval as part of the agenda packet.   

Current Minutes  
December 3, 2025 (Joint Conceptual Workshop) 
December 4, 2025 (Public Comment) 
December 4, 2025 (Regular Meeting) 
December 11, 2025 (Workshop) 
 
Council Member Wright made a motion to approve the minutes. Council Member 

Averwater seconded the motion.  Upon roll call, the motion was passed by the following vote:  

Aye:      Jami Averwater, Madelyn Scales Harris, Austin Maxwell, Bill Shacklett, Kirt Wade, 

Shawn Wright, Shane McFarland  

Nay:      None  

8. Plan of Services, Annexation, and Zoning for Property along Old Salem Road 

(Planning). Matthew Blomeley, Assistant Planning Director, presented a Council Communication 

regarding a Plan of Services and Annexation for approximately 32.1 acres northwest side of Old 

Salem Road west of Veterans Parkway and zoning of approximately 27.9 acres  (Tax Map 115, 

Parcel 034.00 (27.9 acres), Old Salem Road right-of-way (approx. 4.2 acres), and to zone 

approximately 27.9 acres as Planned Residential Development (PRD) District (Old Salem PRD), 

simultaneous with annexation. This rezoning would permit the 27.9-acre parcel to be developed 

with sixty-two single-family detached homes and thirty-two single-family attached homes. 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
January 8, 2026, 6:00 pm 

Page 4 of 15 

Planning Commission held a public hearing on November 5, 2025 and recommended 

approval. The City Manager approved scheduling a City Council public hearing for January 8, 

2026, with notice published on December 16, 2025 in the Murfreesboro Post.    

Council Members asked questions, and staff provided responses, regarding sewer 

availability and development feasibility, proposed residential density, Old Salem Road jurisdiction 

and required improvements, traffic impacts, and proximity to schools. 

8a. Public Hearing for Plan of Services and Annexation for 32.1 Acres. Mayor McFarland 

opened the public hearing, regarding the plan of services and annexation. He provided 

instructions for those wishing to speak and invited public comments.  The following individuals 

addressed the Council:   

1. Ken Jacobson, 5174 Danbury Court, Rockvale, resident of the Salem Downs 

community located off North Walter Leather Road in Rockvale, spoke on behalf of 5 other 

residents of his community and over 500 who signed an online petition in opposition of the 

proposed 98-home annexation. He cited serious traffic pattern and safety concerns at nearby 

intersections, arguing infrastructure improvements should come before new development. He 

said the project would create residential sprawl, conflict with comprehensive plans, and harm 

the rural character and quality of life of existing neighborhoods. He urged officials to pause rural 

development, improve infrastructure, and focus on infill within current City limits. 

2. Matthew Jarratt, 4541 Old Salem Road, Rockvale, opposed the annexation and 

expressed agreement with the previous speaker and formally seconded the speaker’s comments. 

He asked the Council not to approve of another high-density development near the Veterans 

Boulevard and Old Salem intersection, citing concerns about its proximity and impact. 

3. Thomas Bruff, 3036 Berry Patch Trail, Rockvale, opposed the annexation and raised 

concerns about the proposed development based on issues discussed at the Planning 

Commission, particularly flooding, school overcrowding, traffic safety, and annexation 

requirements. He emphasized that the property frequently floods, affecting nearby roads and 

homes, and questioned whether engineering solutions would work in real conditions. He noted 

the presence of wetlands and detention ponds as evidence of ongoing water problems. 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
January 8, 2026, 6:00 pm 

Page 5 of 15 

Mr. Bruff also criticized the lack of a clear, publicly available independent traffic study, 

citing numerous accidents in the area and the absence of promised traffic signals, especially at 

Rucker Road. He expressed concern that multiple developments nearby would compound traffic 

impacts. Additionally, he questioned whether annexation rules requiring contiguous 

development had changed, arguing the proposal appears to be non-contiguous flag lot extending 

from Old Salem Road. He urged the Council to consider public safety and infrastructure before 

approving the project. 

Despite sufficient time for input, no additional attendees expressed a desire to speak. 

Consequently, Mayor McFarland concluded the public hearing.  

Mayor McFarland clarified that if the annexation and plan of services are approved but 

the associated zoning request fails, the annexation and Plan of Services would not take effect. 

Mayor McFarland asked City staff if the annexation proposal was contiguous. Mr. 

Blomeley confirmed the area is contiguous to the City limits and indicated the area on a map 

along Windrow Road, adjacent to the north and east sides of the proposed area.  

Mayor McFarland stated the questions raised regarding zoning such as the road network 

and engineering will be answered after the zoning public hearing.  

Staff confirmed that City sanitation services can be provided. Single-family homes would 

be located on City streets designed to City street standards, allowing sanitation vehicles to access 

the development without issue. 

Council Member Maxwell expressed concerns regarding the cumulative impacts of 

continued development, including overcrowded schools, traffic congestion, and overall density. 

While acknowledging the property owner’s right to develop and stated concerns that the 

proposed number of units is excessive and referenced similar past annexation decisions. Staff 

reiterated that the property is within the City’s urban growth boundary and infill service line as 

identified in the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 

8b. Resolution 26-R-PSA-01 Plan of Services and Annexation. The resolution titled, 

“RESOLUTION 26-R-PSA-01 to adopt a Plan of Services for and to annex approximately 32.1 acres 

located along Old Salem Road (Tax Map 115, Parcel 034.00 (27.9 acres) and approximately 4.2 

acres/ 3,000 linear feet of Old Salem Road ROW), and to incorporate the same within the 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
January 8, 2026, 6:00 pm 

Page 6 of 15 

corporate boundaries of the City of Murfreesboro, Tennessee, Sherry Wade Metzler, applicant 

[2025-506]” was offered for passage on its first and only reading.   

Council Member Averwater made a motion to approve Resolution 26-R-PSA-01 on first 

and only reading.  Council Member Wright seconded the motion.  Upon roll call, the motion was 

passed by the following vote:   

Aye:     Jami Averwater, Kirt Wade, Shawn Wright, Shane McFarland   

Nay:    Madelyn Scales Harris, Austin Maxwell, Bill Shacklett 

8c. Public Hearing to Zone 27.9 acres Simultaneous with Annexation. Matthew 

Blomeley, Assistant Planning Director, presented the zoning request, simultaneous with 

annexation, for a Planned Residential Development (PRD) District subdivision proposed to be 

called Aubrey, consisting of 66 single-family detached homes and 32 single-family attached 

townhomes. He discussed a traffic study within the area.  Planning Commission held a public 

hearing on November 5, 2025, and recommended approval. The City Manager approved 

scheduling a City Council public hearing for January 8, 2026, with notice published on December 

16, 2025 in the Murfreesboro Post.    

 Mr. Blomeley introduced Matt Taylor and Bryan Grover, Site Engineering Consultants 

(SEC), Mr. Grover presented a PowerPoint Presentation regarding the rezoning request and 

fielded questions from Council Members. 

Mayor McFarland opened the public hearing regarding the proposed zoning simultaneous 

with annexation and invited public comments.    

The following individuals addressed the Council:   

1. Thomas Bruff, 3036 Berry Patch Trail, Rockvale, opposed the zoning and asked for an 

independent public safety study due to serious traffic and safety concerns on Rucker Road/ 

Highway 99. Mr. Bruff raised questions about fire water capacity, unresolved issues, and delays 

in installing a traffic signal, and urged the City to slow down, gather more information, and 

prioritize public safety to prevent accidents and save lives. 

2. Casey Coleman, 1029 Alta Vista Lane, Smyrna, opposed the zoning and highlighted 

problems with traffic, school overcrowding, and overdevelopment, noting long commuting 

delays and community frustration. Ms. Coleman urged prioritizing community safety and 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
January 8, 2026, 6:00 pm 

Page 7 of 15 

concerns over developer interests and emphasized 500 resident signatures show strong 

opposition. 

Despite sufficient time for input, no additional attendees expressed a desire to speak. 

Consequently, Mayor McFarland concluded the public hearing.    

The Mayor, City staff (including Lee Smith, Deputy Director of Transportation, and 

Matthew Blomeley, Assistant Planning Director) and Matt Taylor, SEC, addressed concerns about 

water service, fire protection, traffic, stormwater and drainage for the proposed development. 

The development’s utilities would be served by Consolidated Utility District (CUD), which must 

meet City fire safety standards. A traffic signal at Rucker and Veterans is planned for spring or 

summer of 2026, and additional signals may be considered after nearby road projects are 

completed. Mr. Taylor stated stormwater, wetlands, and traffic impacts would meet engineering 

standards and would not harm neighbors. 

Council discussion followed and focused on timing and coordination of infrastructure 

versus development, ongoing traffic congestion, and whether the City should conduct broader 

area-wide traffic planning before approving more projects. Some Council members supported 

the project due to its relatively low density and infrastructure contributions, while others 

remained concerned about community opposition, school and road capacity, and the City’s 

tendency to approve development before infrastructure is fully in place. 

8d. Ordinance 26-OZ-01 (First Reading). The ordinance titled, “ORDINANCE 26-OZ-01 

amending the Zoning Ordinance and the Zoning Map of the City of Murfreesboro, Tennessee, as 

heretofore amended and as now in force and effect to zone approximately 27.9 acres along Old 

Salem Road as Planned Residential Development (PRD) District (Old Salem PRD) simultaneous 

with annexation; Patterson Company, LLC, applicant(s) [2025- 419]” was offered for passage on 

first reading.   

Council Member Wright made a motion to approve Ordinance 26-OZ-01 on first reading.  

Council Member Wade seconded the motion.  Upon roll call, the motion was passed by the 

following vote:   

Aye:     Jami Averwater, Kirt Wade, Shawn Wright, Shane McFarland   

Nay:     Madelyn Scales Harris, Austin Maxwell, Bill Shacklett 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
January 8, 2026, 6:00 pm 

Page 8 of 15 

Mayor McFarland acknowledged Leadership Rutherford in attendance and thanked them 

for attending the meeting. 

9. Rezoning Property Along Ashers Fork Drive (Planning). Matthew Blomeley, Assistant 

Planning Director, presented a Council Communication and documents regarding the rezoning of 

approximately 9.6 acres located along the north side of Ashers Fork Drive, south of New Salem 

Highway Single-Family Residential Six (RS-6) District to Single-Family Residential Attached District 

- Suburban Townhouse (RS-A, Type 2) District.    

Planning Commission held a public hearing on November 5, 2025, and recommended 

approval. The City Manager approved scheduling a City Council public hearing for January 8, 

2026, with notice published on December 16, 2025, in the Murfreesboro Post.    

Bill Huddleston of Huddleston Steele Engineering addressed the Council and explained 

that the 6.7-acre site, currently zoned RS-6, could accommodate approximately 33 single-family 

homes; however, the proposed development would include approximately 60 townhomes. He 

stated that the anticipated traffic impact would be modest, noting that townhomes typically 

generate fewer daily vehicle trips than single-family homes, resulting in only a minimal net 

increase in traffic. He further reported that the existing stormwater retention area is functioning 

effectively and characterized the site as relatively straightforward to develop compared to other 

properties in the City. 

9a. Public Hearing to Rezone 9.6 Acres. Mayor McFarland opened the public hearing, 

regarding the rezoning and invited public comments.  The following individuals addressed 

Council:   

1. Julia Hawn, 2107 Beringer Lane, Murfreesboro, addressed the Council with questions 

regarding access and potential impacts of the proposed development. Her questions included 

whether vehicular access would be limited to Asher Fork Road rather than New Salem Highway; 

what buffering or landscaping would be provided between the development and Ashers Fork 

Road; and how existing drainage and standing water issues between the site and New Salem 

Highway — an area known for ponds and persistent water — would be managed, particularly 

during heavy rainfall.    



City Council Meeting Minutes 
January 8, 2026, 6:00 pm 

Page 9 of 15 

Despite sufficient time for input, no additional attendees expressed a desire to speak on 

the matter.  Consequently, Mayor McFarland concluded the public hearing.   

Mr. Blomeley explained that the protected stream along Highway 99 is Spence Creek, 

which is regulated under FEMA floodplain rules and state protections. Any development must 

comply with floodplain management requirements. The creek runs parallel to New Salem 

Highway and ultimately drains to the Stones River. 

Access to the proposed development would be via Ashers Fork Drive, with future 

connections planned to nearby subdivisions; direct access to New Salem Highway is unlikely due 

to Spence Creek. Land between the development and Ashers Fork Road would remain single-

family zoning, while townhomes would only be allowed in the rezoned area. Mayor McFarland 

also noted the site lies in a constrained sewer basin and that Spence Creek has already been 

extensively reviewed and protected during earlier Highway 99 improvements. 

9b. Ordinance 26-OZ-02 (First Reading). The ordinance titled, “ORDINANCE 26-OZ-02 

amending the Zoning Ordinance and the Zoning Map of the City of Murfreesboro, Tennessee, as 

heretofore amended and as now in force and effect, to rezone approximately 9.6 acres located 

north of Ashers Fork Drive from Single-Family Residential Six (RS-6) District to Single-Family 

Attached Suburban Townhome (RS-A Type 2) District; O’Brien Loyd Venture, applicant [2025-

422]” was offered for passage on first reading.   

Council Member Maxwell made a motion to approve Ordinance 26-OZ-02 on first reading.  

Vice Mayor Shacklett seconded the motion.  Upon roll call, the motion was passed by the 

following vote:   

Aye:     Jami Averwater, Madelyn Scales Harris, Austin Maxwell, Bill Shacklett, Kirt Wade, 

Shawn Wright, Shane McFarland   

Nay:     None   

10. Homeowner Rehabilitation and Affordable Housing Assistance Program Policies and 

Procedures Update (Community Development). Jessica Cline, Assistant Director of Community 

Development, presented a Council Communication and documents requesting Council approve 

updates to the Homeowner Rehabilitation and Affordable Housing Assistance Program Policies 

and Procedures. Ms. Cline stated the policies and procedures include procedural changes and 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
January 8, 2026, 6:00 pm 

Page 10 of 15 

maximum loan amounts under the Affordable Housing Assistance Program, along with updates 

to the compliance period for the loans. Additionally, the Homeowner Rehabilitation Program 

policy change aligns Community Development’s policies with Purchasing Department policies. 

Council Member Scales Harris made a motion to approve updates to the Homeowner 

Rehabilitation and Affordable Housing Assistance Program Policies and Procedures. Council 

Member Maxwell seconded the motion. Upon roll call, the motion was passed by the following 

vote:  

Aye: Jami Averwater, Madelyn Scales Harris, Austin Maxwell, Bill Shacklett, Kirt Wade, 

Shawn Wright, Shane McFarland  

Nay: None 

11. Patterson Park Security Camera Improvements (Information Technology). Matthew 

Jarratt, Information Technology Director, presented a Council Communication and documents 

requesting Council approve the purchase and sales agreement of security cameras for Patterson 

Park from Waypoint Business Solutions and LanLink Communications in the amount of $172,078. 

The purchase is funded through the FY25 Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) from the General Fund 

and does not require additional appropriations. 

Council Member Wade made a motion to approve the purchase and sales agreement. 

Council Member Averwater seconded the motion. Upon roll call, the motion was passed by the 

following vote:  

Aye: Jami Averwater, Madelyn Scales Harris, Austin Maxwell, Bill Shacklett, Kirt Wade, 

Shawn Wright, Shane McFarland  

Nay: None 

12. Contract with ForeverLawn for Miracle Field Playground Surface Renovation (Parks). 

Nate Williams, Executive Director of Recreation Services, presented a Council Communication 

and documents regarding a contract with ForeverLawn, LLC for to replace 234 square feet of 

playground surface underneath a high-usage play feature (zipline) and requested Council 

approve the contract in the amount of $79,161, funded through the CIP Budget.  



City Council Meeting Minutes 
January 8, 2026, 6:00 pm 

Page 11 of 15 

Council Member Maxwell made a motion to approve the contract with ForeverLawn, LLC.  

Vice Mayor Shacklett seconded the motion. Upon roll call, the motion was passed by the 

following vote:  

Aye: Jami Averwater, Madelyn Scales Harris, Austin Maxwell, Bill Shacklett, Kirt Wade, 

Shawn Wright, Shane McFarland  

Nay: None 

13. Contract with Murfreesboro Medical Clinic (Fire). Mark McCluskey, Chief of Fire 

Rescue, presented a Council Communication and documents regarding a contract with 

Murfreesboro Medical Clinic (MMC) to provide firefighters with physicals and cancer screenings 

required under the Barry Brady Act and requested Council approve the contract. The total annual 

cost, estimated as a maximum of $114,000, will be funded from the department’s Operating 

Budget.  

Council Member Maxwell made a motion to approve the contract with MMC.  Council 

Member Wright seconded the motion. Upon roll call, the motion was passed by the following 

vote:  

Aye: Jami Averwater, Madelyn Scales Harris, Austin Maxwell, Bill Shacklett, Kirt Wade, 

Shawn Wright, Shane McFarland  

Nay: None 

14. Purchase of Police Vehicles from Alan Jay Automotive (Police). Steve Jarrell, Deputy 

Police Chief, presented a Council Communication and documents requesting Council approve the 

purchase and sales agreement for the purchase of three new unmarked police vehicles from Alan 

Jay Automotive in the amount of $135,963, funded by the Drug Fund.  

Council Member Wade made a motion to approve the purchase and sales agreement with 

Alan Jay Automotive. Council Member Wright seconded the motion. Upon roll call, the motion 

was passed by the following vote:  

Aye: Jami Averwater, Madelyn Scales Harris, Austin Maxwell, Bill Shacklett, Kirt Wade, 

Shawn Wright, Shane McFarland  

Nay: None 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
January 8, 2026, 6:00 pm 

Page 12 of 15 

15. Purchase of Police Vehicles from Lonnie Cobb Ford (Police). Steve Jarrell, Deputy 

Police Chief, presented a Council Communication and documents requesting Council approve the 

purchase and sales agreement of 28 new police vehicles from Lonnie Cobb Ford, Inc. in the 

amount of $ 1,308,909.  $240,587 is funded by the Drug Fund and the remaining $1,068,322 is 

funded in the department’s FY26 Operating Budget. 

Council Member Wright made a motion to approve the purchase and sales agreement 

with Lonnie Cobb Ford, Inc. Council Member Maxwell seconded the motion. Upon roll call, the 

motion was passed by the following vote:  

Aye: Jami Averwater, Madelyn Scales Harris, Austin Maxwell, Bill Shacklett, Kirt Wade, 

Shawn Wright, Shane McFarland  

Nay: None 

16. Contract with Precision Delta Corporation (Police). Steve Jarrell, Deputy Police Chief, 

presented a Council Communication and documents regarding a contract with Precision Delta 

Corporation to purchase ammunition and requested Council approve the contract in the amount 

of $79,912 funded by the department’s FY26 Operating Budget.  

Council Member Wade made a motion to approve the contract with Precision Delta 

Corporation.  Council Member Maxwell seconded the motion. Upon roll call, the motion was 

passed by the following vote:  

Aye: Jami Averwater, Madelyn Scales Harris, Austin Maxwell, Bill Shacklett, Kirt Wade, 

Shawn Wright, Shane McFarland  

Nay: None 

Workshop Items 

17. Revised Donated Leave Policy, Employee Handbook No. 1044 (Human Resources). 

Randolph Wilkerson, Human Resources Director, presented a Council Communication and 

documents regarding revisions to the Donated Leave Policy, Employee Handbook No. 1044 and 

requested feedback from Council. Mr. Wilkerson stated the policy allows full-time employees to 

donate accrued, unused leave to coworkers with zero balances for serious illnesses, FMLA, etc. 

Updates include 1) additional eligible leave types (PTO, STARS and floating holidays), 2) 

expanding family coverage (loca parentis), 3) allowing use of leave outside of FMLA when 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
January 8, 2026, 6:00 pm 

Page 13 of 15 

medically approved, 4) clarifying payroll and usage rules, and 5) adding safeguards to prevent 

misuse. This item was presented for information only. A vote will be requested at a future 

meeting. 

Council Member Maxwell emphasized the need for safeguards to prevent donated leave 

from being used to curry favor within the chain of command. In response, Mr. Wilkerson and Mr. 

Gore explained that the policy prohibits the solicitation of donated leave, prohibits employees 

from donating leave upon separation from employment, maintains donor confidentiality, and 

permits department heads, with written approval, to coordinate leave donations on an 

employee’s behalf.  

18. November 2025 Dashboard (Finance). Erin Tucker, City Recorder/ Chief Financial 

Officer, presented a Council Communication and documents regarding November 2025 

Dashboard.  This update was for informational purposes only and no action was required.  

Board and Commission Appointments 

No board and commission appointments were presented.  

Licensing 

 19. Beer Permits (Finance). Erin Tucker, City Recorder/ Chief Financial Officer, presented 

a Council Communication regarding Beer Permits.  The following were offered for approval:   

 Regular Beer Permits  
 

Name of 
Applicant 

Name of 
Business Address Type of 

Permit 
Type of 

Business Reason 

Delicias 
Markets 

Delicias 
Markets 

810 NW Broad St 
Ste 216 

On-
Premises Restaurant New 

Location 
Ten Seconds 

Inc 
Ten Seconds 
Rice Noodle 

836 N Thompson 
Ln Ste 1B 

On-
Premises Restaurant Ownership 

Change 
 

 Applicants met requirements for the Beer Permits and were recommended for approval 

pending final building and codes inspections for the Regular Beer Permits.  

  Council Member Maxwell made a motion to approve the Beer Permits.  Council Member 

Averwater seconded the motion.  Upon roll call, the motion was passed by the following vote:  

 Aye:     Jami Averwater, Madelyn Scales Harris, Austin Maxwell, Bill Shacklett, Kirt Wade, 

Shawn Wright, Shane McFarland  

Nay:     None  

Payment of Statements 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
January 8, 2026, 6:00 pm 

Page 14 of 15 

 Payment of Statements (Finance). Erin Tucker, City Recorder/ Chief Financial Officer, 

stated there was one statement to consider. The invoice for legal services for $61,773.79 to be 

paid from the General Fund Legal FY26 Operating Budget. The City Attorney emailed Council 

regarding this invoice.  

  Council Member Wright made a motion to approve the payment of statements. Council 

Member Averwater seconded the motion.  Upon roll call, the motion was passed by the following 

vote:  

 Aye: Jami Averwater, Madelyn Scales Harris, Austin Maxwell, Bill Shacklett, Kirt Wade, 

Shawn Wright, Shane McFarland  

Nay: None  

Other Business 

 Selection Process for City Attorney and MOU Regarding Management of City Attorney 

(Administration). Darren Gore, City Manager, and Mayor McFarland announced Adam Tucker, 

City Attorney, will leave City employment in mid-February for another opportunity. Mr. Tucker’s 

departure necessitates initiation of a formal selection process to find and hire a new City Attorney. 

 In response, Mr. Gore presented a Council Communication and documents outlining a 

proposed timeline that includes finalizing the job description and a memorandum of 

understanding (MOU), advertising the position through Human Resources and professional 

municipal organizations, screening applicants with a minimum of ten years of municipal law 

experience and Tennessee licensure, and conducting executive team evaluations followed by 

Council interviews. The goal is to select a candidate by the end of March, with a new City Attorney 

anticipated to begin in May. 

 Because Mr. Tucker’s departure will occur before the process is complete, Mr. Gore 

advised that an Interim City Attorney be appointed at the February 12, 2026 Council Workshop. 

Mr. Gore also explained that the proposed MOU is intended to clarify collaboration and 

expectations between the City Council, City Manager, and City Attorney, while preserving City 

Charter authority and existing employment agreements. 

 Council discussed the importance of maintaining an objective, open, and fair hiring 

process and agreed that additional time was needed to review the proposed process and MOU. 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
January 8, 2026, 6:00 pm 

Page 15 of 15 

Council members expressed support but requested time to review the plan further, with formal 

approval expected at the January 22, 2026 meeting. 

Adjourn 

There being no further business, Mayor McFarland adjourned this meeting at 8:14 p.m. 

 
__________________________________________ 
SHANE MCFARLAND 
MAYOR 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
ERIN E. TUCKER 
CITY RECORDER/ CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
 
APPROVED BY COUNCIL:  ______________________ 
 

 



COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 
Meeting Date: 01/22/2026 

Item Title: Rezoning property along Ashers Fork Drive 
[Second Reading] 

Department: Planning  

Presented By: Matthew Blomeley, AICP, Assistant Planning Director 

Requested Council Action:  

   Ordinance  ☒ 
    Resolution  ☐ 
   Motion  ☐ 
   Direction  ☐ 
   Information  ☐ 

Summary 

Consider rezoning of approximately 9.6 acres located along the north side of Ashers 
Fork Drive south of New Salem Highway. 

Staff Recommendation  

Enact the ordinance establishing the requested zoning.   

The Planning Commission recommended approval of this rezoning request on 
November 5, 2025. 

Background Information 

O’Brien Loyd Venture presented to the City a zoning application [2025-422] for 
approximately 9.6 acres located along Ashers Fork Drive to be rezoned from RS-6 
(Single-Family Residential District 6) to RS-A, Type 2 (Single-Family Residential 
Attached District  --  Suburban Townhouse).  During its regular meeting on November 
5, 2025, the Planning Commission conducted a public hearing on this matter and 
then voted to recommend its approval. 

On January 8, 2026, Council held a public hearing and approved this matter on First 
Reading.   

Council Priorities Served 

Improve Economic Development 

The rezoning, if approved, will allow for the expansion of the Waites Creek Crossing 
residential development with a townhome component, which will provide additional 
opportunities for home ownership in the Cason Lane/New Salem Highway area.   

Attachments: 

Ordinance 26-OZ-02 



  

ORDINANCE 26-OZ-02 amending the Zoning Ordinance and the Zoning Map 
of the City of Murfreesboro, Tennessee, as heretofore amended and as now in 
force and effect, to rezone approximately 9.6 acres located north of Ashers Fork 
Drive from Single-Family Residential Six (RS-6) District to Single-Family 

applicant, [2025-422]. 
 

 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

MURFREESBORO, TENNESSEE, AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 SECTION 1. That the same having been heretofore recommended to the City 

Council by the City Planning Commission, the Zoning Ordinance and the Zoning Map 

of the City of Murfreesboro, Tennessee, as herein referred to, adopted and made a part 

of this Ordinance as heretofore amended and as now in force and effect, be and the 

same are hereby amended so as to rezone the territory indicated on the attached map. 

 SECTION 2. That, from and after the effective date hereof, the area depicted on 

the attached map shall be zoned and approved as Single-Family Attached Suburban 

Townhome (RS-A Type 2) District, as indicated thereon, and shall be subject to all the 

terms and provisions of said Ordinance applicable to such districts.  The City 

Planning Commission is hereby authorized and directed to make such changes in and 

additions to said Zoning Map as may be necessary to show thereon that said area of 

the City is zoned as indicated on the attached map.  This zoning change shall not 

affect the applicability of any overlay zone to the area. 

 SECTION 3. That this Ordinance shall take effect fifteen (15) days after its 

passage upon second and final reading, the public welfare and the welfare of the 

City requiring it.  

 
 
Passed:      
   Shane McFarland, Mayor 
1st reading    

2nd reading   

     
ATTEST:    APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
    
Erin Tucker  Adam F. Tucker 
City Recorder  City Attorney 
 
 
 
SEAL 





COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 
Meeting Date: 01/22/2026 

Item Title: Zoning for property along Old Salem Road 
[Second Reading] 

Department: Planning  

Presented By: Matthew Blomeley, AICP, Assistant Planning Director 

Requested Council Action:  

   Ordinance  ☒ 
    Resolution  ☐ 
   Motion  ☐ 
   Direction  ☐ 
   Information  ☐ 

Summary 

Consider zoning of approximately 27.9 acres located along the northwest side of Old 
Salem Road west of Veterans Parkway simultaneous with annexation.     

Staff Recommendation  

Enact the ordinance establishing the requested zoning.   

The Planning Commission recommended approval of the zoning request on November 
5, 2025. 

Background Information 

Patterson Company, LLC presented to the City a zoning application [2025-419] for 
approximately 27.9 acres located along the northwest side of Old Salem Road to be 
zoned PRD (Planned Residential District) simultaneous with annexation. During its 
regular meeting on November 5, 2025, the Planning Commission conducted a public 
hearing on this matter and then voted to recommend its approval. 

On January 8, 2026, Council held a public hearing and approved this matter on First 
Reading.   

Council Priorities Served 

    Improve Economic Development 

This rezoning will enable the development of a subdivision with both single-family 
residential detached and single-family residential attached dwellings, increasing 
opportunities for homeownership in the desirable New Salem Highway corridor.   

Attachments: 

Ordinance 26-OZ-01 



ORDINANCE 26-OZ-01 amending the Zoning Ordinance and the Zoning Map 
of the City of Murfreesboro, Tennessee, as heretofore amended and as now in 
force and effect to zone approximately 27.9 acres along Old Salem Road as 
Planned Residential Development (PRD) District (Old Salem PRD) 
simultaneous with annexation; Patterson Company, LLC, applicant(s) [2025-
419]. 
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

MURFREESBORO, TENNESSEE, AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 SECTION 1. That the same having been heretofore recommended to the City 

Council by the City Planning Commission, the Zoning Ordinance and the Zoning Map 

of the City of Murfreesboro, Tennessee, as herein referred to, adopted and made a part 

of this Ordinance as heretofore amended and as now in force and effect, be and the 

same are hereby amended so as to zone the territory indicated on the attached map. 

 SECTION 2. That from and after the effective date hereof the area depicted on 

the attached map be zoned and approved Planned Residential Development (PRD) 

District, as indicated thereon, and shall be subject to all the terms and provisions of 

said Ordinance applicable to such districts.  The City Planning Commission is hereby 

authorized and directed to make such changes in and additions to said Zoning Map as 

may be necessary to show thereon that said area of the City is zoned as indicated on 

the attached map.  This zoning change shall not affect the applicability of any 

overlay zone to the area. 

 SECTION 3. That this Ordinance shall take effect fifteen (15) days after its 

passage upon second and final reading, the public welfare and the welfare of the 

City requiring it.  

 
 
Passed:      
   Shane McFarland, Mayor 
1st reading    

2nd reading   

    
ATTEST:    APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
    
Erin Tucker   Adam F. Tucker 
City Recorder  City Attorney 
 
 
 
 
SEAL 
 



CH

CH

PUD

PUD

PUD

RS-15RS-12



 

 

COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 
Meeting Date:   01/22/2026 

Item Title: Sewer Allocation Variance- Memorial Boulevard – Seven Brew 

Department: Planning  

Presented by: Brad Barbee, Principal Planner 

Requested Council Action:  
   Ordinance  ☐ 
    Resolution  ☐ 
   Motion  ☒ 
   Direction  ☐ 
   Information  ☐ 

Summary 

Consider a proposed development request for additional density above the sewer 
allocation ordinance’s zoning allowance. 

Staff Recommendation 

Approve the variance request allowing higher single-family unit equivalent density (sfu) 
by approximately 5.4 sfu’s for a proposed coffee restaurant.             

Background Information  

The Planning Department has conducted due-diligence and pre-application meetings 
regarding a proposed coffee restaurant located along the east side of Memorial 
Boulevard several lots to the south of the City’s fire station.  The property in question 
is zoned Commercial Highway (CH), which only allows 2.5 single-family unit equivalents 
(sfu) per acre.  

The lot in question is ≈0.68 acres in size, allowing for only 1.7 sfu. The anticipated 
usage, based on the proposed coffee restaurant use, is approximately 7.08 sfu; 
therefore, the proposed development requires a variance from the allowable estimated 
sewer flow. MWRD finds that the system can handle the increased flow from this 
development. Staff recommends the requested variance is justified by the job creation 
and tax revenue.   

Council Priorities Served 

Improve economic development 

The proposed commercial development will create jobs within the community and 
provide the City and MWRD additional revenue. 

Concurrence  

MWRD concurs with the request based on sewer system capacity and indicates that the 
sanitary sewer collection system can convey the estimated sewer flows resulting from 
this development and can accommodate the request to vary from the density 
requirements. MWRD advises that variance requests be diligently considered to ensure 



 

2 
 

the benefit to the City is commensurate with the sewer capacity committed to the 
proposed development requesting a variance.   

Fiscal Impact  

The development will generate tax and fee revenue as well as pay one-time 
development fees. 

Attachments 

1. Request letter from applicant 

2. Concept site plan and miscellaneous exhibits from the applicant 

3. Memo from MWRD 



 

 

Genu ine  Ingen u ityGenu ine  Ingen u ityGenu ine  Ingen u ityGenu ine  Ingen u ity    

222 S econd Avenue S outh  

S uite 14 0 0  

Nashville, TN 37201  

615 .770 .810 0  

Gresham S m ith.com  
 

January 12, 20 26  

 

 

 

Mr. Ben Newm an  

Director of Land Management & Planning  

City of Murfreesboro  

111 West Vine Street  

Murfreesboro, TN  

 

S ubject: Reques t for S anitary S ewer Variance  

  Propos ed 7 Brew Coffee S hop  

  2220  Mem orial Boulevard  

  Murfre esboro, TN 3713 0  

  Gresham  S m ith Project No. 49 0 48 .0 0   

  

 

Dear Mr. Newman : 

 

This  le t ter is  in reference to the above project , located at  2220  Mem orial Boulevard . W e  

would like to reques t a  variance to allow 7 Brew to connec t to the public water and  

s ewer sys tem . This  parcel is  not located within any special s ewer as ses sm ent dis trict. 

City code calculates  the allowed S FUs  by the s ize of the property. Our lot is  0 .68  acres  

which allows  1.7 S FUs . 7 Brew has  an exis t ing facility on N. Thom pson Lane that is  

us ing th e equivalent of 7.0 8  S FUs .  

 

As  a drive-through coffee shop, a subs tantial port ion of 7 Brew’s  water usage is  

incorporat ed into beverages  that are sold to cus tom ers  and le ave the s ite  in cups , rather 

than being dis charged into th e s anitary s ewer sys tem . As  a result , th e actual s ewer 

im pact is  m aterially lower than what would typic ally be as s ociated with com parable 

water usage for other com m ercial uses . Based on this  operat ional charact eris t ic , we are 

reques ting the city approve the difference and allow an addit ional 5 .4  S FUs  for this  

developm ent .  

 

Pleas e contact m e at (615 ) 770 -8 20 4  if you have any ques tions . 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Ben Newman  
January 12, 20 26  

Page | 2  

 

S incerely, 

 

 

 

 

Joe Johns ton  

Senior Associate  

Land Planning and Des ign S ervices  

 

Attachm ents : - Site Utility Plan  

 

 

 

Copy  Matthew Blom eley, Ass is tant Planning Director 

Valeria S m ith, W ater Resources  

Michelle Pinks ton, W ater Resources   

Anita Heck, W ater Resources  

Bob Gage, W ho Brew  

Ana Teco, W ho Brew    

  

 



M
E

M
O

R
IA

L
 B

O
U

L
E

V
A

R
D

(U
S

 2
3
1
 S

R
 1

0
)

1
0
3
' R

.O
.W

. 
W

ID
T

H

18
'' S

T
18

'' S
T

18
'' S

T
18

'' S
T

18
'' S

T
18

'' S
T

18
'' S

T
18

'' S
T

15
'' S

T
15

'' S
T

15
'' S

T
15

'' S
T

15
'' S

T
15

'' S
T

15
'' S

T
15

'' S
T

15
'' S

T
18

'' S
T

18
'' S

T
18

'' S
T

18
'' S

T
18

'' S
T

18
'' S

T
18

'' S
T

18
'' S

T
18

'' S
T

18
'' S

T
18

'' S
T

BM-504
TOP OF HYDRANT
N:564862.15
E:1855143.84
EL:609.23

BM-505
TOP OF HYDRANT
N:564637.73
E:1855109.36
EL:609.22

G

E

W
W

W
W

TC:609.60
IE (N):605.67 18" RCP
IE (S):605.66 18" RCP

TC:609.57
IE (N):605.64 15" RCP
IE (S):605.51 18" RCP

TC:610.30
IE (N):606.40 18" RCP
IE (S):606.39 18" RCP

S

TC:604.93
IE (NE):592.71 8" PVC

IE (S):592.71 8" PVC
IE (W):592.69 8" PVC

SV

6" PVC
IE:606.79

WV

DY

H

6" PVC
IE:605.80

S

TC:608.43
IE (E):593.96 8" PVC
IE (W):593.93 8" PVC

12" CPP
IE:607.30

TC:609.58
IE (WEIR OPENING):607.44 0.75'X095'

IE (SE):607.42 12" CPP

DY

H

S TC:606.30
IE (N):601.29 8" PVC
IE (W):592.27 8" PVC
IE (N):592.37 8" PVC
IE (S):592.24 8" PVC
IE (E):592.18 8" PVC

S

TC:609.67
IE:594.27 8" PVC

F
O

F
O

F
O

F
O

8'' SAN 8'' SAN 8'' SAN 8'' SAN 8'' SAN 8'' SAN 8'' SAN 8'' SAN 8'' SAN 8'' SAN 8'' SAN 8'' SAN 8'' SAN 8'' SAN 8'' SAN 8'' SAN

8'
' S

AN

8'
' S

AN

8'
' S

AN

8'
' S

AN

8'
' S

AN

8'
' S

AN

8'
' S

A
N

8'
' S

A
N

8'
' S

A
N

8'
' S

A
N

8'
' S

A
N

8'
' S

A
N

8'
' S

A
N

8'
' S

A
N

8'
'S

A
N

8'
' S

A
N

8'
' S

A
N

8'
' S

A
N

8'
' S

A
N

8'
' S

A
N

8'
' S

A
N

UG-E

UG-E

UG-E

UG-E

UG-E

UG-E

UG-EOH-E
OH-E

OH-E
OH-E

OH-E
OH-E

OH-E
OH-E

OH-E
OH-E

OH-E
OH-E

O
H

-E
O

H
-E

O
H

-E
O

H
-E

O
H

-E
O

H
-E

O
H

-E
O

H
-E

O
H

-E
O

H
-E

O
H

-E
O

H
-E

O
H

-E
O

H
-E

O
H

-E

O
H

-E
O

H
-E

O
H

-E
O

H
-E

O
H

-E
O

H
-E

O
H

-E
O

H
-E

O
H

-E

O
H

-E

O
H

-E

O
H

-E

O
H

-E

OH-E

OH-E

OH-E

OH-E

S

TC:606.08
IE (SW):592.31 8" PVC
IE (E):592.30 8" PVC

8'
'W

8'
' W

8'
'W

8'
'W

20' WATER LINEEASEMENT

PROPOSED ONE-STORY7 BREW COFFEE535 S.F.FFE = 608.85

1'' W

1'' W
1'' W

1''W

LANE 1

PA
SS

TH
RU

PA
SS

TH
RU

STO
P

STO
P

UG-E
UG-E

UG-E

G
G

G
G

G

BP

PASS
THRU

PASS
THRU

COOLER BUILDING282 S.F.FFE = 608.85

S
T

S
T

STRUCTURE TABLE

STRUCTURE

CO 1

CO 2

CO 3

CO 4

CO 5

CO 6

CO 7

CO 8

CO 9

CO 10

SS-A1

TYPE

CO

CO

CO

CO

CO

CO

CO

CO

CO

CO

WYE

RIM

607.91

608.64

608.64

608.66

608.70

608.72

608.74

608.31

608.71

608.73

607.75

PIPE IN : I.E.

CO 2 - CO 1 - 4" PVC (NW) : 599.00

CO 3 - CO 2 - 4" PVC (NW) : 602.96
CO 8 - CO 2 - 4" PVC (W) : 602.96

GT - 4" PVC (NW) : 603.65

CO 5 - CO 4 - 4" PVC (NW) : 603.65

CO 6 - CO 5 - 4" PVC (W) : 604.52

CO 7 - CO 6 - 4" PVC (W) : 604.71

CO 9 - CO 8 - 4" PVC (NW) : 603.20

CO 10 - CO 9 - 4" PVC (W) : 604.73

CO 1 - SS-A1 - 4" PVC (N) : 593.22

PIPE OUT : I.E.

CO 1 - SS-A1 - 4" PVC (S) : 599.00

CO 2 - CO 1 - 4" PVC (SE) : 602.96

CO 3 - CO 2 - 4" PVC (SE) : 603.65

GT - 4" PVC (SE) : 603.65

CO 5 - CO 4 - 4" PVC (SE) : 604.52

CO 6 - CO 5 - 4" PVC (E) : 604.71

CO 7 - CO 6 - 4" PVC (E) : 604.85

CO 8 - CO 2 - 4" PVC (E) : 603.20

CO 9 - CO 8 - 4" PVC (SE) : 604.73

CO 10 - CO 9 - 4" PVC (E) : 604.85

SANITARY SEWER Pipe Table

NAME

CO 7 - CO 6

CO 6 - CO 5

CO 5 - CO 4

GT

CO 3 - CO 2

CO 2 - CO 1

CO 1 - SS-A1

CO 10 - CO 9

CO 9 - CO 8

CO 8 - CO 2

SIZE

4"

4"

4"

4"

4"

4"

4"

4"

4"

4"

LENGTH

1.40'

1.91'

8.67'

4.84'

6.92'

39.59'

9.34'

1.40'

17.60'

2.83'

SLOPE

10.00%

10.00%

10.00%

0.00%

10.00%

10.00%

61.90%

8.66%

8.66%

8.66%

MATERIAL

PVC

PVC

PVC

PVC

PVC

PVC

PVC

PVC

PVC

PVC

------- ------- -------

SANITARY SEWER

-------

0

GRAPHIC SCALE

20' 20' 40'

NORTH

Revision
No. Date Description

C500
SITE UTILITY PLAN

7 
BR

EW
 - 

M
U

R
FR

EE
SB

O
R

O

22
20

 M
EM

O
R

IA
L 

BL
VD

.
M

U
R

FR
EE

SB
O

R
O

, T
N

 3
71

29

GreshamSmith.com

C
:\U

se
rs

\d
en

ze
ls

\D
C

\A
C

C
D

oc
s\

G
re

sh
am

 S
m

ith
\4

90
48

.0
9 

7 
B

re
w

 M
ur

fre
es

bo
ro

 R
25

\P
ro

je
ct

 F
ile

s\
C

3D
\S

he
et

s\
49

04
8.

09
_C

50
0.

dw
g 

- S
ar

ah
 D

en
ze

l -
 1

/1
2/

20
26

 4
:3

8:
06

 P
M

This Line Is 3 Inches When Printed Full Size

49048.09
01/12/2025

222 Second Avenue South
Suite 1400

Nashville, TN  37201

615.770.8100

LEGEND
PROPERTY LINE

WATER LINE (SIZE VARIES)

SANITARY SEWER

UNDERGROUND ELECTRIC

BUILDING LINE

STORM SEWER

W W

SAN

UG-E

ROOF DRAIN STORM SEWERST ST

NATURAL GASG G

SANITARY SEWER EASEMENT

EXISTING WATER METER

WATER VALVE & BOX

EXISTING SANITARY MANHOLES

SANITARY CLEANOUT

BACKFLOW PREVENTER

W

BF

MURFREESBORO WATER AND SEWER NOTES:

1. COMPLETE SPECIFICATIONS FOR THE WATER LINES, “WATER LINE SPECIFICATIONS AND DRAWINGS”, NOVEMBER 2022 ED., ARE ON FILE AT THE

MURFREESBORO WATER RESOURCES DEPARTMENT ENGINEERING ANNEX AND CAN ALSO BE FOUND ONLINE AT

HTTPS://WWW.MURFREESBOROTN.GOV/DOCUMENTCENTER/VIEW/26345/2022-FINAL-WATER-SPECIFICATIONS-AND-DETAILS

2. COMPLETE SPECIFICATIONS FOR THE SEWER LINES, “SEWER LINE SPECIFICATIONS AND DRAWINGS”, NOVEMBER 2022 ED., ARE ON FILE AT THE

MURFREESBORO WATER RESOURCES DEPARTMENT ENGINEERING ANNEX AND CAN ALSO BE FOUND ONLINE AT

HTTPS://WWW.MURFREESBOROTN.GOV/DOCUMENTCENTER/VIEW/26344/2022-FINAL-SEWER-SPECIFICATIONS-AND-DETAILS

3. (WATER / SEWER) CONSTRUCTION MUST BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL MWRD SPECIFICATIONS AND DRAWINGS.

4. CONCERNING WATER LINE CONSTRUCTION, RESTRAINTS SUCH AS RODS OR KICKERS SHALL BE INSTALLED AT ANY CHANGE IN DIRECTION WHERE FITTINGS

ARE REQUIRED, AT ALL DEAD-ENDS, AND AT ANY LOCATION AS DIRECTED BY THE WATER RESOURCES DEPARTMENT.

5. CONTRACTOR MUST HAVE A STATE OF TENNESSEE LICENSE, MUNICIPAL UTILITY (MU) CLASSIFICATION, TO PERFORM WORK.

6. ALL WATER MAIN LINE TAPS WILL BE MADE BY THE MURFREESBORO WATER RESOURCES DEPARTMENT.

7. UNDER THE CURRENT ADOPTED PLUMBING CODE, THE CITY OF MURFREESBORO REQUIRES THE MINIMUM FLOOR ELEVATION (M.F.E.) TO BE SET AT OR

ABOVE THE TOP OF CASTING ELEVATION OF THE NEAREST MANHOLE THAT IS UPSTREAM OF THE SEWER SERVICE CONNECTION. AS AN ALTERNATIVE, THE

HOMEOWNER SHALL INSTALL A BACKWATER VALVE PER THE PLUMBING CODE AND EXECUTE AND RECORD A RELEASE OF INDEMNIFICATION AGAINST THE

CITY OF MURFREESBORO WITH REGARDS TO THE SANITARY SEWER CONNECTION. THE BUILDER AND/OR HOMEOWNER SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR

COMPLIANCE WITH THIS REQUIREMENT.

8. TRENCH CHECK DAMS, AS CALLED OUT IN THE MWRD SPECIFICATIONS, ARE TO BE INSTALLED AT THE DISCRETION OF THE WATER RESOURCES

DEPARTMENT.

9. THE EXISTING SEWER MAINS AND/OR MANHOLES MUST BE (TESTED / TELEVISED) BEFORE AND AFTER CONSTRUCTION. SHOULD THE SEWER NOT BE

(TESTED / TELEVISED) PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION ANY DEFECTS FOUND AFTER CONSTRUCTION WILL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR TO

REPAIR AT HIS OR HER EXPENSE.

10. ALL PROPOSED MANHOLES MUST BE WRAPPED IN A CONSEAL, OR AN APPROVED EQUAL, 12” MINIMUM WATER AND SOIL BARRIER WRAP AT EACH MANHOLE

SECTION JOINT AND AT ANY OTHER MANHOLE COMPONENT AS DIRECTED BY MWRD.

11. NO MORE THAN 25 PERCENT OF THE DOLLAR AMOUNT OF THE CONTRACT MAY BE AWARDED TO SUBCONTRACTORS

12. A MAXIMUM OF 2 – 6” (6 IN.) ADJUSTMENT RINGS WILL BE ALLOWED PER ANY EXISTING OR PROPOSED MANHOLES ASSOCIATED WITH THIS INSTALLATION. IF

ANY MANHOLE REQUIRES ADJUSTMENT BEYOND THE 2 – 6” ADJUSTMENT RINGS ALLOWED THEN THE CONTRACTOR MUST REMOVE, ADJUST, OR ADD

BARREL SECTIONS TO THE MANHOLE TO GET IT TO GRADE AT HIS OR HER OWN EXPENSE.

13. ALL NEWLY CONSTRUCTED SANITARY SEWER MAINS, REHABILITATED SANITARY SEWER LATERALS AND MAINS, EXISTING SANITARY SEWER MAINS THAT

INTERSECT UNDER OR OVER A NEWLY CONSTRUCTED OR REMOVED UTILITY, OR ANY SEWER MAIN THAT HAS BEEN PHYSICALLY ALTERED IN ANY WAY MUST

BE FULLY TELEVISED VIA AN IN-LINE CLOSED CIRCUIT TELEVISION (CCTV) POST CONSTRUCTION SURVEY FULLY COMPLIANT WITH THE GUIDELINES SET

FORTH BY THE NORTH AMERICAN SANITARY SEWER COMPANY’S (NASSCO) PIPELINE ASSESSMENT CERTIFICATION PROGRAM (PACP) AT THE EXPENSE OF

THE CONTACTOR.

TABLES LEGEND:

CO EXTERIOR SERVICE CLEAN OUT DETAIL. DETAIL 02/C904

GT SCHIER GB-75 125-GALLON GREASE TRAP WITH T24-GI MANHOLE COVER.

KEYNOTE LEGEND:

TIE INTO EXISTING GAS MAIN. COORDINATE WITH ATMOS ENERGY. CONTRACTOR TO FIELD LOCATE MAIN
PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.

TIE UNDERGROUND ELECTRIC TO EXISTING POWER POLE. COORDINATE WITH MIDDLE TENNESSEE 
ELECTRIC FOR SINGLE PHASE POWER.

MRWD TO TAP 1" WATER LINE TO THE EXISTING 58" WATER METER. COORDINATE WITH MWRD.

MRWD TO STUB OUT 1" IRRITATION LINE WITH BFP FROM THE EXISTING 58" METER. COORDINATE WITH MWRD

SCHIER GB-75 125-GALLON GREASE TRAP WITH T24-GI MANHOLE COVER
RIM: AT GRADE
INV IN: 603.65' ±
INV OUT: 603.65' ±

SS-A1: TIE 4" SANITARY SERVICE TO EXISTING LATERAL AT INV: APPROX. 593.22. CONTRACTOR TO VERIFY
LOCATION AND DEPTH PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. COORDINATE WITH MWRD.

CITY OF MURFREESBORO APPROVED CONTRACTOR TO MAKE THE TAP INTO EXISTING 8" SANITARY MAIN.
COORINDATE WITH MWRD.

20' WATER LINE EASEMENT. COORDINATE WITH MWRD.

8" PUBLIC WATER MAIN TO CONNECT TO THE EXISTING 8" MAIN ON THE ADJACENT LOT. COORDINATE WITH
MWRD.

(1) 8" GATE VALVE AND BOX, (1) 8"X3" REDUCER, (1) 2" BLOW-OFF, AND (1) 3" PLUG. COORDINATE WITH MRWD.

LIGHT POLE PER RED LEONARD PHOTOMETRICS DESIGN. REFER TO STRUCTURAL PLANS FOR LIGHT POLE
BASE DETAIL.

TYPICAL UTILITY LINE TRENCH - PAVED AREAS (TYP.) DETAIL 03/C902

TYPICAL UTILITY LINE TRENCH - UNPAVED AREAS (TYP.) DETAIL 04/C902

PROPOSED 40' SEWER EASEMENT.

1

2

3

4

5

6

6

7

7

5

2

1

4

3

8

9

8

9

10

WATER PLUG

UTILITY CONTACTS:

ELECTRIC
MIDDLE TENNESSEE ELECTRIC
PHONE: 877-777-9020

GAS
ATMOS ENERGY
PHONE: 888-286-6700

WATER
MURFREESBORO WATER RESOURCES DEPARTMENT
ANITA HECK
PHONE: 615-848-3200
EMAIL: AHECK@MURFREESBOROTN.GOV

SEWER
MURFREESBORO WATER RESOURCES DEPARTMENT
ANITA HECK
PHONE: 615-848-3200
EMAIL: AHECK@MURFREESBOROTN.GOV

10

X-ING SCHEDULE:

X-ING 1:
TOP UTILITY: 8" STORM
INV: 605.56 ±
BOTTOM UTILITY: 4" SAN
T/P: 602.90' ±
INV: 601.76' ±

X-ING 2:
TOP UTILITY: 8" STORM
INV: 605.75' ±
BOTTOM UTILITY: 8" SAN
T/P: 594.02' ±
INV: 593.35' ±

X-ING 3:
TOP UTILITY: 8" STORM
INV: 605.47' ±
BOTTOM UTILITY: 8" SAN
T/P: 593.67' ±
INV: 593.00' ±

X-ING 1

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

X-ING 3
X-ING 2

12

13

13

13

1212

14

14

14

**

** CONTRACTOR TO INSTALL 45° BEND AT TAP







 
 

. . . creating a better quality of life 

Water Resources Department 
316 Robert Rose Drive * P.O. Box 1477 * Murfreesboro, TN 37133-1477 * Office: 615 890 0862 * Fax: 615 896 4259 

TTY 615 848 3214   *   www.murfreesborotn.gov 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
DATE:  January 14, 2026 
 
TO:  Ben Newman 
 
FROM:  Valerie Smith 
 
SUBJECT: 7 Brew – 2220 Memorial Blvd 
  Sewer Allocation Ordinance (SAO) 
  Variance Request - Revised 
 

 
Sewer System Capacity  
The sanitary sewer collection system can convey the estimated sewer flows resulting from this 
development and its request to vary from the density requirements associated with its current 
land use zoning.  
 
Effects within Basin by Providing Variance to Sewer Allocation 
Per the most recent sewer connection model of the system and per the 2024 Sewer Allocation 
report, this Basin MF08 currently has capacity for 3,574 connections at the downstream end of the 
basin. By committing sewer service to this development, Basin 08’s sewer connection capacity will 
be reduced by a single-family unit equivalent of 7.08 connections, resulting in 3,567 available 
connections for future developments.  Per the existing Commercial Highway (CH) zoning (allotted 
2.5 sfu/acre) and acreage, .68 acres, the property is allowed 1.7 sfu’s. Therefore, the development 
is requesting a variance of 5.4 sfu’s. 
 
Currently, staff has determined there is capacity downstream of the site. This facility has a larger 
sewer discharge than the 400 gpd per connection average the model is based upon. The Memorial 
Blvd corridor is a very attractive area within the City. This area upstream of the VA Pump Station at 
the Publix shopping center has limited remaining capacity and until improvements are made to 
this station to regain sewer capacity or until the Cherry Lane corridor is constructed, which will 
redirect some sewer flows from this VA Pump Station, staff has requested that developments be 
limited to 4 sfu’s/acre.  Affording this development over the 4 sfu’s will further limit development 
on other properties within the same area. Therefore, Water Resources staff advises variance 
requests to be diligently considered to ensure the benefit to the City is commensurate with the 
sewer capacity committed to any proposed development requesting a variance to the sewer 
allocation ordinance. 



 COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 

Meeting Date:   01/22/2026 

Item Title: Resolution 26-R-07 Corebridge (VALIC) Plan Services 

Agreement 

Department: Human Resources 

Presented by: Randolph Wilkerson, HR Director 

Requested Council Action:  

   Ordinance  ☐ 

    Resolution  ☒ 

   Motion  ☐ 

   Direction  ☐ 

   Information  ☐ 

Summary 

Consider adoption of Resolution 26-R-07 to authorize individuals in designated job 

titles to act on behalf of the City of Murfreesboro’s 401(a) and 457(b) defined 

contribution plans under the Corebridge (VALIC) Plan Services Agreement. 

Staff Recommendation 

Approve Resolution 26-R-07, authorizing individuals in designated job titles to act on 

behalf of the City of Murfreesboro’s 401(a) and 457(b) defined contribution plans 

under the Corebridge (VALIC) Plan Services Agreement. 

Background Information  

Following a competitive RFP process and a comprehensive evaluation of qualified 

respondents, staff selected Corebridge Financial, Inc. (VALIC) to provide 

recordkeeping and administrative services for the City’s 401(a) and 457(b) defined 

contribution plans. 

Under the Corebridge Plan Services Agreement, the City must formally authorize 

individuals in certain job titles to act on behalf of the plans. Resolution 26-R-07 

provides this authorization, and Attachment A identifies the designated positions. 

Council Priorities Served 

Establish a strong City brand. 

Partnering with Corebridge strengthens the City’s employee benefits offering through 

improved service quality, educational and wellness tools, and competitive investment 

options, supporting recruitment, retention, and overall employee satisfaction. 

Fiscal Impact  

There is no fiscal impact on the City, as all expenses associated with this agreement 

are paid by plan participants (employees). 

Attachments 

1. Resolution 26-R-07 

2. Attachment  A: List of Designated Positions 



 

RESOLUTION 26-R-07 authorizing those individuals with the job 
titles set forth herein to act on behalf of the City of Murfreesboro 457(b) 
Plan and City of Murfreesboro 401(a) Plan. 

 
WHEREAS, City of Murfreesboro (hereinafter, the “Employer”) established 

City of Murfreesboro 457(b) Plan and City of Murfreesboro 401(a) Plan 

(hereinafter, the “Plans”) for the benefit of its employees and their beneficiaries; 

WHEREAS, the Employer is establishing or has established a Custodial 

account for which VALIC Trust Company, Inc. serves as Custodian; and 

WHEREAS, the Employer desires to authorize individuals holding 

certain positions with the Employer to act on behalf of the Plans. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF MURFREESBORO, TENNESSEE AS FOLLOWS: 

 
SECTION 1.  The City of Murfreesboro hereby invests the fullest authority 

in any individual (each an “Incumbent”) holding a position with the Employer 

identified below according to the title of the position (each a “Designated Position”) 

for the duration of the period (the “Incumbency Period”) in which such Incumbent 

holds the Designated Position.  

SECTION 2.  That each Incumbent is empowered during said Incumbent’s 

Incumbency Period to execute any documents that VALIC Trust Company, Inc. 

requires relevant to the opening or maintaining of an account for the Plans; and  

SECTION 3.  That each Incumbent is empowered during said Incumbent’s  

Incumbency Period to take any and all action deemed by any Incumbent to be 

proper in connection with said account, including, but not limited to, being 

empowered to give written instructions to VALIC Trust Company, Inc. with 

respect to account transactions.   

SECTION 4.  The Designated Positions invested with the authority set 

forth in Sections 1, 2, and 3 of this Resolution are:  

 Mayor  

 City Recorder & Treasurer 

 City Manager 

 Human Resources Director 

 Assistant Human Resources Director 

SECTION 5.  The City of Murfreesboro grants the responsibility and 

authority to take whatever actions and to execute whatever instruments that may 

be necessary or convenient for the day-to-day transactions and Plan operations to 

the person or persons in the positions identified below: 

 



 

 Benefits Administrator 

 Human Resources Generalist 

 Payroll Supervisor 

 Director of Finance 

SECTION 6.  Attachment A to this Resolution sets forth the names and 

signatures of the individuals holding the Designated Positions authorized to act 

under Sections 1, 2, and 3 herein and the employees authorized to act under Section 

5 herein.  Furthermore, Attachment A may be revised by the City Recorder or her/his 

designee as needed when the individual holding the positions set forth herein changes 

without need for further Council approval. 

SECTION 7.  This Resolution shall be effective immediately upon its passage 

and adoption, the public welfare and the welfare of the City requiring it.   

 

 
Passed:      
   Shane McFarland, Mayor 
    
ATTEST:    APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
    
Erin Tucker  Adam F. Tucker 
City Recorder  City Attorney 
 



ATTACHMENT A 
TO 

RESOLUTION 26-R-07 AUTHORIZING INDIVIDUALS TO ACT ON BEHALF OF 
CITY OF MURFREESBORO 457(b) PLAN and  

CITY OF MURFREESBORO 401(a) PLAN 
 

LIST OF DESIGNATED POSITIONS 
 

*For future employee changes, please include name of Current Incumbent or 
Employee and obtain their signature and City Recorder approval. 

 

DESIGNATED POSITION 
AUTHORIZED TO ACT 

UNDER SECTIONS 1, 2, & 3 
OF RESOLUTION 26-R-07 

 CURRENT 
INCUMBENT 

NAME* 

CURRENT 
INCUMBENT 
SIGNATURE 

Mayor Shane McFarland  

City Recorder & Treasurer Erin Tucker  

City Manager Darren Gore  

Human Resources Director  Randolph Wilkerson  

Assistant Human Resources 
Director Rhonda Darnell  

POSITION AUTHORIZED TO 
ACT UNDER SECTION 5 OF 

RESOLUTION 26-R-07 
CURRENT 

EMPLOYEE NAME* 
CURRENT 

EMPLOYEE 
SIGNATURE 

Benefits Administrator Karen Heyduck  

Human Resources Generalist George Neal Killian  

Payroll Supervisor Rachel Blum  

Director of Finance Amanda DeRosia  

 
Approved by City Recorder: ________________________ 
 
Date:____________________________ 



 

April 2023 

COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 

Meeting Date: 01/22/2026 

Item Title: Selection Process for City Attorney and adoption of a Legal 

Department Operational Service Delivery Policy  

Department: Administration 

Presented by: Darren Gore, City Manager 

Requested Council Action:  

   Ordinance  ☐ 

    Resolution  ☒ 

   Motion  ☒ 

   Direction  ☐ 

    Information  ☐ 

Summary  

Consider a proposed process to select the next City Attorney and consider a 

resolution adopting a Legal Department Operational Service Delivery Policy. 

Recommendation  

Approve the City Attorney selection process and adopt resolution 26-R-08. 

Background Information  

Staff has prepared a proposed selection process in the attached exhibit that identifies 

dates and activities necessary to select and hire the next City Attorney by the end of 

March 2026.  Staff would like the council’s approval on the approach to ensure we are 

as timely and effective as possible to replace this charter appointed position. 

Additionally, the terms of a previously presented Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 

presented to the council on January 8th has been revised in the form a policy.  The 

policy is consistent with the MOU approach in setting expectations involving the 

functions of the City Attorney regarding day-to-day supervisory responsibilities, matter 

management requirements involving other city departments, as well as affording the 

City Manager monitoring and evaluation of service delivery and performance review of 

the Legal Department. The policy details the operational service delivery expectations 

of the Legal Department and is intended to ensure priorities within the Legal 

Department are aligned with the city’s operational goals and objectives.  

Please note that the policy does not affect or impact: 

• The employment agreement of the City Attorney. 

• The city charter-based authority or any language relating to duties of the City 

Attorney. 

A resolution has been prepared for the council to adopt the referenced policy, and the 

implementation of the policy is included in the revised City Attorney job description’s 

essential functions.   



 

2 

 

Council Priorities Served 

Establish strong City brand 

Setting clear management expectations and collaboration requirements will improve 

performance and efficiency between the Legal Department and other city departments.  

Fiscal Impact 

None 

Attachments  

1. Proposed City Attorney Selection Process 

2. Resolution 26-R-08 adopting the Legal Department Operational Service Delivery 

Policy 

3. City Attorney Job Description 



Finalize City Attorney Job 
Description and Adoption of 
Legal Dept. Operational Service 
Delivery Policy

On-line Job Advertisement
• Murfreesboro Job Portal
• TN Municipal Attorneys Assoc.
• MTAS

Pre-screening
• Experience
• TN Licensure
• TCA Knowledge
• Reference Check

Executive Team Assessment
• Incorporate Legal Team Questions
• 2 Panel Evaluation Assessment for City 

Council
• Leadership Fit
• Legal Reasoning
• Situational Judgment Scenarios

City Council Interview
• Finalist Selection
• Contract Approval
• MOU with City Manager

City Attorney 
Selection Process 

January 9-22, 2026 January 23 - February 6, 2026 February 7 - 20, 2026

February 21 - 
March 13, 2026 March 14 - 27, 2026

Appoint Interim 
City Attorney

February 12, 2026



RESOLUTION 26-R-08 adopting the City of Murfreesboro Legal 
Department Operational Service Delivery Policy. 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Charter of the City of Murfreesboro establishes the 

roles and responsibilities of the City Attorney, City Manager, and City Council with 

respect to legal representation, supervision, and departmental operations; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council desires to ensure that the delivery of legal 

services to City departments is effective, efficient, and aligned with the City’s 

operational and policy needs; and 

WHEREAS, the City Manager and City Attorney jointly developed the Legal 

Department Operational Service Delivery Policy (hereinafter the “Policy”) to clarify 

supervisory authority, operational responsibilities, communication expectations, 

and procedures for engaging outside legal counsel; and 

WHEREAS, the Policy memorializes and formalizes practices necessary for 

maintaining professional independence of the City Attorney, while also ensuring 

appropriate oversight, accountability, and responsiveness in the delivery of legal 

services; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that adoption of the Legal Department 

Operational Service Delivery Policy is in the best interests of the City and promotes 

transparency, consistency, and effective governance. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF MURFREESBORO, TENNESSEE, AS FOLLOWS: 

 

SECTION 1.  The City of Murfreesboro Legal Department Operational 

Service Delivery Policy, attached hereto as Exhibit A, is hereby adopted as the 

official policy governing the organization, supervision, and operation of the City’s 

Legal Department. 

SECTION 2.  Authorization for Implementation. The City Manager and City 

Attorney are authorized and directed to implement the Policy, develop any needed 

procedures, and ensure its provisions are carried out within their respective areas of 

authority. 

 SECTION 3. This Resolution shall be effective immediately, the public 

welfare and the welfare of the City requiring it.  

 
Passed:      
   Shane McFarland, Mayor 
     
ATTEST:    APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
    
Erin Tucker  Adam F. Tucker 
City Recorder  City Attorney 



EXHIBIT A to RESOLUTION 26-R-08 

CITY OF MURFREESBORO 

LEGAL DEPARTMENT OPERATIONAL SERVICE DELIVERY POLICY 

1. Purpose 

The purpose of   
 

-to- sory role 
 

2.   

2  

 

2.2  

 

2.3  

 

interests of the Cit

 

2.4  

-  

 



City of Murfreesboro 
Legal Department Operational Service Delivery Policy 

Page 2 of 7 
 

 

City Ma
 

2.5  

 

 management 
 

 
 

  

 

 

 
 

 
  

3.  of  

the C l

 

The City  
although the City Manager  has the authority 

5 . The 



City of Murfreesboro 
Legal Department Operational Service Delivery Policy 

Page 3 of 7 
 

 
authority to  

4. 
 

4.1  

The City Manager may 

appointment. The 

 

4.2  

The 
 

 

 

I
 

represent the City or its interests. 

5.  

 

-to-

 



City of Murfreesboro 
Legal Department Operational Service Delivery Policy 

Page 4 of 7 
 

han the 

 

-
-

 -
-

 

has an 
 by the City Manager to City 

 
 

 

ayor shall meet 
— —to 

the other members of 

  

 

shall be 
nor to alter the 

terms of  legal or 
. 

 



City of Murfreesboro 
Legal Department Operational Service Delivery Policy 

Page 5 of 7 
 

1.  

2. The City Charter 

3.  

4.  

5.  

  



City of Murfreesboro 
Legal Department Operational Service Delivery Policy 

Page 6 of 7 
 

 –  

Supervisory Core Responsibilities 

 Workload Management: 

 

 Performance Evaluation: 

 

 Quality Control: 

 

 Mentorship: 

matters.  

Matter Management Core Responsibilities 

• Matter Intake, Tracking & Management 

  

 

 

 -  

  

 

 

• Process Optimization & Documentation 

 

 

 

 

  



City of Murfreesboro 
Legal Department Operational Service Delivery Policy 

Page 7 of 7 
 

• Collaboration & Communication 

  

 

timing. 

  

 

 

• Standard Templates and Policies 

 

 

 

Department 



Page 1 of 2 

 

 

 

City of Murfreesboro, TN 
Class Title: City Attorney 

 

Status: Exempt Non-Safety Sensitive 
Class Code: C006 Pay Grade: 135 Revised: 01/15/2026 

 
General Description 
The City Attorney is the City of Murfreesboro’s chief legal officer and general counsel and is responsible for advising 
and representing the City of Murfreesboro so that it can perform its functions lawfully and with minimal risk. The 
position requires an individual who is a skilled professional capable of exercising independent judgment and who 
possesses excellent legal research, writing, and oral communication skills. The individual must have high personal 
and professional ethical standards and have the personal disposition and character necessary to work effectively 
with individuals from all levels of the organization (including elected and appointed officials), within the legal 
community, in judicial forums, and with members of the public. 

This position reports directly to the Mayor and Council, although the City Manager, as the City’s chief executive officer and 
client representative, is ultimately responsible, subject to limitations imposed by the City Charter and the City Attorney’s 
other legal and ethical obligations, for directing the assignment of work to the City Attorney and ensuring that legal services 
are responsive to the legitimate needs of the City and are delivered in timely and efficient manner.  

 
Essential Functions: 

 
Provides legal representation and advice to the City and Murfreesboro City Schools (collectively, “City”), through 
their officials, employees, boards, and commissions, privately and at public meetings, on a variety of complex 
legal topics. 
 
Directs the management of all litigation and other proceedings in which the City is party and represents the city, 
whether directly or indirectly through subordinate attorneys or outside legal counsel,  in all legal matters and 
proceedings in which the city is a party or interested or in which any of its officers are officially interested,  
 
Drafts and reviews ordinances, resolutions, policies, administrative directives, general orders, and forms to ensure 
compliance with applicable laws, often developing these documents collaboratively with other City employees. 
 
Prepares, reviews, and approves contracts and other legal documents in connection with procurements and a 
wide variety of real estate and other transactions and when requested assists with negotiation of these 
transactions. 
 
Issues legal opinions on bonds, loans and grant assurances, and in connection with other business transactions 
and legal obligations of the City as requested by Cit Council, City Manager, or Chief Financial Officer/City Recorder 
and as otherwise required by law 
 
Responds to legal inquiries by City officials and staff often requiring legal and factual research and preparation of 
written opinions. Researches and analyzes complex legal issues and prepares legal advice relative to a broad variety 
of areas of the law including municipal law, employment, regulatory compliance, constitutional, public safety, real 
estate, zoning, land use, contract, collections, tax, bankruptcy, tort, education, and workers’ compensation. 
 
Attends all City Council meetings, or ensures the attendance of a subordinate attorney when the City Attorney is 
unable to attend. 
 
Prepares/reviews correspondence or other documents regarding the City’s position on significant, controversial or 
confidential matters. 
 



Page 2 of 2 

 

 

 

City of Murfreesboro, TN 
Class Title: City Attorney 

 

Status: Exempt Non-Safety Sensitive 
Class Code: C006 Pay Grade: 135 Revised: 01/15/2026 

  
Manages the day-to-day operations of the City’s Legal Department, manages the delivery of legal services, and 
supervises the work of both Legal Department staff and outside legal counsel, except as otherwise provided by the 
City Charter, Ordinance, City Policy, or the City Attorney’s employment agreement. 
 
Implements the Legal Department Operational Service Delivery policy, developing any needed procedures, and 
ensuring it is carried out in conjunction with the City Manager.   

Additional Duties: 
Performs other work as assigned. 

 
Physical Demands: 
Performs sedentary work that involves walking or standing some of the time and involves exerting up to 10 pounds 
of force on a regular and recurring basis or sustained keyboard operations. 

 
Minimum Education and Experience Requirements: 
Requires a Juris Doctor degree. Requires ten years of professional legal experience including supervisory experience 
and substantial experience representing one or more local government entities. 

Pre-employment requirement 
Must be willing to consent to and participate in consumer and/or investigative consumer report (background check) 
with satisfactory results. 
 
Must be able to communicate with others in written English to ensure the safe and efficient operations of the business. 
 
Special Certifications and Licenses: 
Must have a State of Tennessee license to practice law. 

 
The City of Murfreesboro is an Equal Opportunity Employer. 



COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 
Meeting Date: 01/22/2026 

Item Title: Ordinance 26-O-08 Amending Chapter 32 of the Murfreesboro City 
Code 

Department: Police 

Presented by: Chief Michael Bowen 

Requested Council Action: 

Ordinance ☒ 

Resolution ☐ 
Motion ☐ 
Direction ☐ 
Information ☐ 

 

Summary 

Consider first reading of Ordinance 26-O-08 amending chapter 32 of the City Code. 

Staff Recommendation 

Approve Ordinance 26-O-08 amending Chapter 32, Traffic, in regard to unloading motor 
vehicles from the roadway. 

Background Information 

The practice of loading and unloading car carriers and other trailers and trucks from a 
roadway or shoulder is unsafe to those engaging in such activity as well as others using 
the roadway.  The department recommends amending Section 32-1407 to further 
define the elements that constitute an offense. Once adopted, this new ordinance could 
hold both the business and the carrier driver accountable, which could result in citations 
being issued.  The proposed ordinance provides exceptions for instances such as a 
mechanical breakdown. 

Council Priorities Served 

Maintain Public Safety 

Keeping our roadways clear of driving hazards promotes public safety. 

Operational Issues 

No operational issues are expected.  

Attachments 

Ordinance 26-O-08 



ORDINANCE 26-O-08 amending the Murfreesboro City Code, Chapter 
32, Traffic, Article XIV, Section 32-1407, regarding the loading and 
unloading of motor vehicles from the roadway and shoulder. 
 
WHEREAS, the City has identified the practice of loading and unloading car 

carriers and other trailers and trucks from a roadway and shoulder as unsafe to both 

those engaged in such activity as well as others using the roadway. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF MURFREESBORO, TENNESSEE, AS FOLLOWS: 

 
SECTION 1. Section 32-1407 of the Murfreesboro City Code is hereby amended 

by deleting it in its entirety in lieu thereof inserting the following new provision: 

 

Section 32-1407 Loading or unloading motor vehicles from the 
roadway or shoulder. 
(A) It is unlawful to load or unload motor vehicles from a car carrier, trailer, 

or other delivery vehicle parked on a roadway or shoulder. 

(B) It is unlawful for a business to permit or otherwise facilitate the transfer 

of a motor vehicle to or from a car carrier, trailer, or other delivery vehicle 

parked on a roadway or shoulder to or from property owned, leased, or 

otherwise controlled by the business. 

(C) Notwithstanding the foregoing subsections, it is not a violation of this 

section where the unloading of motor vehicles from a roadway or shoulder is 

necessary due to a mechanical breakdown of the car carrier, trailer, or delivery 

vehicle, due to the car carrier’s, trailer’s, or delivery vehicle’s involvement in a 

vehicular accident, or where the unloading is conducted pursuant to the order 

of law enforcement or other first responder at the scene. 

 

SECTION 2.  That this Ordinance shall take effect fifteen (15) days after its 

passage upon second and final reading, the public welfare and the welfare of the City 

requiring it.  

 
Passed:      
   Shane McFarland, Mayor 
1st reading    

2nd reading   

 
  



ATTEST:    APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
    
Erin Tucker   Adam F. Tucker 
City Recorder  City Attorney 
 
 
 
SEAL  
 
 



 

 

COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 
Meeting Date: 01/22/2026 

Item Title: Planning Commission Compensation 

Department: Planning 

Presented by: Ben Newman, Director of Land Management and Planning 

Requested Council Action:  
   Ordinance  ☐ 
    Resolution  ☒ 
   Motion  ☐ 
   Direction  ☐ 
   Information  ☐ 

Summary 

Consider resolution establishing compensation for Planning Commission members who 
attend the Joint Conceptual Workshop meetings with the City Council.   

Staff Recommendation 

Approve the resolution.   

Background Information  

In 2020, Council passed an ordinance that allowed compensation for Planning 
Commission members to be set by resolution.  At the same time, Council passed a 
resolution establishing the compensation as a flat amount of $400 per member per 
month.  When that resolution was passed in 2020, the Planning Commission conducted 
two regular meetings per month.  In the Fall of 2025, in addition to the two regular 
meetings, Council and the Planning Commission began conducting the Joint Conceptual 
Workshop (JCW) meeting, adding a third meeting for Planning Commission members 
to attend in most months.  Since the workload and time commitment required of 
Planning Commission members has been increased, this resolution is being proposed 
to compensate the Planning Commission members an additional $200 for every JCW 
meeting that they attend.  In addition, the resolution proposes to compensate the 
Planning Commission members for the three JCW meetings that have already occurred, 
for which they have not received additional compensation.   

Council Priorities Served 

Establish Strong City Brand 

The Planning Commission devote a significant amount of time and effort in the 
discharge of their duties.  Adequately compensating them for their time will assist the 
City in recruiting and retaining knowledgeable and dedicated individuals.  

Fiscal Impact 

Increasing compensation for the Planning Commission members as proposed in the 
attached resolution amounts to approximately $11,200, which will be funded during the 
remainder of the fiscal year through department savings.  Thereafter, the ongoing costs 
will be incorporated into the Department’s annual budget.   



 

2 
 

Attachments: 

Resolution 26-R-01 



RESOLUTION 26-R-01 setting compensation to be paid to members of 
the Murfreesboro Planning Commission. 

 

 WHEREAS, Murfreesboro City Code Section 22-2 (D) authorizes City Council 

to establish rates of monthly compensation for members of the Murfreesboro Planning 

Commission and provides for eligibility of other expenses while engaged in the business 

of the Commission; and, 

 WHEREAS, Resolution 20-R-26 established a $400 monthly stipend to 

members of the Planning Commission for their service on the Commission; and, 

 WHEREAS, a new Joint Conceptual Workshop has been established wherein 

both Planning Commission and City Council members attend monthly; and, 

 WHEREAS, Council wishes to compensate Planning Commission members for 

their attendance and participation in service at this workshop, in addition to their 

pre-established monthly stipend for regular Planning Commission meetings. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF MURFREESBORO, TENNESSEE, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

SECTION 1. Members of the Murfreesboro Planning Commission shall receive 

a base monthly stipend of $400 for their service on the Commission. In addition, a 

member shall be paid an additional $200 for each Joint Conceptual Workshop 

meeting the member attends in person.  

SECTION 2. Planning Commission members who attended Joint Conceptual 

Workshop meetings on October 15, 2025, December 3, 2025, and/or January 7, 2026, 

shall receive retroactive compensation of $200 per meeting attended in person. 

SECTION 3. This Resolution shall be effective immediately, the public welfare 

and the welfare of the City requiring it.   

  

 
Passed:      
   Shane McFarland, Mayor 
 
     
ATTEST:    APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
    
Erin Tucker  Adam F. Tucker 
City Recorder  City Attorney 



COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 
Meeting Date:   01/22/2026 

Item Title: Purchase of Mobile Data Terminals 

Department: Police 

Presented by: Chief Michael Bowen 

Requested Council Action:  
   Ordinance  ☐ 
    Resolution  ☐ 
   Motion  ☒ 
   Direction  ☐ 
   Information  ☐ 

Summary  

Purchase of 40 mobile data terminals (MDT) for new police vehicles.   

Staff Recommendation 

Approve the purchase of 40 MDTs for new police vehicles from Insight Public Sector.      

Background Information  

The purchase of 40 MDTs is to equip new police vehicles currently on order. This 
equipment is available for purchase through an Omnia Partners cooperative contract, 
which is permitted by State statute and Council Resolution. Staff has verified the cost 
effectiveness of the current Omnia contract. 

Council Priorities Served 

Maintain Public Safety 

Properly equipped vehicles are necessary to provide officers all available resources to 
perform job duties.   

Fiscal Impact  

The total expense of $173,425 is funded from the department’s FY26 operating budget.  

Attachments 

 First Amendment to the Contract with Insight Public Sector, Inc.  

  



Page 1 of 1 
 

FIRST AMENDMENT 
TO THE 

CONTRACT 
BETWEEN THE CITY OF MURFREESBORO 

AND 
INSIGHT PUBLIC SECTOR, INC. 
FOR IT PRODUCTS & SERVICES 

 
This First Amendment (“First Amendment”) to the Contract entered March 22, 2024, (“Contract”) by and 
between City of Murfreesboro (“City”), a municipal corporation of the State of Tennessee and Insight 
Public Sector, Inc., a corporation of the State of Illinois (“Contractor”) is effective as of this 
_______________.  
 

RECITALS 
 

 WHEREAS, on March 22, 2024, the City entered into a contract with Insight Public Sector, Inc. 
for IT Products and Services pursuant to OMNIA Partners Cooperative Purchasing Contract No. 23-6692-
03; and,  
 
 WHEREAS, the terms of the Contract are valid until April 30, 2028, or as amended by Omnia 
Partners; and,  
 
 WHEREAS, the City desires to purchase additional products and services set forth on Insight 
Public Sector Inc.’s Quote #0229096945 dated January 12, 2026;  
 
 WHEREAS, the additional products included on Insight Public Sector Inc.’s Quote #0229096945 
as listed are $173,428.00. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, the City and Contractor mutually agree to the Amendment of the current 

Contract to include the purchase of forty (40) Panasonic Toughbook 55 and equipment set forth on 
Insight Public Sector Inc.’s Quote #0229096945 dated January 12, 2026.  All other terms of the Contract 
shall remain the same.   
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties enter into this amendment as of _________, 2026.  
 
CITY OF MURFREESBORO 
 
By:___________________________ 
      Shane McFarland, Mayor 

INSIGHT PUBLIC SECTOR, INC. 
 
By:______________________________ 
      Erica Falchetti, Senior SLED Capture Manager 
 

 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:  
 
______________________________ 
Adam F. Tucker, City Attorney 

 

 
 
   



HTTP://WWW.INSIGHT.COM

Page 1 of 2INSIGHT PUBLIC SECTOR, INC.
2701 E INSIGHT WAY
CHANDLER AZ  85286-1930
Tel: 800-467-4448

Account name: 10183254

CITY OF MURFREESBORO
111 W VINE ST
MURFREESBORO TN  37130-3573

SHIP-TO

MURFREESBORO POLICE DEPT
BILL TERRY
1004 N HIGHLAND AVE
MURFREESBORO TN  37130-2454

We deliver according to the following terms:
Payment Terms : Net 30 days
Ship Via : United Parcel Services/Ground
Terms of Delivery : FOB DESTINATION
Currency : USD

Quotation

Quotation Number : 0229096945
Document Date : 12-JAN-2026
PO Number : PANASONIC
PO Release :
Sales Rep : Ashley McDonald
Email : ASHLEY.MCDONALD@INSIGHT.COM
Phone : +18004674448
Sales Rep 2 : Chalsey Hinton
Email : CHALSEY.HINTON@INSIGHT.COM
Phone : +14804096546

Toughbook pricing on this quote  is valid only with the purchase of the docks and cables

Material Material Description Quantity Unit Price Extended Price

HA-55LVDLT2 Havis Lite HA-55LVDLT2 - docking station       40               692.04            27,681.60
OMNIA PARTNERS (COBB COUNTY) IT PRODUCTS AND
SERVICES(# 23-6692-03)
List Price: 939.99
Discount: 26.378%

CF-LNDDC120 LIND PA1580-1642 - car power adapter - 120
Watt

      40               135.79             5,431.60

OMNIA PARTNERS (COBB COUNTY) IT PRODUCTS AND
SERVICES(# 23-6692-03)
List Price: 209.99
Discount: 35.335%

FZ-55JV-35BM Panasonic Toughbook 55 - 14" - Intel Core i5
- 1345U - 16 GB RAM - 512 GB SSD - 4G

      40             3,507.87           140,314.80

OMNIA PARTNERS (COBB COUNTY) IT PRODUCTS AND
SERVICES(# 23-6692-03)
List Price: 3985.99
Discount: 11.995%

Product Subtotal           173,428.00
TAX                0.00

Total           173,428.00

Thank you for choosing Insight.  Please contact us with any questions or for additional information about Insight's complete IT 
solution offering. 
  
Sincerely,

https://www.insight.com/insightweb/quoteDetails?quoNum=229096945
http://www.insight.com/en_US/search.html?qtype=all&q=HA-55LVDLT2
http://www.insight.com/en_US/search.html?qtype=all&q=CF-LNDDC120
http://www.insight.com/en_US/search.html?qtype=all&q=FZ-55JV-35BM


HTTP://WWW.INSIGHT.COM Document Date 12-JAN-2026
Quotation Number 229096945

Page 2 of 2

Ashley McDonald
+18004674448
ASHLEY.MCDONALD@INSIGHT.COM
Fax +14807608991

Chalsey Hinton
+14804096546
CHALSEY.HINTON@INSIGHT.COM

To purchase under this contract, your agency must be registered with OMNIA Partners Public Sector.

Insight Global Finance has a wide variety of flexible financing options and technology refresh solutions.  Contact your Insight 
representative for an innovative approach to maximizing your technology and developing a strategy to manage your financial 
options.

This purchase is subject to Insight’s online Terms of Sale unless you are purchasing under an Insight Public Sector, Inc. contract 
vehicle, in which case, that agreement will govern. 
  
SOFTWARE AND CLOUD SERVICES PURCHASES: If your purchase contains any software or cloud computing offerings 
(“Software and Cloud Offerings”), each offering will be subject to the applicable supplier's end user license and use terms 
("Supplier Terms") made available by the supplier or which can be found at the “terms-and-policies” link below. By ordering, 
paying for, receiving or using Software and Cloud Offerings, you agree to be bound by and accept the Supplier Terms unless you 
and the applicable supplier have a separate agreement which governs. 
  
Insight’s online Terms of Sale can be found at the “terms-and-policies” link below. 
 
https://www.insight.com/terms-and-policies



COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 
Meeting Date:   01/22/2026 

Item Title: Contracts for Police Vehicle Equipment 

Department: Police 

Presented by: Chief Michael Bowen 

Requested Council Action:  
   Ordinance  ☐ 
    Resolution  ☐ 
   Motion  ☒ 
   Direction  ☐ 
   Information  ☐ 

Summary  

Consider the contracts for police vehicle equipment.  

Staff Recommendation 

Approve the contracts with Dana Safety, On Duty Depot, Trucker’s Lighthouse and 
TT of Columbia. 

Background Information  

ITB-16-2026 Police Vehicle Equipment was issued November 18, 2025.  Four vendors 
were chosen from the lowest responsible bids to equip and outfit new police vehicles 
with the necessary safety equipment. Awarding multiple contracts will allow the 
department to divide the workload between vendors to assist in the production 
turnaround when needed.  These are unit-based contracts, each with a five-year 
term.  The department expects to equip approximately 40 new vehicles per year.     

Council Priorities Served 

Maintain Public Safety 

Properly equipped vehicles are necessary to provide officers with all available 
resources to perform job duties.   

Fiscal Impact  

Police will spend up to $900,000 annually on vehicle equipment during the term of 
these contracts, which is currently provided for in the department’s FY26 operating 
budget.  Future purchases will be budgeted for each fiscal year.    

Attachments 

1. Agreement with TT of Columbia 

2. Agreement with Dana Safety Supply, Inc. 

3. Agreement with On Duty International, LLC 

4. Agreement with Trucker’s Lighthouse, LLC 



Agreement for  
Police Vehicle Equipment 

This Agreement is entered into and effective as of ________________ (the “Effective Date”) by 
and between the City of Murfreesboro, a municipal corporation of the State of Tennessee (the "City"), 
and TT of Columbia, Inc., a corporation of the State of Tennessee (“Contractor”).   

This Agreement consists of the following documents: 

• This document
• ITB-16-2026- Police Vehicle Equipment, issued November 18, 2025 (the “Solicitation”);
• Contractor’s Proposal, dated December 8, 2025 (“Contractor’s Proposal”);
• Contractor’s Price Proposal, dated December 8, 2025 (the “Price Proposal”); and
• Any properly executed amendments to this Agreement.

In the event of conflicting provisions, all documents will be construed according to the following 
priorities: 

• First, any properly executed amendment or change order to this Agreement (most recent
amendment or change order given first priority);

• Second, this Agreement;
• Third, the Solicitation;
• Lastly, Contractor’s Proposal.

1. Duties and Responsibilities of Contractor.
a. Scope of Work. Contractor is engaged to perform services as described in ITB

specifications.  
b. Supervision and Superintendence of Work.

1. Contractor will supervise and direct the work efficiently and with Contractor’s
best skill and attention.  Contractor will be solely responsible for the means,
methods, techniques, sequences and procedures of installation.  Contractor will
be responsible to see that the finished work complies accurately with the
Contract documents.

2. Contractor will keep on the work site at all times during work progress a
competent resident superintendent.  The superintendent will be Contractor’s
representative at the site and shall have authority to act on behalf of Contractor.
All communications given to the superintendent shall be as binding as if given to
Contractor.

c. Labor, Materials, and Equipment.
1. Contractor will provide competent, suitably qualified personnel to perform the

work as set forth in Contractor’s Bid.  The Contractor will at all times maintain
good discipline and order at the site.

2. The City reserves the right to purchase any combination of Equipment Sections
and Labor.  For the options selected by the City, the Contractor will furnish all
installation and/or equipment and equipment parts, machinery, tools,
appliances, fuel, and all other incidentals necessary for the execution, testing,
initial operation and completion of the work.

3. All materials will be new, except as otherwise provided it the Contract
documents.  If required by the City, Contractor will furnish satisfactory evidence

Docusign Envelope ID: 83E0EAE5-1339-44CA-B265-F9846F5AA76C



as to the kind and quality of materials and equipment. 
4. All materials and equipment shall be applied, installed, connected, erected, used, 

cleaned and conditioned in accordance with the instructions of the applicable 
manufacturer, fabricator or processors, except as otherwise provided in the 
Contract documents. 

d. Warranty and Guarantee.  The Contractor warrants to the City that: 
1. Unless otherwise provided for, all materials, machinery, and equipment used on 

the work shall be new, of the best quality in their kind and grade, and of the most 
efficient and effective design and type available for the purposes for which they 
are intended; 

2. All materials, machinery, and equipment conform in every respect with the 
specifications, drawings, approved samples, and other requirements of the 
Contract documents; 

3. Only such materials, machinery, and equipment shall be used on the work as have 
been produced or manufactured in accordance with the established and 
generally accepted standards for goods and workmanship of the type covered by 
the specifications and are of such a design and construction as to perform 
properly the function or work for which they are intended and to afford the 
maximum ease in upkeep and repair; 

4. The finish of the exterior surface of the materials, machinery and equipment used 
on the work shall be in accordance with the specifications, or if there are no 
applicable specifications, such finish shall be consistent with commercially 
accepted practices for the services to be rendered by the respective materials, 
machinery, and equipment; and, 

5. The Contractor agrees that all warranties in the Contract documents shall survive 
acceptance of, delivery of, and payment for, the goods, whether any defects shall 
be latent or patent, and agrees to indemnify and hold the City harmless from any 
loss, damage, or other expense, including attorneys’ fees, that the City may suffer 
as a result of the failure of the materials, machinery, and equipment or 
workmanship to be as warranted.  Each warranty with respect to any items other 
than machinery and equipment, shall expire sixty (60) months from the date of 
receipt by the City of such items and, with respect to machinery and equipment, 
twenty-four (24) months after the date of initial operation of such machinery and 
equipment.  The Contractor agrees to correct without expense to, and to the 
satisfaction of, the City, any defects that may develop in material, workmanship, 
and design during the period of such warranty. 

The warranties set forth in the preceding paragraph are cumulative and shall not exclude 
or affect the operation of any other warranty or guaranty provided by law or by the 
Contract documents. 

e. Subcontractors.   
1. Contractor will not employ any subcontractor to perform any of the work 

required under the Contract documents without first obtaining the written 
approval of the City’s designated representative to employ the subcontractor. 

2. Contractor will be fully responsible for all acts and omissions of any subcontractor 
and of persons directly or indirectly employed by them and of persons for whose 
acts any of them may be liable to the same extent that Contractor is responsible 
for the acts and omissions of persons directly employed by Contractor.  Nothing 
in the Contract documents shall create any contractual relationships between 
any subcontractor and the City or any obligation on the part of the City to pay or 

Docusign Envelope ID: 83E0EAE5-1339-44CA-B265-F9846F5AA76C



to see to the payment of any moneys due any subcontractor, except as may 
otherwise be required by law.  The City may furnish to any subcontractor, to the 
extent practicable, evidence of amounts paid to Contractor on account of specific 
work done in accordance with the schedule of values. 

3. Contractor agrees to bind specifically every subcontractor to the applicable terms 
and conditions of the Contract documents for the benefit of the City. 

4. All work performed for Contractor by a subcontractor shall be pursuant to an 
appropriate written agreement between Contractor and the subcontractor. 

f. Permits 
Contractor will secure and pay for all permits and licenses and will pay all 
governmental charges and inspection fees necessary for the prosecution of the 
work, which are applicable at the time of Contractor’s bid.  Contractor will also 
pay all public utility charges. 

g. Use of Premises.   
1. Contractor will confine Contractor’s equipment, the storage of materials and 

equipment and the operations of Contractor’s workers to areas permitted by law, 
ordinances, permits, or the requirements of the Contract documents, and shall 
not unreasonably encumber the premises with materials or equipment.   

2. Contractor will not load nor permit any part of the structure to be loaded with 
weights that will endanger the structure, nor will Contractor subject any part of 
the work to stresses or pressures that will endanger it. 
 

h. Safety and Protection.  
1. Contractor will be responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising all 

safety precautions and programs in connection with the work.  Contractor will 
take all necessary precautions for the safety of, and will provide the necessary 
protection to prevent damage, injury or loss to: 

a. All employees on the work and other persons who may be affected 
thereby, 

b. All the work and all materials or equipment to be incorporated there, 
whether in storage on or off the site, and 

c. Other property at the site or adjacent property, including trees, shrubs, 
lawns, walks, pavements, roadways, structures and utilities not 
designated for removal, relocation or replacement in the course of 
installation.  

Contractor will comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, rules, regulations and 
order of any public body having jurisdiction for the safety of persons or property 
or to protect them from damage, injury or loss.  Contractor will erect and 
maintain, as required by the conditions and progress of the work, all necessary 
safeguards for safety and protection.  Contractor will notify the City of adjacent 
utilities when prosecution of the work may affect them.  All damage, injury, or 
loss to any property referred to in subparagraph (2) or (3) of this section caused 
directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, by Contractor, any subcontractor or 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or anyone for whose acts 
any of them may be liable, will be remedied by Contractor; except damage or loss 
attributable to the fault of drawings or specifications or to the acts or omissions 
of the City or anyone employed by either of them or anyone for whose acts either 

Docusign Envelope ID: 83E0EAE5-1339-44CA-B265-F9846F5AA76C



of them may be liable, and not attributable, directly or indirectly, in whole or in 
part, to the fault or negligence of Contractor. 

2. Contractor will designate a responsible member of Contractor’s organization at 
the site whose duty shall be the prevention of accidents.  This person shall be 
Contractor’s superintendent unless otherwise designated in writing by 
Contractor to the City. 
 

i. Emergencies.  In emergencies affecting the safety of persons or the work or property at 
the site or adjacent property, Contractor, without special instruction or authorization 
from the City, is obligated to act, at Contractor’s discretion, to prevent threatened 
damage, injury or loss. 

j. Cleaning Up.  Contractor will keep the premises free from accumulations of waste 
materials, rubbish, and other debris resulting from the work, and at the completion of the 
work Contractor will remove all waste materials, rubbish and debris from and about the 
premises as well as all tools, construction equipment and machinery, and surplus 
materials, and will leave the site clean..  Contractor will restore to their original condition 
those portions of the site not designated for alteration by the Contract documents. 

k. Access to the Work.  Representatives of the City will at all times have access to the work.  
Contractor will provide proper facilities for such access and observation of the work and 
also for any inspection or testing by others. 

l. Contractor’s Continuing Obligation. Contractor’s obligation to perform the work and 
complete the Project in accordance with the Contract documents shall be absolute.  
Neither any payment by the City to Contractor under the Contract documents, nor any 
use or occupancy of the Project or any part by the City, nor any act of acceptance by the 
City nor any failure to do so, nor any correction of defective work by the City shall 
constitute acceptance of work not in accordance with the Contract documents. 
 

2. Term.    
The term of this Agreement commences on the Effective Date listed above and expires in one 
year, with four (4) one-year renewal options, unless extended by mutual agreement of Contractor 
and the City or earlier terminated as set forth herein Termination.  Contractor's services may be 
terminated in whole or in part: 

a. Upon 30-day prior notice, for the convenience of the City.   
b. For the convenience of Contractor, provided that Contractor notifies the City in writing 

of its intent to terminate under this paragraph at least 30 days prior to the effective date 
of the termination.  

c. For cause, by either party where the other party fails in any material way to perform its 
obligations under this Agreement.  Termination under this subsection is subject to the 
condition that the terminating party notifies the other party of its intent to terminate, 
stating with reasonable specificity the grounds therefore, and the other party fails to 
remedy the problem within 15 days after receiving the notice. 

d. Should Contractor fail to fulfill in a timely and proper manner its obligations under this 
Agreement or if it should violate any of the terms of this Agreement, the City has the 
right to immediately terminate the Agreement.  Such termination does not relieve 
Contractor of any liability to the City for damages sustained by virtue of any breach by 
Contractor. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 83E0EAE5-1339-44CA-B265-F9846F5AA76C



e. Should the appropriation for Contractor’s work be withdrawn or modified, the City has 
the right to terminate the Agreement immediately upon written notice to Contractor. 

3. Price; Compensation; Method of Payment.   
Contractor will be compensated upon the delivery and acceptance of the goods and services 
specified in Contractor’s bid submitted and pricing as provided in response to ITB-16-2026, and 
as listed and attached in EXHIBIT A.  No quantities are guaranteed as a result of the ITB and this 
Contract. The City reserves the right to purchase any combination of Equipment Sections and 
Labor.  Any compensation due Contractor under the Agreement shall be made upon submittal of 
an invoice after performance of the portion of the services which each payment represents. The 
City agrees to pay Contractor after goods and/or services have been received, accepted, and 
properly invoiced as indicated in the Agreement and/or purchase order. The final payment shall 
be made only after Contractor has completely performed its duties under this Contract and the 
work has been accepted by the City and all work has been approved by authorized personnel from 
the Murfreesboro Police Department.  Invoices must bear the purchase order number. Final 
payment shall not be made until after performance is complete. All invoices should be sent to: 
accountspayable@murfreesborotn.gov 

4. Insurance.   
During the term of this Agreement, Contractor must maintain comprehensive general liability 
insurance with limits of not less than $1,000,000.00, as well as automotive and workers’ 
compensation insurance policies.  Contractor will provide to the City: (i) a standard certificate of 
insurance evidencing this coverage prior to commencement of work and upon renewal or 
expiration of the policies reflected thereupon, (ii) upon request, an endorsement naming the City 
as additional insured under the terms of the policy as follows: “The City of Murfreesboro, 
Tennessee, its officers, employees, contractors, consultants, and agents.”  Certificates of 
Insurance should be sent to: coi@murfreesborotn.gov.  Certificates of Insurance should identify 
the Project and reference the contract date. 

5. Indemnification.  
a. Contractor must indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the City, its officers, agents and 

employees from any claims, penalties, damages, costs and attorney fees (“Expenses”) 
arising from injuries or damages resulting from, in part or in whole, the negligent or 
intentional acts or omissions of contractor, its officers, employees and/or agents, 
including its subcontractors or independent contractors, in connection with the 
performance of this Agreement, and, Expenses arising from any failure of Contractor, its 
officers, employees and/or agents, including its subcontractors or independent 
contractors, to observe applicable laws, including, but not limited to, labor laws and 
minimum wage laws.  

b. Pursuant to Tennessee Attorney General Opinion 93-01, the City will not indemnify, 
defend or hold harmless in any fashion Contractor from any claims arising from any 
failure, regardless of any language in any attachment or other document that Contractor 
may provide. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 83E0EAE5-1339-44CA-B265-F9846F5AA76C

mailto:accountspayable@murfreesborotn.gov


6. Notices.   
Notice of assignment of any rights to money due to Contractor under this Agreement must be 
mailed first class mail or hand delivered to the following: 

If to the City of Murfreesboro: 

City Manager 
City of Murfreesboro 
111 West Vine Street 
Murfreesboro, TN 37130 

If to Contractor:  
 
TT of Columbia, Inc. 
Attn: Russell Moles 
106 S. James Campbell Boulevard 
Columbia, TN 38401 
rmoles@tnfleetsales.net 

 

7. Maintenance of Records.   

Contractor must maintain documentation for all charges against the City. The books, records, and 
documents of Contractor, insofar as they relate to work performed or money received under the 
Agreement, must be maintained for a period of five full years from the date of final payment and 
will be subject to audit, at any reasonable time and upon reasonable notice by the City or its duly 
appointed representatives.  Accounting records must be maintained in accordance with the 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. 

8. Modification.   
This Agreement may be modified only by written amendment executed by all parties and their 
signatories hereto.  

9. Relationship of the Parties.   
Nothing herein may in any way be construed or intended to create a partnership or joint venture 
between the parties or to create the relationship of principal and agent between or among any of 
the parties.  None of the parties hereto may hold itself out in a manner contrary to the terms of 
this paragraph.  No party becomes liable for any representation, act, or omission of any other 
party contrary to this section. 

10. Waiver.   
No waiver of any provision of this Agreement affects the right of any party thereafter to enforce 
such provision or to exercise any right or remedy available to it in the event of any other default. 

11. Employment.   
Contractor may not subscribe to any personnel policy which permits or allows for the promotion, 
demotion, employment, dismissal or laying off of any individual due to race, creed, color, national 
origin, age, sex, veteran status, or any other status or class protected under federal or state law 
or which is in violation of applicable laws concerning the employment of individuals with 
disabilities. 

12. Non-Discrimination.  
It is the policy of the City not to discriminate on the basis of age, race, sex, color, national origin, 
veteran status, disability, or other status or class protected under federal or state law in its hiring 
and employment practices, or in admission to, access to, or operation of its programs, services, 
and activities. With regard to all aspects of this Agreement, Contractor certifies and warrants it 
will comply with this policy.  No person may be excluded from participation in, be denied benefits 
of, be discriminated against in the admission or access to, or be discriminated against in treatment 

Docusign Envelope ID: 83E0EAE5-1339-44CA-B265-F9846F5AA76C



or employment in the City’s contracted programs or activities, on the grounds of handicap and/or 
disability, age, race, color, religion, sex, national origin, or any other classification protected by 
federal or Tennessee State Constitutional or statutory law; nor may they be excluded from 
participation in, be denied benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination in the 
performance of contracts with the City or in the employment practices of the City’s Contractors. 
Accordingly, all proposers entering into contracts with the City may upon request be required to 
show proof of such nondiscrimination and to post in conspicuous places that are available to all 
employees and applicants, notices of nondiscrimination.  

13. Gratuities and Kickbacks.  
It is a breach of ethical standards for any person to offer, give or agree to give any employee or 
former employee, or for any employee or former employee to solicit, demand, accept or agree to 
accept from another person, a gratuity or an offer of employment in connection with any decision, 
approval, disapproval, recommendation, preparation of any part of a program requirement or a 
purchase request, influencing the content of any specification or procurement standard, 
rendering of advice, investigation, auditing or in any other advisory capacity in any proceeding or 
application, request for ruling, determination, claim or controversy or other particular matter, 
pertaining to any program requirement of a contract or subcontract or to any solicitation or 
proposal therewith. It is a breach of ethical standards for any payment, gratuity or offer of 
employment to be made by or on behalf of a subcontractor under a contract to the prime 
contractor or higher tier subcontractor or a person associated therewith, as an inducement for 
the award of a subcontract or order. Breach of the provisions of this paragraph is, in addition to a 
breach of this Agreement, a breach of ethical standards which may result in civil or criminal 
sanction and/or debarment or suspension from being a contractor or subcontractor under the 
City contracts. 

14. Assignment.   
The provisions of this Agreement inure to the benefit of and are binding upon the respective 
successors and assignees of the parties hereto. Except for the rights of money due to Contractor 
under this Agreement, neither this Agreement nor any of the rights and obligations of Contractor 
hereunder may be assigned or transferred in whole or in part without the prior written consent 
of the City.  Any such assignment or transfer does not release Contractor from its obligations 
hereunder.   

15. Integration.  
This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject 
matter hereof and governs the respective duties and obligations of the parties. 

16. Force Majeure.   
No party has any liability to the other hereunder by reason of any delay or failure to perform any 
obligation or covenant if the delay or failure to perform is occasioned by force majeure, meaning 
any act of God, storm, fire, casualty, unanticipated work stoppage, strike, lockout, labor dispute, 
civil disturbance, riot, war, national emergency, act of public enemy, or other cause of similar or 
dissimilar nature beyond its control. 

17. Governing Law and Venue.  
The validity, construction and effect of this Agreement and any and all extensions or modifications 
thereof are governed by the laws of the state of Tennessee regardless of choice of law doctrine 
or provision in any attachment or other document that Contractor may provide.  Any action 

Docusign Envelope ID: 83E0EAE5-1339-44CA-B265-F9846F5AA76C



between the parties arising from this agreement may only be filed in the courts of Rutherford 
County, Tennessee. 

18. Severability.   
Should any provision of this Agreement be declared to be invalid by any court of competent 
jurisdiction, such provision will be severed and not affect the validity of the remaining provisions 
of this Agreement. 

19. Attorney Fees.   
In the event any party takes legal action to enforce any provision of the Agreement, should the 
City prevail, Contractor will pay all expenses of such action including attorney fees, expenses, 
and costs at all stages of the litigation and dispute resolution. 

20. Iran Divestment Act of Tennessee.  
 By submission of the Contractor’s Bid, Contractor certifies, under penalty of perjury, that to the 
best of its knowledge and belief that Contractor is not on the list created pursuant to Tenn. 
Code Ann. §12-12-106. 

 
21. Non-Boycott of Israel.  

By submission of the Contractor’s Bid, Contractor certifies, under penalty of perjury, that to the 
best of its knowledge and belief that each supplier is not boycotting Israel pursuant to Tenn. 
Code Ann. § 12-4-119 and will not boycott Israel during the term of contract. This applies to 
contracts of $250,000 or more and to contractors with ten (10) or more employees. 

 
22. Effective Date.   

This Agreement is not binding upon the parties until signed by each of the Contractor and 
authorized representatives of the City and is thereafter effective as of the date set forth above.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties enter into this agreement as of the Effective Date first listed above. 

 

CITY OF MURFREESBORO, TENNESSEE 

By: ____________________________                                                   

      Shane McFarland, Mayor                                                                         

 

TT OF COLUMBIA, INC. 

By: ____________________________                                                   

 Russell Moles, Director of Fleet Department 

Approved as to Form: 

____________________________ 

Adam F. Tucker, City Attorney 

 

 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 83E0EAE5-1339-44CA-B265-F9846F5AA76C



Section 1- Havis Parts Columbia, TN

Name Part Number

Qty 
required 
per Unit 
Build Cost Each Extended Cost

Havis VSX Console C-VSX-1800-INUT 1 582.00$                                 582.00$                                           
Havis VSX Equipment Bracket C-EBX-FS-1 1 27.00$                                    27.00$                                             
Havis Armrest  C-ARM-1001 1 251.00$                                 251.00$                                           
Havis Cupholder CUP2-1004 1 50.00$                                    50.00$                                             
USB Charger C-USB-3 1 68.00$                                    68.00$                                             
Havis Motion Device C-MD-119 1 227.00$                                 227.00$                                           
Havis Docking Station with Standard Port Replication and Havis Power 
Supply DS-PAN-435N 1 1,030.00$                              1,030.00$                                        
Havis Panasonic Toughbook G2 Docking Station with standard port 
replication and power supply. DS-PAN-1015N 1 1,083.00$                              1,083.00$                                        

Total Package Price for Section 1 3,318.00$                                        

Section 2- Jotto Parts

Name Part Number

Qty 
required 
per Unit 
Build Cost Each Extended Cost

Magnetic Mic 425-3816 2 37.00$                                    74.00$                                             

Total Package Price for Section 2 74.00$                                             

Section 3- Setina Parts

Name Part Number

Qty 
required 
per Unit 
Build Cost Each Extended Cost

Setina - Rear Cargo Partition with Coated Polycarbonate PK0316ITU252ND 1 560.00$                                 560.00$                                           
Setina -  #10XL Partition PK1130ITU20TM 1 785.00$                                 785.00$                                           
Setina – Rear Seat Insert ( Replaces Factory Seats ) QK0634ITU20 1 765.00$                                 765.00$                                           
Setina –  Center Pull Seatbelt System ( Non Smart Belt ) 1 n/a n/a
Setina - Coated Polycarbonate window barrier WK0595ITU20 1 251.00$                                 251.00$                                           

Setina - Blac-Rac Firearms mount ( Dual Gun – Rifle and shotgun ) GK11191B1SHK 1 783.00$                                 783.00$                                           
Setina -  EZ Lift Floor System TK1423ITU20 1 1,082.00$                              1,082.00$                                        

Total Package Price for Section 3 4,226.00$                              4,226.00$                                        

Section 4- Lund Parts

Name Part Number

Qty 
required 
per Unit 
Build Cost Each Extended Cost

The Loft Dual Gun Vault with oversized rifle barrel mount LOFT-PIU20-2G 1 1,082.00$                              1,082.00$                                        
Lund Loft Suppresor bracket LOFT-MBKTA-S 1 60.00$                                    60.00$                                             
Shipping / Freight 

Total Package Price for Section 4 1,142.00$                                        

Section 5 - Federal Signal Parts

Name Part Number

Qty 
required 
per Unit 
Build Cost Each Extended Cost

Federal Signal -51” Valor Lightbar with low hook,  VALR51J-P2BL 1 2,223.00$                              2,223.00$                                        
Federal Signal –  Pathfinder 21 button with OBD cable PF400R 1 1,650.00$                              1,650.00$                                        
Federal Signal –  AS124 100w speaker 750501 2 -$                                       -$                                                 
Federal Signal –  AS124 speaker brackets ESB-FPIU25NDB 2 -$                                       -$                                                 
Federal Signal –  416900 Series corner lights 416918-BAW 2 67.00$                                    67.00$                                             

TT of Columbia, Inc

Docusign Envelope ID: 83E0EAE5-1339-44CA-B265-F9846F5AA76C



Federal Signal –  Compact Rumbler RBKIT2-Compact 1 342.00$  342.00$  
Federal Signal –  Compact no drill brackets RBC2PB-FPIU20 1 38.00$  38.00$  
Federal Signal –  Micro pulse lights MPS63U-BAW 10 125.00$  1,250.00$  
Federal Signal – Xstream Dual Head XSM2-BWA-US 2 198.00$  396.00$  
Federal Signal –  Xstream Single Head  XSM1-BWA-US 2 80.00$  160.00$  
Federal Signal –  Push Bumper Center Only DFC-PB-FPIU25 1 540.00$  540.00$  
Federal Signal –  Push Bumper top channel DFC-TC4L 1 30.00$  30.00$  
Federal Signal –  24 channel expansion module EXPMOD24 2 216.00$  432.00$  
Federal Signal – Running Board Light DR5-BAW 2 848.00$  1,696.00$  
Federal Signal – Running Board Light Bracket  DR5BKT-RB-FPIU20 1 34.00$  34.00$  
Shipping / Freight 
Total Package Price for Section 5 8,858.00$  

Section 6- Installation

Labor to install all of the above parts 3,800.00$  
Number of cars that can be fully outfitted per week

Total for installation of all parts

5

Docusign Envelope ID: 83E0EAE5-1339-44CA-B265-F9846F5AA76C



Agreement for  
Police Vehicle Equipment 

 

 This Agreement is entered into and effective as of ________________ (the “Effective Date”) by 
and between the City of Murfreesboro, a municipal corporation of the State of Tennessee (the "City"), 
and Dana Safety Supply, Inc., a corporation of the State of Florida (“Contractor”).   

This Agreement consists of the following documents: 

• This document 
• ITB-16-2026- Police Vehicle Equipment, issued November 18, 2025 (the “Solicitation”); 
• Contractor’s Proposal, dated December 16, 2025 (“Contractor’s Proposal”); 
• Contractor’s Price Proposal, dated December 16, 2025 (the “Price Proposal”); and 
• Any properly executed amendments to this Agreement. 

In the event of conflicting provisions, all documents will be construed according to the following 
priorities: 

• First, any properly executed amendment or change order to this Agreement (most recent 
amendment or change order given first priority); 

• Second, this Agreement; 
• Third, the Solicitation; 
• Lastly, Contractor’s Proposal. 

 

1. Duties and Responsibilities of Contractor.   
a. Scope of Work. Contractor is engaged to perform services as described in ITB 

specifications.   
b. Supervision and Superintendence of Work.   

1. Contractor will supervise and direct the work efficiently and with Contractor’s 
best skill and attention.  Contractor will be solely responsible for the means, 
methods, techniques, sequences and procedures of installation.  Contractor will 
be responsible to see that the finished work complies accurately with the 
Contract documents. 

2. Contractor will keep on the work site at all times during work progress a 
competent resident superintendent.  The superintendent will be Contractor’s 
representative at the site and shall have authority to act on behalf of Contractor.  
All communications given to the superintendent shall be as binding as if given to 
Contractor. 

c. Labor, Materials, and Equipment.  
1. Contractor will provide competent, suitably qualified personnel to perform the 

work as set forth in Contractor’s Bid.  The Contractor will at all times maintain 
good discipline and order at the site. 

2. The City reserves the right to purchase any combination of Equipment Sections 
and Labor.  For the options selected by the City, the Contractor will furnish all 
installation and/or equipment and equipment parts, machinery, tools, 
appliances, fuel, and all other incidentals necessary for the execution, testing, 
initial operation and completion of the work. 

3. All materials will be new, except as otherwise provided it the Contract 

Docusign Envelope ID: 01A94535-49D0-44A0-A13E-68AD1717901D



documents.  If required by the City, Contractor will furnish satisfactory evidence 
as to the kind and quality of materials and equipment. 

4. All materials and equipment shall be applied, installed, connected, erected, used, 
cleaned and conditioned in accordance with the instructions of the applicable 
manufacturer, fabricator or processors, except as otherwise provided in the 
Contract documents. 

d. Warranty and Guarantee.  The Contractor warrants to the City that: 
1. Unless otherwise provided for, all materials, machinery, and equipment used on 

the work shall be new, of the best quality in their kind and grade, and of the most 
efficient and effective design and type available for the purposes for which they 
are intended; 

2. All materials, machinery, and equipment conform in every respect with the 
specifications, drawings, approved samples, and other requirements of the 
Contract documents; 

3. Only such materials, machinery, and equipment shall be used on the work as have 
been produced or manufactured in accordance with the established and 
generally accepted standards for goods and workmanship of the type covered by 
the specifications and are of such a design and construction as to perform 
properly the function or work for which they are intended and to afford the 
maximum ease in upkeep and repair; 

4. The finish of the exterior surface of the materials, machinery and equipment used 
on the work shall be in accordance with the specifications, or if there are no 
applicable specifications, such finish shall be consistent with commercially 
accepted practices for the services to be rendered by the respective materials, 
machinery, and equipment; and, 

5. The Contractor agrees that all warranties in the Contract documents shall survive 
acceptance of, delivery of, and payment for, the goods, whether any defects shall 
be latent or patent, and agrees to indemnify and hold the City harmless from any 
loss, damage, or other expense, including attorneys’ fees, that the City may suffer 
as a result of the failure of the materials, machinery, and equipment or 
workmanship to be as warranted.  Each warranty with respect to any items other 
than machinery and equipment, shall expire sixty (60) months from the date of 
receipt by the City of such items and, with respect to machinery and equipment, 
twenty-four (24) months after the date of initial operation of such machinery and 
equipment.  The Contractor agrees to correct without expense to, and to the 
satisfaction of, the City, any defects that may develop in material, workmanship, 
and design during the period of such warranty. 

6. The warranties set forth in the preceding paragraph are cumulative and shall not 
exclude or affect the operation of any other warranty or guaranty provided by 
law or by the Contract documents. 

e. Subcontractors.   
1. Contractor will not employ any subcontractor to perform any of the work 

required under the Contract documents without first obtaining the written 
approval of the City’s designated representative to employ the subcontractor. 

2. Contractor will be fully responsible for all acts and omissions of any subcontractor 
and of persons directly or indirectly employed by them and of persons for whose 
acts any of them may be liable to the same extent that Contractor is responsible 
for the acts and omissions of persons directly employed by Contractor.  Nothing 

Docusign Envelope ID: 01A94535-49D0-44A0-A13E-68AD1717901D



in the Contract documents shall create any contractual relationships between 
any subcontractor and the City or any obligation on the part of the City to pay or 
to see to the payment of any moneys due any subcontractor, except as may 
otherwise be required by law.  The City may furnish to any subcontractor, to the 
extent practicable, evidence of amounts paid to Contractor on account of specific 
work done in accordance with the schedule of values. 

3. Contractor agrees to bind specifically every subcontractor to the applicable terms 
and conditions of the Contract documents for the benefit of the City. 

4. All work performed for Contractor by a subcontractor shall be pursuant to an 
appropriate written agreement between Contractor and the subcontractor. 

f. Permits 
Contractor will secure and pay for all permits and licenses and will pay all 
governmental charges and inspection fees necessary for the prosecution of the 
work, which are applicable at the time of Contractor’s bid.  Contractor will also 
pay all public utility charges. 

g. Use of Premises.   
1. Contractor will confine Contractor’s equipment, the storage of materials and 

equipment and the operations of Contractor’s workers to areas permitted by law, 
ordinances, permits, or the requirements of the Contract documents, and shall 
not unreasonably encumber the premises with materials or equipment.   

2. Contractor will not load nor permit any part of the structure to be loaded with 
weights that will endanger the structure, nor will Contractor subject any part of 
the work to stresses or pressures that will endanger it. 
 

h. Safety and Protection.  
1. Contractor will be responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising all 

safety precautions and programs in connection with the work.  Contractor will 
take all necessary precautions for the safety of, and will provide the necessary 
protection to prevent damage, injury or loss to: 

a. All employees on the work and other persons who may be affected 
thereby, 

b. All the work and all materials or equipment to be incorporated there, 
whether in storage on or off the site, and 

c. Other property at the site or adjacent property, including trees, shrubs, 
lawns, walks, pavements, roadways, structures and utilities not 
designated for removal, relocation or replacement in the course of 
installation.  

Contractor will comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, rules, regulations and 
order of any public body having jurisdiction for the safety of persons or property 
or to protect them from damage, injury or loss.  Contractor will erect and 
maintain, as required by the conditions and progress of the work, all necessary 
safeguards for safety and protection.  Contractor will notify the City of adjacent 
utilities when prosecution of the work may affect them.  All damage, injury, or 
loss to any property referred to in subparagraph (2) or (3) of this section caused 
directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, by Contractor, any subcontractor or 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or anyone for whose acts 
any of them may be liable, will be remedied by Contractor; except damage or loss 

Docusign Envelope ID: 01A94535-49D0-44A0-A13E-68AD1717901D



attributable to the fault of drawings or specifications or to the acts or omissions 
of the City or anyone employed by either of them or anyone for whose acts either 
of them may be liable, and not attributable, directly or indirectly, in whole or in 
part, to the fault or negligence of Contractor. 

2. Contractor will designate a responsible member of Contractor’s organization at 
the site whose duty shall be the prevention of accidents.  This person shall be 
Contractor’s superintendent unless otherwise designated in writing by 
Contractor to the City. 
 

i. Emergencies.  In emergencies affecting the safety of persons or the work or property at 
the site or adjacent property, Contractor, without special instruction or authorization 
from the City, is obligated to act, at Contractor’s discretion, to prevent threatened 
damage, injury or loss. 

j. Cleaning Up.  Contractor will keep the premises free from accumulations of waste 
materials, rubbish, and other debris resulting from the work, and at the completion of the 
work Contractor will remove all waste materials, rubbish and debris from and about the 
premises as well as all tools, construction equipment and machinery, and surplus 
materials, and will leave the site clean..  Contractor will restore to their original condition 
those portions of the site not designated for alteration by the Contract documents. 

k. Access to the Work.  Representatives of the City will at all times have access to the work.  
Contractor will provide proper facilities for such access and observation of the work and 
also for any inspection or testing by others. 

l. Contractor’s Continuing Obligation. Contractor’s obligation to perform the work and 
complete the Project in accordance with the Contract documents shall be absolute.  
Neither any payment by the City to Contractor under the Contract documents, nor any 
use or occupancy of the Project or any part by the City, nor any act of acceptance by the 
City nor any failure to do so, nor any correction of defective work by the City shall 
constitute acceptance of work not in accordance with the Contract documents. 
 

2. Term.    
The term of this Agreement commences on the Effective Date listed above and expires in one 
year, with four (4) one-year renewal options, unless extended by mutual agreement of Contractor 
and the City or earlier terminated as set forth herein Termination.  Contractor's services may be 
terminated in whole or in part: 

a. Upon 30-day prior notice, for the convenience of the City.   
b. For the convenience of Contractor, provided that Contractor notifies the City in writing 

of its intent to terminate under this paragraph at least 30 days prior to the effective date 
of the termination.  

c. For cause, by either party where the other party fails in any material way to perform its 
obligations under this Agreement.  Termination under this subsection is subject to the 
condition that the terminating party notifies the other party of its intent to terminate, 
stating with reasonable specificity the grounds therefore, and the other party fails to 
remedy the problem within 15 days after receiving the notice. 

d. Should Contractor fail to fulfill in a timely and proper manner its obligations under this 
Agreement or if it should violate any of the terms of this Agreement, the City has the 

Docusign Envelope ID: 01A94535-49D0-44A0-A13E-68AD1717901D



right to immediately terminate the Agreement.  Such termination does not relieve 
Contractor of any liability to the City for damages sustained by virtue of any breach by 
Contractor. 

e. Should the appropriation for Contractor’s work be withdrawn or modified, the City has 
the right to terminate the Agreement immediately upon written notice to Contractor. 

3. Price; Compensation; Method of Payment.   
Contractor will be compensated upon the delivery and acceptance of the goods and services 
specified in Contractor’s bid submitted and pricing as provided in response to ITB-16-2026, and 
as listed and attached in EXHIBIT A.  No quantities are guaranteed as a result of the ITB and this 
Contract. The City reserves the right to purchase any combination of Equipment Sections and 
Labor.  Any compensation due Contractor under the Agreement shall be made upon submittal of 
an invoice after performance of the portion of the services which each payment represents. The 
City agrees to pay Contractor after goods and/or services have been received, accepted, and 
properly invoiced as indicated in the Agreement and/or purchase order. The final payment shall 
be made only after Contractor has completely performed its duties under this Contract and the 
work has been accepted by the City and all work has been approved by authorized personnel from 
the Murfreesboro Police Department.  Invoices must bear the purchase order number. Final 
payment shall not be made until after performance is complete. All invoices should be sent to: 
accountspayable@murfreesborotn.gov 

4. Insurance.   
During the term of this Agreement, Contractor must maintain comprehensive general liability 
insurance with limits of not less than $1,000,000.00, as well as automotive and workers’ 
compensation insurance policies.  Contractor will provide to the City: (i) a standard certificate of 
insurance evidencing this coverage prior to commencement of work and upon renewal or 
expiration of the policies reflected thereupon, (ii) upon request, an endorsement naming the City 
as additional insured under the terms of the policy as follows: “The City of Murfreesboro, 
Tennessee, its officers, employees, contractors, consultants, and agents.”  Certificates of 
Insurance should be sent to: coi@murfreesborotn.gov.  Certificates of Insurance should identify 
the Project and reference the contract date. 

5. Indemnification.  
a. Contractor must indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the City, its officers, agents and 

employees from any claims, penalties, damages, costs and attorney fees (“Expenses”) 
arising from injuries or damages resulting from, in part or in whole, the negligent or 
intentional acts or omissions of contractor, its officers, employees and/or agents, 
including its subcontractors or independent contractors, in connection with the 
performance of this Agreement, and, Expenses arising from any failure of Contractor, its 
officers, employees and/or agents, including its subcontractors or independent 
contractors, to observe applicable laws, including, but not limited to, labor laws and 
minimum wage laws.  

b. Pursuant to Tennessee Attorney General Opinion 93-01, the City will not indemnify, 
defend or hold harmless in any fashion Contractor from any claims arising from any 
failure, regardless of any language in any attachment or other document that Contractor 
may provide. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 01A94535-49D0-44A0-A13E-68AD1717901D

mailto:accountspayable@murfreesborotn.gov


6. Notices.   
Notice of assignment of any rights to money due to Contractor under this Agreement must be 
mailed first class mail or hand delivered to the following: 

If to the City of Murfreesboro: 

City Manager 
City of Murfreesboro 
111 West Vine Street 
Murfreesboro, TN 37130 

If to Contractor:  
 
Dana Safety Supply, Inc. 
Attn: Christopher Rocha 
1900 Southerland Drive 
Nashville, TN 37207 
bids@danasafetysupply.com 

 

7. Maintenance of Records.   

Contractor must maintain documentation for all charges against the City. The books, records, and 
documents of Contractor, insofar as they relate to work performed or money received under the 
Agreement, must be maintained for a period of five full years from the date of final payment and 
will be subject to audit, at any reasonable time and upon reasonable notice by the City or its duly 
appointed representatives.  Accounting records must be maintained in accordance with the 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. 

8. Modification.   
This Agreement may be modified only by written amendment executed by all parties and their 
signatories hereto.  

9. Relationship of the Parties.   
Nothing herein may in any way be construed or intended to create a partnership or joint venture 
between the parties or to create the relationship of principal and agent between or among any of 
the parties.  None of the parties hereto may hold itself out in a manner contrary to the terms of 
this paragraph.  No party becomes liable for any representation, act, or omission of any other 
party contrary to this section. 

10. Waiver.   
No waiver of any provision of this Agreement affects the right of any party thereafter to enforce 
such provision or to exercise any right or remedy available to it in the event of any other default. 

11. Employment.   
Contractor may not subscribe to any personnel policy which permits or allows for the promotion, 
demotion, employment, dismissal or laying off of any individual due to race, creed, color, national 
origin, age, sex, veteran status, or any other status or class protected under federal or state law 
or which is in violation of applicable laws concerning the employment of individuals with 
disabilities. 

12. Non-Discrimination.  
It is the policy of the City not to discriminate on the basis of age, race, sex, color, national origin, 
veteran status, disability, or other status or class protected under federal or state law in its hiring 
and employment practices, or in admission to, access to, or operation of its programs, services, 
and activities. With regard to all aspects of this Agreement, Contractor certifies and warrants it 
will comply with this policy.  No person may be excluded from participation in, be denied benefits 

Docusign Envelope ID: 01A94535-49D0-44A0-A13E-68AD1717901D



of, be discriminated against in the admission or access to, or be discriminated against in treatment 
or employment in the City’s contracted programs or activities, on the grounds of handicap and/or 
disability, age, race, color, religion, sex, national origin, or any other classification protected by 
federal or Tennessee State Constitutional or statutory law; nor may they be excluded from 
participation in, be denied benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination in the 
performance of contracts with the City or in the employment practices of the City’s Contractors. 
Accordingly, all proposers entering into contracts with the City may upon request be required to 
show proof of such nondiscrimination and to post in conspicuous places that are available to all 
employees and applicants, notices of nondiscrimination.  

13. Gratuities and Kickbacks.  
It is a breach of ethical standards for any person to offer, give or agree to give any employee or 
former employee, or for any employee or former employee to solicit, demand, accept or agree to 
accept from another person, a gratuity or an offer of employment in connection with any decision, 
approval, disapproval, recommendation, preparation of any part of a program requirement or a 
purchase request, influencing the content of any specification or procurement standard, 
rendering of advice, investigation, auditing or in any other advisory capacity in any proceeding or 
application, request for ruling, determination, claim or controversy or other particular matter, 
pertaining to any program requirement of a contract or subcontract or to any solicitation or 
proposal therewith. It is a breach of ethical standards for any payment, gratuity or offer of 
employment to be made by or on behalf of a subcontractor under a contract to the prime 
contractor or higher tier subcontractor or a person associated therewith, as an inducement for 
the award of a subcontract or order. Breach of the provisions of this paragraph is, in addition to a 
breach of this Agreement, a breach of ethical standards which may result in civil or criminal 
sanction and/or debarment or suspension from being a contractor or subcontractor under the 
City contracts. 

14. Assignment.   
The provisions of this Agreement inure to the benefit of and are binding upon the respective 
successors and assignees of the parties hereto. Except for the rights of money due to Contractor 
under this Agreement, neither this Agreement nor any of the rights and obligations of Contractor 
hereunder may be assigned or transferred in whole or in part without the prior written consent 
of the City.  Any such assignment or transfer does not release Contractor from its obligations 
hereunder.   

15. Integration.  
This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject 
matter hereof and governs the respective duties and obligations of the parties. 

16. Force Majeure.   
No party has any liability to the other hereunder by reason of any delay or failure to perform any 
obligation or covenant if the delay or failure to perform is occasioned by force majeure, meaning 
any act of God, storm, fire, casualty, unanticipated work stoppage, strike, lockout, labor dispute, 
civil disturbance, riot, war, national emergency, act of public enemy, or other cause of similar or 
dissimilar nature beyond its control. 

17. Governing Law and Venue.  

Docusign Envelope ID: 01A94535-49D0-44A0-A13E-68AD1717901D



The validity, construction and effect of this Agreement and any and all extensions or modifications 
thereof are governed by the laws of the state of Tennessee regardless of choice of law doctrine 
or provision in any attachment or other document that Contractor may provide.  Any action 
between the parties arising from this agreement may only be filed in the courts of Rutherford 
County, Tennessee. 

18. Severability.   
Should any provision of this Agreement be declared to be invalid by any court of competent 
jurisdiction, such provision will be severed and not affect the validity of the remaining provisions 
of this Agreement. 

19. Attorney Fees.   
In the event any party takes legal action to enforce any provision of the Agreement, should the 
City prevail, Contractor will pay all expenses of such action including attorney fees, expenses, 
and costs at all stages of the litigation and dispute resolution. 

20. Iran Divestment Act of Tennessee.  
 By submission of the Contractor’s Bid, Contractor certifies, under penalty of perjury, that to the 
best of its knowledge and belief that Contractor is not on the list created pursuant to Tenn. 
Code Ann. §12-12-106. 

 
21. Non-Boycott of Israel.  

By submission of the Contractor’s Bid, Contractor certifies, under penalty of perjury, that to the 
best of its knowledge and belief that each supplier is not boycotting Israel pursuant to Tenn. 
Code Ann. § 12-4-119 and will not boycott Israel during the term of contract. This applies to 
contracts of $250,000 or more and to contractors with ten (10) or more employees. 

 
22. Effective Date.   

This Agreement is not binding upon the parties until signed by each of the Contractor and 
authorized representatives of the City and is thereafter effective as of the date set forth above.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties enter into this agreement as of the Effective Date first listed above. 

CITY OF MURFREESBORO, TENNESSEE 

By: ____________________________                                                   

      Shane McFarland, Mayor                                                                         

 

DANA SAFETY SUPPLY, INC. 

By: ____________________________                                                   

 Christopher Rocha, Bids Manager 

Approved as to Form: 

____________________________ 

Adam F. Tucker, City Attorney 

 

 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 01A94535-49D0-44A0-A13E-68AD1717901D



Section 1- Havis Parts Nashville, TN 

Name Part Number

Qty 
required 
per Unit 
Build Cost Each Extended Cost

Havis VSX Console C-VSX-1800-INUT 1 449.97$  449.97$  
Havis VSX Equipment Bracket C-EBX-FS-1 1 n/a included with console above
Havis Armrest  C-ARM-1001 1 193.75$  193.75$  
Havis Cupholder CUP2-1004 1 38.07$  38.07$  
USB Charger C-USB-3 1 61.36$  61.36$  
Havis Motion Device C-MD-119 1 215.34$  215.34$  
Havis Docking Station with Standard Port Replication and Havis Power 
Supply DS-PAN-435N 1 686.93$  686.93$  
Havis Panasonic Toughbook G2 Docking Station with standard port 
replication and power supply. DS-PAN-1015N 1 837.49$  837.49$  

Total Package Price for Section 1 2,482.91$  

Section 2- Jotto Parts

Name Part Number

Qty 
required 
per Unit 
Build Cost Each Extended Cost

Magnetic Mic 425-3816 2 29.81$  59.62$  

Total Package Price for Section 2 59.62$  

Section 3- Setina Parts

Name Part Number

Qty 
required 
per Unit 
Build Cost Each Extended Cost

Setina - Rear Cargo Partition with Coated Polycarbonate PK0316ITU252ND 1 464.86$  464.86$  
Setina -  #10XL Partition PK1130ITU20TM 1 734.74$  734.74$  
Setina – Rear Seat Insert ( Replaces Factory Seats ) QK0634ITU20 1 741.49$  741.49$  
Setina –  Center Pull Seatbelt System ( Non Smart Belt ) 1 n/a included with rear seat insert
Setina - Coated Polycarbonate window barrier WK0595ITU20 1 242.22$  242.22$  

Setina - Blac-Rac Firearms mount ( Dual Gun – Rifle and shotgun ) GK11191B1SHK 1 714.50$  714.50$  
Setina -  EZ Lift Floor System TK1423ITU20 1 1,025.55$  1,025.55$  

Total Package Price for Section 3 3,923.36$  3,923.36$  

Section 4- Lund Parts

Name Part Number

Qty 
required 
per Unit 
Build Cost Each Extended Cost

The Loft Dual Gun Vault with oversized rifle barrel mount LOFT-PIU20-2G 1 952.95$  952.95$  
Lund Loft Suppresor bracket LOFT-MBKTA-S 1 $  51.54 $  51.54
Shipping / Freight 

Total Package Price for Section 4 $  1,004.49

Section 5 - Federal Signal Parts

Name Part Number

Qty 
required 
per Unit 
Build Cost Each Extended Cost

Federal Signal -51” Valor Lightbar with low hook,  VALR51J-P2BL 1 NO BID Customer Supplied Equipment
Federal Signal –  Pathfinder 21 button with OBD cable PF400R 1 NO BID Customer Supplied Equipment
Federal Signal –  AS124 100w speaker 750501 2 NO BID Customer Supplied Equipment
Federal Signal –  AS124 speaker brackets ESB-FPIU25NDB 2 NO BID Customer Supplied Equipment
Federal Signal –  416900 Series corner lights 416918-BAW 2 NO BID Customer Supplied Equipment

Dana Safety Supply

Docusign Envelope ID: 01A94535-49D0-44A0-A13E-68AD1717901D



Federal Signal –  Compact Rumbler RBKIT2-Compact 1 NO BID Customer Supplied Equipment
Federal Signal –  Compact no drill brackets RBC2PB-FPIU20 1 NO BID Customer Supplied Equipment
Federal Signal –  Micro pulse lights MPS63U-BAW 10 NO BID Customer Supplied Equipment
Federal Signal – Xstream Dual Head XSM2-BWA-US 2 NO BID Customer Supplied Equipment
Federal Signal –  Xstream Single Head  XSM1-BWA-US 2 NO BID Customer Supplied Equipment
Federal Signal –  Push Bumper Center Only DFC-PB-FPIU25 1 NO BID Customer Supplied Equipment
Federal Signal –  Push Bumper top channel DFC-TC4L 1 NO BID Customer Supplied Equipment
Federal Signal –  24 channel expansion module EXPMOD24 2 NO BID Customer Supplied Equipment
Federal Signal – Running Board Light DR5-BAW 2 NO BID Customer Supplied Equipment
Federal Signal – Running Board Light Bracket  DR5BKT-RB-FPIU20 1 NO BID Customer Supplied Equipment
Shipping / Freight NO BID Customer Supplied Equipment
Total Package Price for Section 5 -$  

Section 6- Installation

Labor to install all of the above parts 2,995.00$  
Number of cars that can be fully outfitted per week 3-4 cars per week

Total for installation of all parts

Docusign Envelope ID: 01A94535-49D0-44A0-A13E-68AD1717901D



Agreement for  
Police Vehicle Equipment 

 

 This Agreement is entered into and effective as of ________________ (the “Effective Date”) by 
and between the City of Murfreesboro, a municipal corporation of the State of Tennessee (the "City"), 
and On Duty International LLC dba On Duty Depot, a limited liability company of the State of Kentucky 
(“Contractor”).   

This Agreement consists of the following documents: 

• This document 
• ITB-16-2026- Police Vehicle Equipment, issued November 18, 2025 (the “Solicitation”); 
• Contractor’s Proposal, dated December 4, 2025 (“Contractor’s Proposal”); 
• Contractor’s Price Proposal, dated December 4, 2025 (the “Price Proposal”); and 
• Any properly executed amendments to this Agreement. 

In the event of conflicting provisions, all documents will be construed according to the following 
priorities: 

• First, any properly executed amendment or change order to this Agreement (most recent 
amendment or change order given first priority); 

• Second, this Agreement; 
• Third, the Solicitation; 
• Lastly, Contractor’s Proposal. 

 

1. Duties and Responsibilities of Contractor.   
a. Scope of Work. Contractor is engaged to perform services as described in ITB 

specifications.   
b. Supervision and Superintendence of Work.   

1. Contractor will supervise and direct the work efficiently and with Contractor’s 
best skill and attention.  Contractor will be solely responsible for the means, 
methods, techniques, sequences and procedures of installation.  Contractor will 
be responsible to see that the finished work complies accurately with the 
Contract documents. 

2. Contractor will keep on the work site at all times during work progress a 
competent resident superintendent.  The superintendent will be Contractor’s 
representative at the site and shall have authority to act on behalf of Contractor.  
All communications given to the superintendent shall be as binding as if given to 
Contractor. 

c. Labor, Materials, and Equipment.  
1. Contractor will provide competent, suitably qualified personnel to perform the 

work as set forth in Contractor’s Bid.  The Contractor will at all times maintain 
good discipline and order at the site. 

2. The City reserves the right to purchase any combination of Equipment Sections 
and Labor.  For the options selected by the City, the Contractor will furnish all 
installation and/or equipment and equipment parts, machinery, tools, 
appliances, fuel, and all other incidentals necessary for the execution, testing, 
initial operation and completion of the work. 

Docusign Envelope ID: EC7B4EC8-B1BD-4F14-BD8F-79A3A4D1AF2F



3. All materials will be new, except as otherwise provided it the Contract 
documents.  If required by the City, Contractor will furnish satisfactory evidence 
as to the kind and quality of materials and equipment. 

4. All materials and equipment shall be applied, installed, connected, erected, used, 
cleaned and conditioned in accordance with the instructions of the applicable 
manufacturer, fabricator or processors, except as otherwise provided in the 
Contract documents. 

d. Warranty and Guarantee.  The Contractor warrants to the City that: 
1. Unless otherwise provided for, all materials, machinery, and equipment used on 

the work shall be new, of the best quality in their kind and grade, and of the most 
efficient and effective design and type available for the purposes for which they 
are intended; 

2. All materials, machinery, and equipment conform in every respect with the 
specifications, drawings, approved samples, and other requirements of the 
Contract documents; 

3. Only such materials, machinery, and equipment shall be used on the work as have 
been produced or manufactured in accordance with the established and 
generally accepted standards for goods and workmanship of the type covered by 
the specifications and are of such a design and construction as to perform 
properly the function or work for which they are intended and to afford the 
maximum ease in upkeep and repair; 

4. The finish of the exterior surface of the materials, machinery and equipment used 
on the work shall be in accordance with the specifications, or if there are no 
applicable specifications, such finish shall be consistent with commercially 
accepted practices for the services to be rendered by the respective materials, 
machinery, and equipment; and, 

5. The Contractor agrees that all warranties in the Contract documents shall survive 
acceptance of, delivery of, and payment for, the goods, whether any defects shall 
be latent or patent, and agrees to indemnify and hold the City harmless from any 
loss, damage, or other expense, including attorneys’ fees, that the City may suffer 
as a result of the failure of the materials, machinery, and equipment or 
workmanship to be as warranted.  Each warranty with respect to any items other 
than machinery and equipment, shall expire sixty (60) months from the date of 
receipt by the City of such items and, with respect to machinery and equipment, 
twenty-four (24) months after the date of initial operation of such machinery and 
equipment.  The Contractor agrees to correct without expense to, and to the 
satisfaction of, the City, any defects that may develop in material, workmanship, 
and design during the period of such warranty. 

6. The warranties set forth in the preceding paragraph are cumulative and shall not 
exclude or affect the operation of any other warranty or guaranty provided by 
law or by the Contract documents. 

e. Subcontractors.   
1. Contractor will not employ any subcontractor to perform any of the work 

required under the Contract documents without first obtaining the written 
approval of the City’s designated representative to employ the subcontractor. 

2. Contractor will be fully responsible for all acts and omissions of any subcontractor 
and of persons directly or indirectly employed by them and of persons for whose 
acts any of them may be liable to the same extent that Contractor is responsible 
for the acts and omissions of persons directly employed by Contractor.  Nothing 

Docusign Envelope ID: EC7B4EC8-B1BD-4F14-BD8F-79A3A4D1AF2F



in the Contract documents shall create any contractual relationships between 
any subcontractor and the City or any obligation on the part of the City to pay or 
to see to the payment of any moneys due any subcontractor, except as may 
otherwise be required by law.  The City may furnish to any subcontractor, to the 
extent practicable, evidence of amounts paid to Contractor on account of specific 
work done in accordance with the schedule of values. 

3. Contractor agrees to bind specifically every subcontractor to the applicable terms 
and conditions of the Contract documents for the benefit of the City. 

4. All work performed for Contractor by a subcontractor shall be pursuant to an 
appropriate written agreement between Contractor and the subcontractor. 

f. Permits 
Contractor will secure and pay for all permits and licenses and will pay all 
governmental charges and inspection fees necessary for the prosecution of the 
work, which are applicable at the time of Contractor’s bid.  Contractor will also 
pay all public utility charges. 

g. Use of Premises.   
1. Contractor will confine Contractor’s equipment, the storage of materials and 

equipment and the operations of Contractor’s workers to areas permitted by law, 
ordinances, permits, or the requirements of the Contract documents, and shall 
not unreasonably encumber the premises with materials or equipment.   

2. Contractor will not load nor permit any part of the structure to be loaded with 
weights that will endanger the structure, nor will Contractor subject any part of 
the work to stresses or pressures that will endanger it. 
 

h. Safety and Protection.  
1. Contractor will be responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising all 

safety precautions and programs in connection with the work.  Contractor will 
take all necessary precautions for the safety of, and will provide the necessary 
protection to prevent damage, injury or loss to: 

a. All employees on the work and other persons who may be affected 
thereby, 

b. All the work and all materials or equipment to be incorporated there, 
whether in storage on or off the site, and 

c. Other property at the site or adjacent property, including trees, shrubs, 
lawns, walks, pavements, roadways, structures and utilities not 
designated for removal, relocation or replacement in the course of 
installation.  

Contractor will comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, rules, regulations and 
order of any public body having jurisdiction for the safety of persons or property 
or to protect them from damage, injury or loss.  Contractor will erect and 
maintain, as required by the conditions and progress of the work, all necessary 
safeguards for safety and protection.  Contractor will notify the City of adjacent 
utilities when prosecution of the work may affect them.  All damage, injury, or 
loss to any property referred to in subparagraph (2) or (3) of this section caused 
directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, by Contractor, any subcontractor or 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or anyone for whose acts 
any of them may be liable, will be remedied by Contractor; except damage or loss 

Docusign Envelope ID: EC7B4EC8-B1BD-4F14-BD8F-79A3A4D1AF2F



attributable to the fault of drawings or specifications or to the acts or omissions 
of the City or anyone employed by either of them or anyone for whose acts either 
of them may be liable, and not attributable, directly or indirectly, in whole or in 
part, to the fault or negligence of Contractor. 

2. Contractor will designate a responsible member of Contractor’s organization at 
the site whose duty shall be the prevention of accidents.  This person shall be 
Contractor’s superintendent unless otherwise designated in writing by 
Contractor to the City. 
 

i. Emergencies.  In emergencies affecting the safety of persons or the work or property at 
the site or adjacent property, Contractor, without special instruction or authorization 
from the City, is obligated to act, at Contractor’s discretion, to prevent threatened 
damage, injury or loss. 

j. Cleaning Up.  Contractor will keep the premises free from accumulations of waste 
materials, rubbish, and other debris resulting from the work, and at the completion of the 
work Contractor will remove all waste materials, rubbish and debris from and about the 
premises as well as all tools, construction equipment and machinery, and surplus 
materials, and will leave the site clean..  Contractor will restore to their original condition 
those portions of the site not designated for alteration by the Contract documents. 

k. Access to the Work.  Representatives of the City will at all times have access to the work.  
Contractor will provide proper facilities for such access and observation of the work and 
also for any inspection or testing by others. 

l. Contractor’s Continuing Obligation. Contractor’s obligation to perform the work and 
complete the Project in accordance with the Contract documents shall be absolute.  
Neither any payment by the City to Contractor under the Contract documents, nor any 
use or occupancy of the Project or any part by the City, nor any act of acceptance by the 
City nor any failure to do so, nor any correction of defective work by the City shall 
constitute acceptance of work not in accordance with the Contract documents. 
 

2. Term.    
The term of this Agreement commences on the Effective Date listed above and expires in one 
year, with four (4) one-year renewal options, unless extended by mutual agreement of Contractor 
and the City or earlier terminated as set forth herein Termination.  Contractor's services may be 
terminated in whole or in part: 

a. Upon 30-day prior notice, for the convenience of the City.   
b. For the convenience of Contractor, provided that Contractor notifies the City in writing 

of its intent to terminate under this paragraph at least 30 days prior to the effective date 
of the termination.  

c. For cause, by either party where the other party fails in any material way to perform its 
obligations under this Agreement.  Termination under this subsection is subject to the 
condition that the terminating party notifies the other party of its intent to terminate, 
stating with reasonable specificity the grounds therefore, and the other party fails to 
remedy the problem within 15 days after receiving the notice. 

d. Should Contractor fail to fulfill in a timely and proper manner its obligations under this 
Agreement or if it should violate any of the terms of this Agreement, the City has the 
right to immediately terminate the Agreement.  Such termination does not relieve 

Docusign Envelope ID: EC7B4EC8-B1BD-4F14-BD8F-79A3A4D1AF2F



Contractor of any liability to the City for damages sustained by virtue of any breach by 
Contractor. 

e. Should the appropriation for Contractor’s work be withdrawn or modified, the City has 
the right to terminate the Agreement immediately upon written notice to Contractor. 

3. Price; Compensation; Method of Payment.   
Contractor will be compensated upon the delivery and acceptance of the goods and services 
specified in Contractor’s bid submitted and pricing as provided in response to ITB-16-2026, and 
as listed and attached in EXHIBIT A.  No quantities are guaranteed as a result of the ITB and this 
Contract. The City reserves the right to purchase any combination of Equipment Sections and 
Labor.  Any compensation due Contractor under the Agreement shall be made upon submittal of 
an invoice after performance of the portion of the services which each payment represents. The 
City agrees to pay Contractor after goods and/or services have been received, accepted, and 
properly invoiced as indicated in the Agreement and/or purchase order. The final payment shall 
be made only after Contractor has completely performed its duties under this Contract and the 
work has been accepted by the City and all work has been approved by authorized personnel from 
the Murfreesboro Police Department.  Invoices must bear the purchase order number. Final 
payment shall not be made until after performance is complete. All invoices should be sent to: 
accountspayable@murfreesborotn.gov 

4. Insurance.   
During the term of this Agreement, Contractor must maintain comprehensive general liability 
insurance with limits of not less than $1,000,000.00, as well as automotive and workers’ 
compensation insurance policies.  Contractor will provide to the City: (i) a standard certificate of 
insurance evidencing this coverage prior to commencement of work and upon renewal or 
expiration of the policies reflected thereupon, (ii) upon request, an endorsement naming the City 
as additional insured under the terms of the policy as follows: “The City of Murfreesboro, 
Tennessee, its officers, employees, contractors, consultants, and agents.”  Certificates of 
Insurance should be sent to: coi@murfreesborotn.gov.  Certificates of Insurance should identify 
the Project and reference the contract date. 

5. Indemnification.  
a. Contractor must indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the City, its officers, agents and 

employees from any claims, penalties, damages, costs and attorney fees (“Expenses”) 
arising from injuries or damages resulting from, in part or in whole, the negligent or 
intentional acts or omissions of contractor, its officers, employees and/or agents, 
including its subcontractors or independent contractors, in connection with the 
performance of this Agreement, and, Expenses arising from any failure of Contractor, its 
officers, employees and/or agents, including its subcontractors or independent 
contractors, to observe applicable laws, including, but not limited to, labor laws and 
minimum wage laws.  

b. Pursuant to Tennessee Attorney General Opinion 93-01, the City will not indemnify, 
defend or hold harmless in any fashion Contractor from any claims arising from any 
failure, regardless of any language in any attachment or other document that Contractor 
may provide. 

Docusign Envelope ID: EC7B4EC8-B1BD-4F14-BD8F-79A3A4D1AF2F

mailto:accountspayable@murfreesborotn.gov


6. Notices.   
Notice of assignment of any rights to money due to Contractor under this Agreement must be 
mailed first class mail or hand delivered to the following: 

If to the City of Murfreesboro: 

City Manager 
City of Murfreesboro 
111 West Vine Street 
Murfreesboro, TN 37130 

If to Contractor:  
 
On Duty International LLC dba On Duty Depot 
Attn: Dan Poteete 
234 South Point Court 
Murfreesboro, TN 37130 
Dan.Poteete@ondutydepot.us 

 

7. Maintenance of Records.   

Contractor must maintain documentation for all charges against the City. The books, records, and 
documents of Contractor, insofar as they relate to work performed or money received under the 
Agreement, must be maintained for a period of five full years from the date of final payment and 
will be subject to audit, at any reasonable time and upon reasonable notice by the City or its duly 
appointed representatives.  Accounting records must be maintained in accordance with the 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. 

8. Modification.   
This Agreement may be modified only by written amendment executed by all parties and their 
signatories hereto.  

9. Relationship of the Parties.   
Nothing herein may in any way be construed or intended to create a partnership or joint venture 
between the parties or to create the relationship of principal and agent between or among any of 
the parties.  None of the parties hereto may hold itself out in a manner contrary to the terms of 
this paragraph.  No party becomes liable for any representation, act, or omission of any other 
party contrary to this section. 

10. Waiver.   
No waiver of any provision of this Agreement affects the right of any party thereafter to enforce 
such provision or to exercise any right or remedy available to it in the event of any other default. 

11. Employment.   
Contractor may not subscribe to any personnel policy which permits or allows for the promotion, 
demotion, employment, dismissal or laying off of any individual due to race, creed, color, national 
origin, age, sex, veteran status, or any other status or class protected under federal or state law 
or which is in violation of applicable laws concerning the employment of individuals with 
disabilities. 

12. Non-Discrimination.  
It is the policy of the City not to discriminate on the basis of age, race, sex, color, national origin, 
veteran status, disability, or other status or class protected under federal or state law in its hiring 
and employment practices, or in admission to, access to, or operation of its programs, services, 
and activities. With regard to all aspects of this Agreement, Contractor certifies and warrants it 
will comply with this policy.  No person may be excluded from participation in, be denied benefits 

Docusign Envelope ID: EC7B4EC8-B1BD-4F14-BD8F-79A3A4D1AF2F



of, be discriminated against in the admission or access to, or be discriminated against in treatment 
or employment in the City’s contracted programs or activities, on the grounds of handicap and/or 
disability, age, race, color, religion, sex, national origin, or any other classification protected by 
federal or Tennessee State Constitutional or statutory law; nor may they be excluded from 
participation in, be denied benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination in the 
performance of contracts with the City or in the employment practices of the City’s Contractors. 
Accordingly, all proposers entering into contracts with the City may upon request be required to 
show proof of such nondiscrimination and to post in conspicuous places that are available to all 
employees and applicants, notices of nondiscrimination.  

13. Gratuities and Kickbacks.  
It is a breach of ethical standards for any person to offer, give or agree to give any employee or 
former employee, or for any employee or former employee to solicit, demand, accept or agree to 
accept from another person, a gratuity or an offer of employment in connection with any decision, 
approval, disapproval, recommendation, preparation of any part of a program requirement or a 
purchase request, influencing the content of any specification or procurement standard, 
rendering of advice, investigation, auditing or in any other advisory capacity in any proceeding or 
application, request for ruling, determination, claim or controversy or other particular matter, 
pertaining to any program requirement of a contract or subcontract or to any solicitation or 
proposal therewith. It is a breach of ethical standards for any payment, gratuity or offer of 
employment to be made by or on behalf of a subcontractor under a contract to the prime 
contractor or higher tier subcontractor or a person associated therewith, as an inducement for 
the award of a subcontract or order. Breach of the provisions of this paragraph is, in addition to a 
breach of this Agreement, a breach of ethical standards which may result in civil or criminal 
sanction and/or debarment or suspension from being a contractor or subcontractor under the 
City contracts. 

14. Assignment.   
The provisions of this Agreement inure to the benefit of and are binding upon the respective 
successors and assignees of the parties hereto. Except for the rights of money due to Contractor 
under this Agreement, neither this Agreement nor any of the rights and obligations of Contractor 
hereunder may be assigned or transferred in whole or in part without the prior written consent 
of the City.  Any such assignment or transfer does not release Contractor from its obligations 
hereunder.   

15. Integration.  
This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject 
matter hereof and governs the respective duties and obligations of the parties. 

16. Force Majeure.   
No party has any liability to the other hereunder by reason of any delay or failure to perform any 
obligation or covenant if the delay or failure to perform is occasioned by force majeure, meaning 
any act of God, storm, fire, casualty, unanticipated work stoppage, strike, lockout, labor dispute, 
civil disturbance, riot, war, national emergency, act of public enemy, or other cause of similar or 
dissimilar nature beyond its control. 

17. Governing Law and Venue.  

Docusign Envelope ID: EC7B4EC8-B1BD-4F14-BD8F-79A3A4D1AF2F



The validity, construction and effect of this Agreement and any and all extensions or modifications 
thereof are governed by the laws of the state of Tennessee regardless of choice of law doctrine 
or provision in any attachment or other document that Contractor may provide.  Any action 
between the parties arising from this agreement may only be filed in the courts of Rutherford 
County, Tennessee. 

18. Severability.   
Should any provision of this Agreement be declared to be invalid by any court of competent 
jurisdiction, such provision will be severed and not affect the validity of the remaining provisions 
of this Agreement. 

19. Attorney Fees.   
In the event any party takes legal action to enforce any provision of the Agreement, should the 
City prevail, Contractor will pay all expenses of such action including attorney fees, expenses, 
and costs at all stages of the litigation and dispute resolution. 

20. Iran Divestment Act of Tennessee.  
 By submission of the Contractor’s Bid, Contractor certifies, under penalty of perjury, that to the 
best of its knowledge and belief that Contractor is not on the list created pursuant to Tenn. 
Code Ann. §12-12-106. 

 
21. Non-Boycott of Israel.  

By submission of the Contractor’s Bid, Contractor certifies, under penalty of perjury, that to the 
best of its knowledge and belief that each supplier is not boycotting Israel pursuant to Tenn. 
Code Ann. § 12-4-119 and will not boycott Israel during the term of contract. This applies to 
contracts of $250,000 or more and to contractors with ten (10) or more employees. 

 
22. Effective Date.   

This Agreement is not binding upon the parties until signed by each of the Contractor and 
authorized representatives of the City and is thereafter effective as of the date set forth above.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties enter into this agreement as of the Effective Date first listed above. 

 

CITY OF MURFREESBORO, TENNESSEE 

By: ____________________________                                                   

      Shane McFarland, Mayor                                                                         

 

ON DUTY INTERNATIONAL LLC dba ON DUTY 
DEPOT 

By: ____________________________                                                   

 John Bradley, Sales Manager 

Approved as to Form: 

____________________________ 

Adam F. Tucker, City Attorney 

 

 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: EC7B4EC8-B1BD-4F14-BD8F-79A3A4D1AF2F



Section 1- Havis Parts Murfreesboro, TN 

Name Part Number

Qty 
required 
per Unit 
Build Cost Each Extended Cost

Havis VSX Console C-VSX-1800-INUT 1 528.00$                                 528.00$                                           
Havis VSX Equipment Bracket C-EBX-FS-1 1 22.67$                                    22.67$                                             
Havis Armrest  C-ARM-1001 1 227.33$                                 227.33$                                           
Havis Cupholder CUP2-1004 1 44.67$                                    44.67$                                             
USB Charger C-USB-3 1 72.00$                                    72.00$                                             
Havis Motion Device C-MD-119 1 252.67$                                 252.67$                                           
Havis Docking Station with Standard Port Replication and Havis Power 
Supply DS-PAN-435N 1 806.00$                                 806.00$                                           
Havis Panasonic Toughbook G2 Docking Station with standard port 
replication and power supply. DS-PAN-1015N 1 982.67$                                 982.67$                                           

Total Package Price for Section 1 2,936.01$                                        

Section 2- Jotto Parts

Name Part Number

Qty 
required 
per Unit 
Build Cost Each Extended Cost

Magnetic Mic 425-3816 2 36.00$                                    72.00$                                             

Total Package Price for Section 2 72.00$                                             

Section 3- Setina Parts

Name Part Number

Qty 
required 
per Unit 
Build Cost Each Extended Cost

Setina - Rear Cargo Partition with Coated Polycarbonate PK0316ITU252ND 1 488.18$                                 488.18$                                           
Setina -  #10XL Partition PK1130ITU20TM 1 771.60$                                 771.60$                                           
Setina – Rear Seat Insert ( Replaces Factory Seats ) QK0634ITU20 1 778.68$                                 778.68$                                           
Setina –  Center Pull Seatbelt System ( Non Smart Belt ) 1 -$                                                      -$                                                                   
Setina - Coated Polycarbonate window barrier WK0595ITU20 1 254.58$                                 254.58$                                           

Setina - Blac-Rac Firearms mount ( Dual Gun – Rifle and shotgun ) GK11191B1SHK 1 750.30$                                 750.30$                                           
Setina -  EZ Lift Floor System TK1423ITU20 1 1,104.61$                              1,104.61$                                        

Total Package Price for Section 3 4,147.95$                              4,147.95$                                        

Section 4- Lund Parts

Name Part Number

Qty 
required 
per Unit 
Build Cost Each Extended Cost

The Loft Dual Gun Vault with oversized rifle barrel mount LOFT-PIU20-2G 1 987.82$                                 987.82$                                           
Lund Loft Suppresor bracket LOFT-MBKTA-S 1 61.06$                                    61.06$                                             
Shipping / Freight 

Total Package Price for Section 4 1,048.88$                                        

Section 5 - Federal Signal Parts

Name Part Number

Qty 
required 
per Unit 
Build Cost Each Extended Cost

Federal Signal -51” Valor Lightbar with low hook,  VALR51J-P2BL 1 2,347.56$                              2,347.56$                                        
Federal Signal –  Pathfinder 21 button with OBD cable PF400R 1 1,463.41$                              1,463.41$                                        
Federal Signal –  AS124 100w speaker 750501 2 152.44$                                 304.88$                                           
Federal Signal –  AS124 speaker brackets ESB-FPIU25NDB 2 28.05$                                    56.10$                                             
Federal Signal –  416900 Series corner lights 416918-BAW 2 69.51$                                    139.02$                                           

On Duty Depot Murfreesboro

Docusign Envelope ID: EC7B4EC8-B1BD-4F14-BD8F-79A3A4D1AF2F



Federal Signal –  Compact Rumbler RBKIT2-Compact 1 402.44$                                 402.44$                                           
Federal Signal –  Compact no drill brackets RBC2PB-FPIU20 1 45.12$                                    45.12$                                             
Federal Signal –  Micro pulse lights MPS63U-BAW 10 97.56$                                    975.60$                                           
Federal Signal – Xstream Dual Head XSM2-BWA-US 2 195.12$                                 390.24$                                           
Federal Signal –  Xstream Single Head  XSM1-BWA-US 2 85.37$                                    170.74$                                           
Federal Signal –  Push Bumper Center Only DFC-PB-FPIU25 1 482.93$                                 482.93$                                           
Federal Signal –  Push Bumper top channel DFC-TC4L 1 31.71$                                    31.71$                                             
Federal Signal –  24 channel expansion module EXPMOD24 2 231.71$                                 463.42$                                           
Federal Signal – Running Board Light DR5-BAW 2 914.63$                                 1,829.26$                                        
Federal Signal – Running Board Light Bracket  DR5BKT-RB-FPIU20 1 60.98$                                    60.98$                                             
Shipping / Freight 
Total Package Price for Section 5 9,163.41$                                                       

Section 6- Installation

Labor to install all of the above parts 2,700.00$                                        
Number of cars that can be fully outfitted per week 2 cars per week

 
Total for installation of all parts

Docusign Envelope ID: EC7B4EC8-B1BD-4F14-BD8F-79A3A4D1AF2F



Agreement for  
Police Vehicle Equipment 

 

 This Agreement is entered into and effective as of ________________ (the “Effective Date”) by 
and between the City of Murfreesboro, a municipal corporation of the State of Tennessee (the "City"), 
and Truckers Lighthouse, LLC, a limited liability company the State of Tennessee (“Contractor”).   

This Agreement consists of the following documents: 

• This document 
• ITB-16-2026- Police Vehicle Equipment, issued November 18, 2025 (the “Solicitation”); 
• Contractor’s Proposal, dated December 16, 2025 (“Contractor’s Proposal”); 
• Contractor’s Price Proposal, dated December 16, 2025 (the “Price Proposal”); and 
• Any properly executed amendments to this Agreement. 

In the event of conflicting provisions, all documents will be construed according to the following 
priorities: 

• First, any properly executed amendment or change order to this Agreement (most recent 
amendment or change order given first priority); 

• Second, this Agreement; 
• Third, the Solicitation; 
• Lastly, Contractor’s Proposal. 

 

1. Duties and Responsibilities of Contractor.   
a. Scope of Work. Contractor is engaged to perform services as described in ITB 

specifications.   
b. Supervision and Superintendence of Work.   

1. Contractor will supervise and direct the work efficiently and with Contractor’s 
best skill and attention.  Contractor will be solely responsible for the means, 
methods, techniques, sequences and procedures of installation.  Contractor will 
be responsible to see that the finished work complies accurately with the 
Contract documents. 

2. Contractor will keep on the work site at all times during work progress a 
competent resident superintendent.  The superintendent will be Contractor’s 
representative at the site and shall have authority to act on behalf of Contractor.  
All communications given to the superintendent shall be as binding as if given to 
Contractor. 

c. Labor, Materials, and Equipment.  
1. Contractor will provide competent, suitably qualified personnel to perform the 

work as set forth in Contractor’s Bid.  The Contractor will at all times maintain 
good discipline and order at the site. 

2. The City reserves the right to purchase any combination of Equipment Sections 
and Labor.  For the options selected by the City, the Contractor will furnish all 
installation and/or equipment and equipment parts, machinery, tools, 
appliances, fuel, and all other incidentals necessary for the execution, testing, 
initial operation and completion of the work. 

3. All materials will be new, except as otherwise provided it the Contract 

Docusign Envelope ID: 007E7507-A326-4246-957F-BEB59AB9D9F8



documents.  If required by the City, Contractor will furnish satisfactory evidence 
as to the kind and quality of materials and equipment. 

4. All materials and equipment shall be applied, installed, connected, erected, used, 
cleaned and conditioned in accordance with the instructions of the applicable 
manufacturer, fabricator or processors, except as otherwise provided in the 
Contract documents. 

d. Warranty and Guarantee.  The Contractor warrants to the City that: 
1. Unless otherwise provided for, all materials, machinery, and equipment used on 

the work shall be new, of the best quality in their kind and grade, and of the most 
efficient and effective design and type available for the purposes for which they 
are intended; 

2. All materials, machinery, and equipment conform in every respect with the 
specifications, drawings, approved samples, and other requirements of the 
Contract documents; 

3. Only such materials, machinery, and equipment shall be used on the work as have 
been produced or manufactured in accordance with the established and 
generally accepted standards for goods and workmanship of the type covered by 
the specifications and are of such a design and construction as to perform 
properly the function or work for which they are intended and to afford the 
maximum ease in upkeep and repair; 

4. The finish of the exterior surface of the materials, machinery and equipment used 
on the work shall be in accordance with the specifications, or if there are no 
applicable specifications, such finish shall be consistent with commercially 
accepted practices for the services to be rendered by the respective materials, 
machinery, and equipment; and, 

5. The Contractor agrees that all warranties in the Contract documents shall survive 
acceptance of, delivery of, and payment for, the goods, whether any defects shall 
be latent or patent, and agrees to indemnify and hold the City harmless from any 
loss, damage, or other expense, including attorneys’ fees, that the City may suffer 
as a result of the failure of the materials, machinery, and equipment or 
workmanship to be as warranted.  Each warranty with respect to any items other 
than machinery and equipment, shall expire sixty (60) months from the date of 
receipt by the City of such items and, with respect to machinery and equipment, 
twenty-four (24) months after the date of initial operation of such machinery and 
equipment.  The Contractor agrees to correct without expense to, and to the 
satisfaction of, the City, any defects that may develop in material, workmanship, 
and design during the period of such warranty. 

6. The warranties set forth in the preceding paragraph are cumulative and shall not 
exclude or affect the operation of any other warranty or guaranty provided by 
law or by the Contract documents. 

e. Subcontractors.   
1. Contractor will not employ any subcontractor to perform any of the work 

required under the Contract documents without first obtaining the written 
approval of the City’s designated representative to employ the subcontractor. 

2. Contractor will be fully responsible for all acts and omissions of any subcontractor 
and of persons directly or indirectly employed by them and of persons for whose 
acts any of them may be liable to the same extent that Contractor is responsible 
for the acts and omissions of persons directly employed by Contractor.  Nothing 
in the Contract documents shall create any contractual relationships between 

Docusign Envelope ID: 007E7507-A326-4246-957F-BEB59AB9D9F8



any subcontractor and the City or any obligation on the part of the City to pay or 
to see to the payment of any moneys due any subcontractor, except as may 
otherwise be required by law.  The City may furnish to any subcontractor, to the 
extent practicable, evidence of amounts paid to Contractor on account of specific 
work done in accordance with the schedule of values. 

3. Contractor agrees to bind specifically every subcontractor to the applicable terms 
and conditions of the Contract documents for the benefit of the City. 

4. All work performed for Contractor by a subcontractor shall be pursuant to an 
appropriate written agreement between Contractor and the subcontractor. 

f. Permits 
Contractor will secure and pay for all permits and licenses and will pay all 
governmental charges and inspection fees necessary for the prosecution of the 
work, which are applicable at the time of Contractor’s bid.  Contractor will also 
pay all public utility charges. 

g. Use of Premises.   
1. Contractor will confine Contractor’s equipment, the storage of materials and 

equipment and the operations of Contractor’s workers to areas permitted by law, 
ordinances, permits, or the requirements of the Contract documents, and shall 
not unreasonably encumber the premises with materials or equipment.   

2. Contractor will not load nor permit any part of the structure to be loaded with 
weights that will endanger the structure, nor will Contractor subject any part of 
the work to stresses or pressures that will endanger it. 
 

h. Safety and Protection.  
1. Contractor will be responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising all 

safety precautions and programs in connection with the work.  Contractor will 
take all necessary precautions for the safety of, and will provide the necessary 
protection to prevent damage, injury or loss to: 

a. All employees on the work and other persons who may be affected 
thereby, 

b. All the work and all materials or equipment to be incorporated there, 
whether in storage on or off the site, and 

c. Other property at the site or adjacent property, including trees, shrubs, 
lawns, walks, pavements, roadways, structures and utilities not 
designated for removal, relocation or replacement in the course of 
installation.  

Contractor will comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, rules, regulations and 
order of any public body having jurisdiction for the safety of persons or property 
or to protect them from damage, injury or loss.  Contractor will erect and 
maintain, as required by the conditions and progress of the work, all necessary 
safeguards for safety and protection.  Contractor will notify the City of adjacent 
utilities when prosecution of the work may affect them.  All damage, injury, or 
loss to any property referred to in subparagraph (2) or (3) of this section caused 
directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, by Contractor, any subcontractor or 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or anyone for whose acts 
any of them may be liable, will be remedied by Contractor; except damage or loss 
attributable to the fault of drawings or specifications or to the acts or omissions 

Docusign Envelope ID: 007E7507-A326-4246-957F-BEB59AB9D9F8



of the City or anyone employed by either of them or anyone for whose acts either 
of them may be liable, and not attributable, directly or indirectly, in whole or in 
part, to the fault or negligence of Contractor. 

2. Contractor will designate a responsible member of Contractor’s organization at 
the site whose duty shall be the prevention of accidents.  This person shall be 
Contractor’s superintendent unless otherwise designated in writing by 
Contractor to the City. 
 

i. Emergencies.  In emergencies affecting the safety of persons or the work or property at 
the site or adjacent property, Contractor, without special instruction or authorization 
from the City, is obligated to act, at Contractor’s discretion, to prevent threatened 
damage, injury or loss. 

j. Cleaning Up.  Contractor will keep the premises free from accumulations of waste 
materials, rubbish, and other debris resulting from the work, and at the completion of the 
work Contractor will remove all waste materials, rubbish and debris from and about the 
premises as well as all tools, construction equipment and machinery, and surplus 
materials, and will leave the site clean..  Contractor will restore to their original condition 
those portions of the site not designated for alteration by the Contract documents. 

k. Access to the Work.  Representatives of the City will at all times have access to the work.  
Contractor will provide proper facilities for such access and observation of the work and 
also for any inspection or testing by others. 

l. Contractor’s Continuing Obligation. Contractor’s obligation to perform the work and 
complete the Project in accordance with the Contract documents shall be absolute.  
Neither any payment by the City to Contractor under the Contract documents, nor any 
use or occupancy of the Project or any part by the City, nor any act of acceptance by the 
City nor any failure to do so, nor any correction of defective work by the City shall 
constitute acceptance of work not in accordance with the Contract documents. 
 

2. Term.    
The term of this Agreement commences on the Effective Date listed above and expires in one 
year, with four (4) one-year renewal options, unless extended by mutual agreement of Contractor 
and the City or earlier terminated as set forth herein Termination.  Contractor's services may be 
terminated in whole or in part: 

a. Upon 30-day prior notice, for the convenience of the City.   
b. For the convenience of Contractor, provided that Contractor notifies the City in writing 

of its intent to terminate under this paragraph at least 30 days prior to the effective date 
of the termination.  

c. For cause, by either party where the other party fails in any material way to perform its 
obligations under this Agreement.  Termination under this subsection is subject to the 
condition that the terminating party notifies the other party of its intent to terminate, 
stating with reasonable specificity the grounds therefore, and the other party fails to 
remedy the problem within 15 days after receiving the notice. 

d. Should Contractor fail to fulfill in a timely and proper manner its obligations under this 
Agreement or if it should violate any of the terms of this Agreement, the City has the 
right to immediately terminate the Agreement.  Such termination does not relieve 

Docusign Envelope ID: 007E7507-A326-4246-957F-BEB59AB9D9F8



Contractor of any liability to the City for damages sustained by virtue of any breach by 
Contractor. 

e. Should the appropriation for Contractor’s work be withdrawn or modified, the City has 
the right to terminate the Agreement immediately upon written notice to Contractor. 

3. Price; Compensation; Method of Payment.   
Contractor will be compensated upon the delivery and acceptance of the goods and services 
specified in Contractor’s bid submitted and pricing as provided in response to ITB-16-2026, and 
as listed and attached in EXHIBIT A.  No quantities are guaranteed as a result of the ITB and this 
Contract. The City reserves the right to purchase any combination of Equipment Sections and 
Labor.  Any compensation due Contractor under the Agreement shall be made upon submittal of 
an invoice after performance of the portion of the services which each payment represents. The 
City agrees to pay Contractor after goods and/or services have been received, accepted, and 
properly invoiced as indicated in the Agreement and/or purchase order. The final payment shall 
be made only after Contractor has completely performed its duties under this Contract and the 
work has been accepted by the City and all work has been approved by authorized personnel from 
the Murfreesboro Police Department.  Invoices must bear the purchase order number. Final 
payment shall not be made until after performance is complete. All invoices should be sent to: 
accountspayable@murfreesborotn.gov 

4. Insurance.   
During the term of this Agreement, Contractor must maintain comprehensive general liability 
insurance with limits of not less than $1,000,000.00, as well as automotive and workers’ 
compensation insurance policies.  Contractor will provide to the City: (i) a standard certificate of 
insurance evidencing this coverage prior to commencement of work and upon renewal or 
expiration of the policies reflected thereupon, (ii) upon request, an endorsement naming the City 
as additional insured under the terms of the policy as follows: “The City of Murfreesboro, 
Tennessee, its officers, employees, contractors, consultants, and agents.”  Certificates of 
Insurance should be sent to: coi@murfreesborotn.gov.  Certificates of Insurance should identify 
the Project and reference the contract date. 

5. Indemnification.  
a. Contractor must indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the City, its officers, agents and 

employees from any claims, penalties, damages, costs and attorney fees (“Expenses”) 
arising from injuries or damages resulting from, in part or in whole, the negligent or 
intentional acts or omissions of contractor, its officers, employees and/or agents, 
including its subcontractors or independent contractors, in connection with the 
performance of this Agreement, and, Expenses arising from any failure of Contractor, its 
officers, employees and/or agents, including its subcontractors or independent 
contractors, to observe applicable laws, including, but not limited to, labor laws and 
minimum wage laws.  

b. Pursuant to Tennessee Attorney General Opinion 93-01, the City will not indemnify, 
defend or hold harmless in any fashion Contractor from any claims arising from any 
failure, regardless of any language in any attachment or other document that Contractor 
may provide. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 007E7507-A326-4246-957F-BEB59AB9D9F8

mailto:accountspayable@murfreesborotn.gov


6. Notices.   
Notice of assignment of any rights to money due to Contractor under this Agreement must be 
mailed first class mail or hand delivered to the following: 

If to the City of Murfreesboro: 

City Manager 
City of Murfreesboro 
111 West Vine Street 
Murfreesboro, TN 37130 

If to Contractor:  
 
Truckers Lighthouse, LLC 
Attn: Andy Stoll 
3189 Franklin Limestone Road 
Nashville, TN 37013 
andy@truckerslighthouse.com 

 

7. Maintenance of Records.   

Contractor must maintain documentation for all charges against the City. The books, records, and 
documents of Contractor, insofar as they relate to work performed or money received under the 
Agreement, must be maintained for a period of five full years from the date of final payment and 
will be subject to audit, at any reasonable time and upon reasonable notice by the City or its duly 
appointed representatives.  Accounting records must be maintained in accordance with the 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. 

8. Modification.   
This Agreement may be modified only by written amendment executed by all parties and their 
signatories hereto.  

9. Relationship of the Parties.   
Nothing herein may in any way be construed or intended to create a partnership or joint venture 
between the parties or to create the relationship of principal and agent between or among any of 
the parties.  None of the parties hereto may hold itself out in a manner contrary to the terms of 
this paragraph.  No party becomes liable for any representation, act, or omission of any other 
party contrary to this section. 

10. Waiver.   
No waiver of any provision of this Agreement affects the right of any party thereafter to enforce 
such provision or to exercise any right or remedy available to it in the event of any other default. 

11. Employment.   
Contractor may not subscribe to any personnel policy which permits or allows for the promotion, 
demotion, employment, dismissal or laying off of any individual due to race, creed, color, national 
origin, age, sex, veteran status, or any other status or class protected under federal or state law 
or which is in violation of applicable laws concerning the employment of individuals with 
disabilities. 

12. Non-Discrimination.  
It is the policy of the City not to discriminate on the basis of age, race, sex, color, national origin, 
veteran status, disability, or other status or class protected under federal or state law in its hiring 
and employment practices, or in admission to, access to, or operation of its programs, services, 
and activities. With regard to all aspects of this Agreement, Contractor certifies and warrants it 
will comply with this policy.  No person may be excluded from participation in, be denied benefits 

Docusign Envelope ID: 007E7507-A326-4246-957F-BEB59AB9D9F8



of, be discriminated against in the admission or access to, or be discriminated against in treatment 
or employment in the City’s contracted programs or activities, on the grounds of handicap and/or 
disability, age, race, color, religion, sex, national origin, or any other classification protected by 
federal or Tennessee State Constitutional or statutory law; nor may they be excluded from 
participation in, be denied benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination in the 
performance of contracts with the City or in the employment practices of the City’s Contractors. 
Accordingly, all proposers entering into contracts with the City may upon request be required to 
show proof of such nondiscrimination and to post in conspicuous places that are available to all 
employees and applicants, notices of nondiscrimination.  

13. Gratuities and Kickbacks.  
It is a breach of ethical standards for any person to offer, give or agree to give any employee or 
former employee, or for any employee or former employee to solicit, demand, accept or agree to 
accept from another person, a gratuity or an offer of employment in connection with any decision, 
approval, disapproval, recommendation, preparation of any part of a program requirement or a 
purchase request, influencing the content of any specification or procurement standard, 
rendering of advice, investigation, auditing or in any other advisory capacity in any proceeding or 
application, request for ruling, determination, claim or controversy or other particular matter, 
pertaining to any program requirement of a contract or subcontract or to any solicitation or 
proposal therewith. It is a breach of ethical standards for any payment, gratuity or offer of 
employment to be made by or on behalf of a subcontractor under a contract to the prime 
contractor or higher tier subcontractor or a person associated therewith, as an inducement for 
the award of a subcontract or order. Breach of the provisions of this paragraph is, in addition to a 
breach of this Agreement, a breach of ethical standards which may result in civil or criminal 
sanction and/or debarment or suspension from being a contractor or subcontractor under the 
City contracts. 

14. Assignment.   
The provisions of this Agreement inure to the benefit of and are binding upon the respective 
successors and assignees of the parties hereto. Except for the rights of money due to Contractor 
under this Agreement, neither this Agreement nor any of the rights and obligations of Contractor 
hereunder may be assigned or transferred in whole or in part without the prior written consent 
of the City.  Any such assignment or transfer does not release Contractor from its obligations 
hereunder.   

15. Integration.  
This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject 
matter hereof and governs the respective duties and obligations of the parties. 

16. Force Majeure.   
No party has any liability to the other hereunder by reason of any delay or failure to perform any 
obligation or covenant if the delay or failure to perform is occasioned by force majeure, meaning 
any act of God, storm, fire, casualty, unanticipated work stoppage, strike, lockout, labor dispute, 
civil disturbance, riot, war, national emergency, act of public enemy, or other cause of similar or 
dissimilar nature beyond its control. 

17. Governing Law and Venue.  

Docusign Envelope ID: 007E7507-A326-4246-957F-BEB59AB9D9F8



The validity, construction and effect of this Agreement and any and all extensions or modifications 
thereof are governed by the laws of the state of Tennessee regardless of choice of law doctrine 
or provision in any attachment or other document that Contractor may provide.  Any action 
between the parties arising from this agreement may only be filed in the courts of Rutherford 
County, Tennessee. 

18. Severability.   
Should any provision of this Agreement be declared to be invalid by any court of competent 
jurisdiction, such provision will be severed and not affect the validity of the remaining provisions 
of this Agreement. 

19. Attorney Fees.   
In the event any party takes legal action to enforce any provision of the Agreement, should the 
City prevail, Contractor will pay all expenses of such action including attorney fees, expenses, 
and costs at all stages of the litigation and dispute resolution. 

20. Iran Divestment Act of Tennessee.  
 By submission of the Contractor’s Bid, Contractor certifies, under penalty of perjury, that to the 
best of its knowledge and belief that Contractor is not on the list created pursuant to Tenn. 
Code Ann. §12-12-106. 

 
21. Non-Boycott of Israel.  

By submission of the Contractor’s Bid, Contractor certifies, under penalty of perjury, that to the 
best of its knowledge and belief that each supplier is not boycotting Israel pursuant to Tenn. 
Code Ann. § 12-4-119 and will not boycott Israel during the term of contract. This applies to 
contracts of $250,000 or more and to contractors with ten (10) or more employees. 

 
22. Effective Date.   

This Agreement is not binding upon the parties until signed by each of the Contractor and 
authorized representatives of the City and is thereafter effective as of the date set forth above.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties enter into this agreement as of the Effective Date first listed above. 

 

CITY OF MURFREESBORO, TENNESSEE 

By: ____________________________                                                   

      Shane McFarland, Mayor                                                                         

 

TRUCKERS LIGHTHOUSE, LLC 

By: ____________________________                                                   

  Andy Stoll, President  

Approved as to Form: 

____________________________ 

Adam F. Tucker, City Attorney 

 

 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 007E7507-A326-4246-957F-BEB59AB9D9F8



Section 1- Havis Parts Nashville, TN

Name Part Number

Qty 
required 
per Unit 
Build Cost Each Extended Cost

Havis VSX Console C-VSX-1800-INUT 1 489.00$                                 489.00$                                           
Havis VSX Equipment Bracket C-EBX-FS-1 1 21.00$                                    21.00$                                             
Havis Armrest  C-ARM-1001 1 198.00$                                 198.00$                                           
Havis Cupholder CUP2-1004 1 41.00$                                    41.00$                                             
USB Charger C-USB-3 1 67.00$                                    67.00$                                             
Havis Motion Device C-MD-119 1 231.00$                                 231.00$                                           
Havis Docking Station with Standard Port Replication and Havis Power 
Supply DS-PAN-435N 1 706.00$                                 706.00$                                           
Havis Panasonic Toughbook G2 Docking Station with standard port 
replication and power supply. DS-PAN-1015N 1 869.00$                                 869.00$                                           

Total Package Price for Section 1 2,622.00$                                        

Section 2- Jotto Parts

Name Part Number

Qty 
required 
per Unit 
Build Cost Each Extended Cost

Magnetic Mic 425-3816 2 34.00$                                    68.00$                                             

Total Package Price for Section 2 68.00$                                             

Section 3- Setina Parts

Name Part Number

Qty 
required 
per Unit 
Build Cost Each Extended Cost

Setina - Rear Cargo Partition with Coated Polycarbonate PK0316ITU252ND 1 484.00$                                 484.00$                                           
Setina -  #10XL Partition PK1130ITU20TM 1 763.00$                                 763.00$                                           
Setina – Rear Seat Insert ( Replaces Factory Seats ) QK0634ITU20 1 770.00$                                 770.00$                                           
Setina –  Center Pull Seatbelt System ( Non Smart Belt ) 1 n/a n/a
Setina - Coated Polycarbonate window barrier WK0595ITU20 1 252.00$                                 252.00$                                           

Setina - Blac-Rac Firearms mount ( Dual Gun – Rifle and shotgun ) GK11191B1SHK 1 744.00$                                 744.00$                                           
Setina -  EZ Lift Floor System TK1423ITU20 1 1,098.00$                              1,098.00$                                        

Total Package Price for Section 3 4,111.00$                              4,111.00$                                        

Section 4- Lund Parts

Name Part Number

Qty 
required 
per Unit 
Build Cost Each Extended Cost

The Loft Dual Gun Vault with oversized rifle barrel mount LOFT-PIU20-2G 1 1,019.00$                              1,019.00$                                        
Lund Loft Suppresor bracket LOFT-MBKTA-S 1 56.00$                                    56.00$                                             
Shipping / Freight 

Total Package Price for Section 4 1,075.00$                                        

Section 5 - Federal Signal Parts

Name Part Number

Qty 
required 
per Unit 
Build Cost Each Extended Cost

Federal Signal -51” Valor Lightbar with low hook,  VALR51J-P2BL 1 2,267.00$                              2,267.00$                                        
Federal Signal –  Pathfinder 21 button with OBD cable PF400R 1 1,409.00$                              1,409.00$                                        
Federal Signal –  AS124 100w speaker 750501 2 149.00$                                 298.00$                                           
Federal Signal –  AS124 speaker brackets ESB-FPIU25NDB 2 28.00$                                    56.00$                                             
Federal Signal –  416900 Series corner lights 416918-BAW 2 69.00$                                    138.00$                                           

Truckers Lighthouse Inc

Docusign Envelope ID: 007E7507-A326-4246-957F-BEB59AB9D9F8



Federal Signal –  Compact Rumbler RBKIT2-Compact 1 394.00$                                 394.00$                                           
Federal Signal –  Compact no drill brackets RBC2PB-FPIU20 1 45.00$                                    45.00$                                             
Federal Signal –  Micro pulse lights MPS63U-BAW 10 96.50$                                    965.00$                                           
Federal Signal – Xstream Dual Head XSM2-BWA-US 2 192.00$                                 384.00$                                           
Federal Signal –  Xstream Single Head  XSM1-BWA-US 2 84.50$                                    169.00$                                           
Federal Signal –  Push Bumper Center Only DFC-PB-FPIU25 1 481.00$                                 481.00$                                           
Federal Signal –  Push Bumper top channel DFC-TC4L 1 32.00$                                    32.00$                                             
Federal Signal –  24 channel expansion module EXPMOD24 2 227.00$                                 454.00$                                           
Federal Signal – Running Board Light DR5-BAW 2 897.00$                                 1,794.00$                                        
Federal Signal – Running Board Light Bracket  DR5BKT-RB-FPIU20 1 30.00$                                    30.00$                                             
Shipping / Freight 
Total Package Price for Section 5 8,916.00$                                                       

Section 6- Installation

Labor to install all of the above parts 5,395.00$                                        
Number of cars that can be fully outfitted per week 3 cars per week

 
Total for installation of all parts

Docusign Envelope ID: 007E7507-A326-4246-957F-BEB59AB9D9F8

























































































































 
 

COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 

Meeting Date: 01/22/2025 

Item Title: Airport Commission 

Department: Mayor’s Office 

Presented by: Mayor 

Requested Council Action:  

   Ordinance  ☐ 

    Resolution  ☐ 

   Motion  ☒ 

   Direction  ☐ 

    Information  ☐ 

Summary 

Reappointment of eligible individuals to serve on the Airport Commission. 

Staff Recommendation 

Reappoint the following individuals to the terms listed below: 

Member Term Expiration 
Drew Shelley 02/28/2029 

Paul Myers 02/28/2029 
  

 

Background Information  

The Airport Commission oversees the operations, maintenance, and leasing 

arrangements of the Murfreesboro Municipal Airport located at 1930 Memorial 

Boulevard. The Commission consists of seven members and two ex-officio members 

appointed by the Mayor and approved by the City Council for three-year terms. 

Meetings (M.C.C.§3-51) 

Council Priorities Served 

Responsible budgeting 

MCIT funds supplement the City’s budget and provide funding for charitable 

organizations that provide beneficial services within the Murfreesboro community. 

 

 

 

 



 

 

COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 
Meeting Date:   01/22/2026 

Item Title: Beer Permits 

Department: Finance 

Presented by: Erin Tucker, City Recorder 

Requested Council Action:  
   Ordinance  ☐ 
    Resolution  ☐ 
   Motion  ☒ 
   Direction  ☐ 
   Information  ☐ 

Summary 

TCA 57-5-103 delegates the authority to regulate the sale, distribution, manufacture, 
or storage of beer to the City where the business is located. 

Staff Recommendation 

The applications from the following applicants meet requirements and are 
recommended to be approved.  The permits will only be issued once the permits are 
approved by the City Council (Beer Board) and building and codes final inspections are 
passed for regular beer permits or a special event permit is approved for special event 
beer permits. 

Regular Beer Permits 

Name of 
Applicant 

Name of 
Business Address Type of 

Permit 
Type of 

Business Reason 

Super Cheap 
Cigarettes & 

Beer 

Super Cheap 
Cigarettes & 

Beer 

1660 Middle 
Tennessee Blvd 

Ste H 
Off-

Premises 
Grocery/ 
Market 

New 
Location 

Kashtbhanjan 
Dev, Inc.  Gulf 

2927 Old Fort 
Pkwy 

Off-
Premises 

Gas 
Station 

Ownership/ 
Name 

Change 
Background Information  

All applicants meet the requirements for issuing a beer permit per the City Code Chapter 
4 Alcoholic Beverages with the exception of pending building and codes inspections for 
regular beer permits or pending special event permit for special event beer permits. 

Council Priorities Served 

Maintain public safety 

Controlling the sale of beer within the City provides enforcement tools by the City for 
restrictions as to where beer is sold, ability to obtain the right to sell beer, time of beer 
sales and onsite consumption. 

Attachments 

 Summaries of Request 



Beer Application
Summary of information from the beer application:

Name of Business Entity/Sole Proprietor Super Cheap Cigarettes & Beer
Name of Business Super Cheap Cigarettes & Beer
Business Location 1660 Middle Tennessee Blvd Suite H
Type of Business Grocery/Market
Type of Permit Applied For Off-Premises

Type of Application:
New Location X

Ownership Change
Name Change

Permit Type Change

Corporation
Partnership

LLC
Sole Proprietor X

5% or more Ownership
Name Deval Patel

Age 32
Residency City/State Murfreesboro, TN 

Race/Sex Asian/M
Background Check Findings

City of Murfreesboro: No indication of any record that may
preclude the applicant for consideration.

TBI/FBI: No indication of any record that may
preclude the applicant for consideration.

Application Completed Properly? Yes

Occupancy Application Approved? No

The actual beer application is available in the office of the City Recorder.

***I request permission to issue the beer permit upon successful completion of all required
building and codes inspections.



Beer Application
Summary of information from the beer application:

Name of Business Entity Kashtbhanjan Dev, Inc.
Name of Business Gulf 
Business Location 2927 Old Fort Pkwy
Type of Business Gas Station
Type of Permit Applied For Off-Premises

Type of Application:
New Location

Ownership Change X
Name Change X

Corporation or LLC X
Partnership 

Sole Proprietor

5% or more ownership:
Name Urmila J Patel

Age 46
Residency City/State Fayetteville, TN 

Race/Sex Asian/M
 Background Check Findings

City of Murfreesboro: No indication of any record that may
preclude the applicant for consideration.

TBI/FBI: No indication of any record that may
preclude the applicant for consideration.

Application Completed Properly? Yes

Occupancy Application Approved? No

The actual beer application is available in the office of the City Recorder.

***I request permission to issue the beer permit upon successful completion of all required
building and codes inspections.



No Items. 



 


	AGENDA
	 Consent Agenda
	1. Amendment to Professional Services Agreement for Old Fort Park Ballfield and Parking Renovations 
	2. ADA Renovations Master Services Agreement  
	3. FY26 City Manager Approved Budget Amendments
	4. Banner Over Main Street 
	5. Agreement with Trimble Technology for Additional CWOL Users
	6. Amendment Five to Tennessee Law Enforcement Hiring, Training and Recruiting Program Grant Contract
	7. Donation of a Used Police Vehicle to Huntland Police Department
	8. Mandatory Referral for Dedication of Electric Easements along Barfield Rd. & Veterans Pkwy.
	9. Mandatory Referral for a Private Retaining Wall in the Right-of-Way of Bridgemore Blvd.

	 Minutes
	10. City Council Minutes

	 Old Business
	 Land Use Matters
	11. Ordinance 26-OZ-02 Rezoning Property Along Ashers Fork Dr.
	12. Ordinance 26-OZ-01 Zoning for Property Along Old Salem Rd. 


	 New Business
	 Land Use Matters
	13. Sewer Allocation Variance- Memorial Boulevard – Seven Brew 

	 Resolution
	14. Resolution 26-R-07 Corebridge (VALIC) Plan Service Agreement
	15. Resolution 26-R-08 for the Selection Process for City Attorney and adoption of a Legal Department Operational Service Delivery Policy

	 Ordinance
	16. Ordinance 26-O-08 Amending Chapter 32 of the Murfreesboro City Code

	 On Motion
	17. Planning Commission Compensation
	18. Purchase of Mobile Data Terminals 
	19. Contracts for Police Vehicle Equipment 
	20. Revised Donated Leave Policy No.1044 (Human Resour
	21. Corebridge Plan Services Agreement (Human Resource


	 Board & Commission Appointments
	22. Airport Commission

	 Licensing
	23. Beer Permits 

	 Payment of Statements
	 Other Business
	 Adjourn



